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ABOUT
THIS REPORT
RMH’S VALUE CREATION STORY
This annual integrated report of RMB
Holdings Limited (RMH) for the year
ended 30 June 2017 was prepared for
all its stakeholders, including existing
and potential shareholders. It contains
comprehensive information about
RMH’s financial performance,
stakeholders, governance, material
issues, risks and opportunities and how
these influence our strategy. We show
how we create value and how we will
ensure that our value creation is
sustainable.

THE CURRENT CONTEXT
This year, particular emphasis was
placed on RMH’s ability to create value
over time.
We also outline our values-based
approach to creating sustainable value
for our stakeholders.
GUIDE TO WHERE MORE INFORMATION
CAN BE FOUND

HOW THIS REPORT WAS
COMPILED
The report is compiled and presented in
accordance with the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited
(JSE Listings Requirements), the King IV
Report on Corporate Governance for
South Africa, 2016 (King IV) and the
International Integrated Reporting
Council’s (IIRC) International Integrated
Reporting Framework (<IR> Framework).
The most material issues, being those
which have the potential to
substantially impact RMH’s ability to
create and sustain value for its
stakeholders, are discussed.
The annual financial statements were
prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and the requirements
of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008
(Companies Act). External assurance
was received from RMH’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. on the fair
presentation of these annual financial
statements.

This icon accompanies page
number references of information
contained elsewhere in this
annual integrated report.

The annual financial statements
are presented on pages 67 to 125.

This icon indicates information
that can be accessed on the
referenced website.

A summarised version of the
annual financial statements is
available as part of the results
announcement on RMH’s
website at www.rmh.co.za.
Certain statements in this annual
integrated report may be regarded as
forward-looking statements or forecasts
but do not represent an earnings
forecast. All forward-looking statements
are based solely on the views and
considerations of the directors. Those
statements have not been reviewed
and reported on by the external
auditor.

RESPONSIBILITY
The board is ultimately responsible for
this report. The company secretary, Ellen
Marais CA (SA), prepared it; the chief
executive and financial director,
Herman Bosman LLM, CFA, supervised
the preparation; and management
convened and contracted the relevant
skills and experience to undertake the
reporting process and provided
management oversight. The board, after
consultation with the audit and risk
committee and applying its collective
mind to the preparation and
presentation of the report, concluded
that it was presented in accordance
with the <IR> Framework and approved
it for publication.
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WE BELIEVE THERE IS A
SIMILARITY BETWEEN CREATING A
PIECE OF ART AND INVESTING IN
A COMPANY, AS BOTH CREATE
VALUE FOR ITS OWNER OVER
TIME. THIS YEAR’S PIECE IS
TITLED “THE FIRST MEETING”,
A MONOTYPE PRINT WORK
PRODUCED BY SIZWE KHOZA, A
YOUNG AND UPCOMING ARTIST.
The development of “The first meeting” unfolds
throughout this report.

THE ARTIST

Sizwe Khoza
Sizwe Khoza was born in Mozambique and moved to
Soweto in South Africa at the age of five. In the same
year, his parents separated and he moved to KwaThema,
near Springs, where he lives with his mother, younger
brother, sister and stepfather. He started school at the
age of nine at KwaThema Combined Primary School
and finished his high school in 2010 at Nkumbulo
Comprehensive School. In that same year, he attended
his first-year classes part-time at Artist Proof Studio in
Newtown. Art has been in his being from early childhood
– he did poetry, drama, music and is now a print maker.

My work is a comparison between a
strategic game of chess and my
background. In a game of chess, we
hear mostly of a king and tend to
forget the queen and other pieces.
Once you play the game, you will
understand that the king never does
much other than to stay protected,
whereas the queen can move more
blocks than a king and do so
diagonally, sideways, backwards
and forwards.
Growing up knowing that you have a
father and knowing where he is but
not having him around, made me
experience a big gap in my life. It
also made me realise that women –
our mothers, grandmothers and sisters
– are the queens and they should be
crowned and respected like queens.

ABOUT RMH
INTRINSIC VALUE
OF PORTFOLIO

R89.4 billion
2017

+6%

R84.6 billion
2016

HEADLINE EARNINGS

R7.9 billion
2017

R7.5 billion
2016

+5%

MARKET
CAPITALISATION

NET INCOME

R82.9 billion

R8.4 billion

2017

2017

+4%

+9%

R79.4 billion

R7.7 billion

NORMALISED EARNINGS

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

R8.2 billion

327 cents

2016

2017

R7.7 billion
2016

+7%

2016

2017

295 cents
2016

+11%

VALUE CREATED

for the year ended 30 June 2017
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“It’s not hard to make
decisions when you know
what your values are.”
ROY DISNEY
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WHO WE ARE

RMH IS A TOP 40 JSE-LISTED
INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY
WITH A 34% SHARE IN FIRSTRAND
AND 100% OF RMH PROPERTY

Leading South African businessmen
GT Ferreira, Laurie Dippenaar and
Paul Harris founded RMH’s forerunner
almost 40 years ago. They still play an
important role in decision-making today.
Since its listing in 1992, RMH has provided shareholders with
a vehicle to co-invest with the founders of FirstRand. In
2011, insurance interests were separately listed as Rand
Merchant Investment Holdings Limited (RMI). In the
previous year, RMH expanded its investment strategy to
include a property investment business, comprising
scalable entrepreneur-led businesses with proven track
records in managing and building out property portfolios.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

2017
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RMH’s main interest is its 34% investment in separately-listed
FirstRand Limited (FirstRand), generally regarded as southern
Africa’s pre-eminent financial services group, with a market
capitalisation of R264.5 billion at 30 June 2017
(2016: R251.5 billion).

4

The extension of the investment strategy into property
involved the acquisition of a 27.5% interest in Atterbury
Property Holdings Proprietary Limited (Atterbury), a 34.1%
interest in Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited
(Propertuity), an urban renewal business and 40% of
Genesis Properties Three Proprietary Limited (Genesis
Properties), a mezzanine debt and equity funding business,
to form the newly established RMH Property.

The RMH portfolio comprises:
FIRSTRAND

First National
Bank (FNB)

Rand
Merchant
Bank (RMB)

WesBank

the retail and
commercial
bank

the corporate
and investment
bank

the instalment
finance
business

Ashburton
Investments
the group’s
investment
management
business

See page 32 for a brief description of this investment.

INVESTMENT POLICY
RMH invests in businesses that can deliver superior earnings,
dividend growth and sustained long-term capital growth. We
specifically target the wider financial services industry and
industries complementary to our current portfolio.

RMH PROPERTY

Atterbury

a leading
South African
property group

Propertuity

an urban
renewal
business

Genesis
a mezzanine
debt and equity
funding
business

THE GROUP IS WELL
KNOWN FOR ITS
ENTREPRENEURSHIP,
INNOVATION AND
VALUE CREATION.

See page 42 for a brief description of the property division’s
investments.

DIVIDEND POLICY
RMH has a stated policy of returning net dividends (after providing
for funding and operational costs incurred at the centre) received
in the ordinary course of business to shareholders.

5
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GROUP STRUCTURE
Remgro
Limited

Royal
Bafokeng
Holdings
Proprietary
Limited

Directors

28%

15%

10%

2017
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34.1%

6

100%
FNB represents FirstRand’s retail
and commercial activities in
South Africa and the broader
African continent.
WesBank represents FirstRand’s
activities in vehicle and asset
finance in the retail, commercial
and corporate segments.
RMB offers advisory, funding,
trading, corporate banking and
principal investing solutions.

Ashburton is the investment
management business.

27.5%
34.1%
40%

OUR STRATEGY
Clear vision
RMH’s aim is to be a value-adding active enabler of leadership and
innovation in banking and property. Our objective is to create a portfolio of
businesses which are market-leaders and can deliver sustainable earnings,
an attractive dividend yield and capital growth. Hence we pursue
opportunities in the changing financial services landscape which meet our
stringent criteria and strong values.

Strong values
A values-driven culture is integral to RMH’s success and long-term
sustainability. We are therefore committed to ensuring that the principles of
good corporate governance and ethical business practice are applied
consistently in interactions with all stakeholders and in a way that upholds our
values, which have been formed over decades and should stand us in good
stead for the future.
These values are as follows:
X

We embrace our owner-manager
culture, which has been imprinted in
our investments.

X

People are the most important resource.

X

We strive to create sustainable
earnings through dividends and capital
growth for our shareholders.

X

We uphold the highest levels of
business ethics and personal integrity.

X

We respect traditional values.

X

We motivate to innovate.

X

We acknowledge our social
responsibility as a member of the
greater community we operate in.

7
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STRATEGIC
INITIATIVES
RMH’S STRATEGY IS BASED ON
THREE INITIATIVES DESIGNED TO
CREATE SUSTAINABLE VALUE.
THEY ARE:

DIVERSIFICATION

OPTIMISATION

2017
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MODERNISATION

8

We are constantly evaluating
opportunities to expand the services of
our existing investees or add new
investments, thereby creating more value.

We focus on continuously improving the
value our investees provide in order to
create better value for our shareholders.

We are well aware of renewal in our
industries and will acquire proven
businesses or invest in start-ups with
special opportunities and drivers, which
can create new value.

ACTIONS

DIVERSIFY
DIVERSIFYING THE PORTFOLIO
TO MAINTAIN A BALANCE
BETWEEN GROWTH AND YIELD

BEING AN ACTIVE AND
RESPONSIBLE STRATEGIC
SHAREHOLDER

The board continues to evaluate
select and appropriate investment
opportunities, which may include
further exposure to FirstRand or
collaboration between FirstRand
and other investee companies
together with the disciplined
deployment of capital into the
newly established property business.

RMH’s strategy is to position itself as
a significant shareholder, have an
engaging and long-term approach
and play an active role within the
governance bodies, particularly
when it comes to strategic decisionmaking.

See page 43 for a case study
on RMH’s diversification into
property.

DESIRED OUTCOME

OPTIMISE

MODERNISE
MODERNISATION
We seek to identify new businesses,
technologies and industry trends to
complement RMH and its investee
companies.
See page 40 for a case study
on how FNB is modernising
by digitising.

See page 34 for a case study
on how FirstRand is optimising
growth by delivering on
transformation and inclusivity.

MORE VALUE

BETTER VALUE

NEW VALUE

Expanding into new segments of
financial services, under-represented
segments as well as diversifying into
geographical areas and a focused
deployment of capital in establishing
the property businesses.

Constantly growing the net asset
and intrinsic value of the portfolio.

Unlocking new avenues to
growing value for shareholders.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
RMH manages its investments on a
decentralised basis and its involvement is
concentrated mainly on being an
influential shareholder and providing
support rather than on being involved in
the day-to-day management of investees.
The board considers it in the best interests
of all the parties concerned to respect the
decentralised business model and the fact
that the business is conducted in separate
legal entities. The support provided to
investees is either in the form of strategic,
financial and managerial support or the
unlocking of value by means of creating
the environment for possible deal-making.
As a shareholder of its investees, RMH also
exercises its shareholder rights to ensure, as
far as possible, that investees adhere to all
requirements in respect of matters such as

governance, internal controls, financial
management, risk management, legal
compliance, safety, health and
environmental management, internal
audit, ethics management, information
management, stakeholder relationships
and sustainability.
RMH partners with management in
formulating a long-term strategy and
capital allocation plan and providing the
necessary stability in the shareholder base
of investee companies. Management is
empowered to execute on strategy.

VALUE CREATION
RMH has consistently measured its
performance in terms of normalised
earnings, which adjusts headline earnings
to take into account non-operational
items and accounting anomalies.

For the detailed calculation of
normalised earnings in respect of
the current and prior year, refer to
page 28.
The true value created is measured in
terms of capital growth, which reflects the
growth in the underlying value of our
investments.
Refer to the chief executive’s
review on page 23 for a detailed
analysis of RMH’s intrinsic and net
asset value.
It is RMH’s objective to provide
shareholders with a consistent annual
dividend flow. In extraordinary
circumstances, this can be complemented
by other distributions in the form of special
dividends or the unbundling of investments
to shareholders.
9
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HOW RMH CREATES VALUE
IT USES THE RESOURCES AND EXPERTISE AT ITS DISPOSAL TO
CREATE SUSTAINABLE, LONG-TERM VALUE FOR ALL STAKEHOLDERS:
INPUTS

The capital from shareholders and
the reserves generated are used to
invest and generate earnings and
future value for shareholders.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

OUR VALUES govern all our activities, which are driven by three strategic
initiatives:

FINANCIAL
CAPITAL

2017
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HUMAN
CAPITAL
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INTELLECTUAL
CAPITAL

OPTIMISE

Geographic, business and product
diversification is evaluated and implemented
in RMH and across the portfolio.

RMH’s people have specialised
knowledge, skills and experience,
which is applied to ensure that
sound, sustainable investments are
made and managed in line with
strategy. Our strong values serve as
a guide in all our actions.

DIVERSIFY

New businesses, technologies and industry
trends are identified and assessed to
complement RMH and its investee companies.

MODERNISE

This includes knowledge-based
intangible assets, such as the RMH
brand and the brands of investees,
the capacity to innovate and our
strong entrepreneurial reputation,
which is leveraged in our activities.

RMH forge and maintain strong
relationships with stakeholders,
based on shared values and an
ongoing commitment to society.

SOCIAL AND
RELATIONSHIP
CAPITAL

Established relationships with the boards and
management ensure that RMH participates in
the strategic dialogue and activity across its
portfolio.

Stakeholder satisfaction and the
desire to be a good corporate
citizen are embedded in our
governance model.

The operating environment
X

Low GDP growth in SA.

X

Corruption and political uncertainty.

X

Currency fluctuations.

X

Changing consumer behaviour and expectations.

X

Rapid technological change.

X

Increased competition.

OUTPUTS
How value is created

RMH has a moderate risk profile,
contributing to a strong, stable
financial sector.

OUTCOMES
Value created

Value shared

INVESTORS

Market capitalisation

R89.4 billion

UP 4%

Dividend yield

Normalised earnings

R8.2 billion

Sustainable dividend and capital
(share price) growth.

UP 7%

5%

Dividend paid

R4.6 billion
Our purpose, strategy, values and
principles form our culture. We aim to
attract, develop and retain the best
people by creating a culture of
excellence. We continue to make
progress in the area of diversity.

UP 11%

people employed
45 thousand
by investees
R810
million
spent on skills development by

19%

2016: 5%

Compound annual
growth since
March 2011

EMPLOYEES
We continue to challenge and develop
our people and their skills.

investees in 2017
Active property division established.

The company actively pursues ways to
offer its financial expertise, including
sharing sector-specific knowledge and
promoting social entrepreneurship.

Strong, reliable brands and reputation.

INVESTEES

Recognised through multiple awards.

RMH’s collective skills, experience and
resources unlock the value in investee
opportunities.

RMH continues to monitor and address
the public’s trust in us and the economy.
By actively engaging stakeholders
through dialogue and acting on material
issues raised, we continue to strengthen
our relationships.

Long-standing reputation for ethical
values.

SOCIETY AT LARGE

R7.5
billion
procurement from B-BBEE suppliers

RMH is contributing to confidence in the
economy and faith in trusted leadership.

R111
billion
value added to the economy in 2017
11
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WHAT IS MATERIAL
FOR STAKEHOLDERS
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IN ORDER TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE LONG-TERM VALUE FOR
RMH AND ITS STAKEHOLDERS, WE ENGAGE ON THE ISSUES
THAT ARE MATERIAL TO EACH GROUP AND RESPOND
APPROPRIATELY THROUGH THE DELIVERY OF OUR STRATEGY:

12

KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

THEIR MATERIAL
REQUIREMENTS

SHAREHOLDERS
AND ANALYSTS
Including
present and
potential future
investors

X

Clear growth strategy.

X

Solid operational
performance
irrespective of
volatility in
macroeconomic
environment.

RMH INTERACTION AND STRATEGIC RESPONSE

VALUE CREATED

RMH communicates with shareholders through SENS and when it
announces interim and year-end results. This is accompanied by
comprehensive reports, which are sent to all shareholders.

Attractive
dividend yield
and long-term
sustainable
capital growth.

RMH’s interim and final results announcements are
accessible on the company’s website (www.rmh.co.za).
The chief executive meets with investors and investment analysts
from time-to-time.

X

Long-term
sustainable growth.

CLIENTS

X

Trust.

Our investees aim to provide superior service to enable both
corporate and individual clients to achieve their ambitions. The
integrity of their various brands, their image and reputation are
paramount to ensure the sustainability of their businesses.

Satisfied clients,
who trust the
brands and
contribute to
economic
growth.

SUPPLIERS

X

Fair treatment.

X

Broad-based black
economic
empowerment
(B-BBEE).

The group and its investees subscribe to responsible transformation
and consistently improves its B-BBEE procurement spend.

Reliable and
empowered
suppliers.

X

Sharing expert
knowledge.

Engagement with the media is open, honest and based on facts.
A trustworthy relationship has been established with the media.

Trusted
relationships.

X

Transparent
performance
reporting.

MEDIA

KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

THEIR MATERIAL
REQUIREMENTS

COMMUNITIES
in which
investees
operate

X

Financial inclusion.

X

Enterprise
development.

X

Win-win.

X

Open and honest
relationship and
communication.

X

Adherence to laws.

X

Paying taxes.

GOVERNMENT
AND
REGULATORY
BODIES
including the SA
Reserve Bank,
Financial
Services Board
and JSE

RMH INTERACTION AND STRATEGIC RESPONSE

VALUE CREATED

Our investees are committed to uplifting the societies in which
they operate through following sound employment practices and
meeting the real needs of the communities.

No harm done.

See www.firstrand.co.za for the valuable work done by the
FirstRand Foundation.

RMH engages with government and regulatory bodies in a
proactive and transparent manner to ensure that South African
industry practice remains amongst the best in the world and builds
trust and confidence in society.

Reinforcing the
importance of
open and
honest values.
Leading by
example and
reducing industry
risk.

RMH strives to have meaningful, timely and open communication with its key stakeholders, based on its values of transparency,
accountability and integrity.
13
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THE RISKS AFFECTING
VALUE CREATION
THE BOARD, ASSISTED BY THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE,
CONTINUOUSLY MONITORS THE TOP RISKS TO ENSURE TIMEOUS
VALUE CREATION OR PRESERVATION ACTION IN LINE WITH ITS
APPROVED RISK APPETITE AND RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY.
The residual risks facing RMH are reflected on this heat map:

1

High

CRITICAL

PROBABILITY

Board focus
8

Medium

Low

10

11

2

4

5

6

7

12

13

14

15

Low

3

HIGH

9

LOW

Medium

Management focus

High

IMPACT
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The numbers on the heat map correspond with the table below.
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RISKS

EXTERNAL RISKS
Risks associated with
external factors such as
economic, political or
legislative change

1

Sovereign risk

POSSIBLE IMPACT ON VALUE
CREATION OR PRESERVATION

STRATEGIC RESPONSE IN
MITIGATION

Country downgrades impair the
entire stock market.

Geographical diversification.
Systematic monitoring of
macroeconomic environment.

2

Regulatory risk

Inadvertent and unintentional
non-compliance may case
significant financial loss.

Proactive identification and acting
on legislative changes.

3

Tax risk

Unanticipated tax arising from
strategic decisions or from
unexpected changes in tax
legislation may cause significant
financial loss.

Advice from independent tax
specialists.

RISKS

STRATEGIC RISKS
Risks resulting from the
definition,
implementation and
continuation of the
group’s guidelines and
strategic developments

Structure of the
company

Diminishing shareholder value due
to inefficient structure.

Regular review of the company
structure.

5

Ownership
structure

Concentrated shareholding could
cause illiquidity.

Regular review of top 20
shareholders and tracking of free
flow of RMH shares.

6

Reputational risk

The risk that an action, event or
transaction may compromise the
brand.

Protecting and enhancing the
brand and reputation with the
highest ethical standards.

7

Independence
and conflict of
interest

The possibility that a decision of the
board could be seen as prejudiced
and conflicted.

Delegation of authority in place.

Investment
strategy

The risk of the portfolio value being
adversely affected by movements
in equity and interest rate markets,
currency exchange rates and
commodity prices.

Proper understanding of the
businesses of the investee
companies.

Compliance and
legal risk

The risk of non-adherence to
regulation and legislation.

Systems in place to ensure
awareness and compliance.

Portfolio risk

The portfolio may have a particular
exposure to certain industrial
sectors, geographic areas or
regulations.

Systematic portfolio reviews.

9

Risks associated with
the management of
cash and cash
equivalents, financial
instruments and
financing

STRATEGIC RESPONSE IN
MITIGATION

4
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FINANCIAL RISKS

POSSIBLE IMPACT ON VALUE
CREATION OR PRESERVATION

10

Declarations of interests.

Appropriate RMH representatives on
the board of investee companies.

Diversification of the portfolio.
Regular meetings with investees
and representation on their boards
of directors.

11

Liquidity risk

The risk of not being able to meet
payment obligations as they fall
due, or being forced to liquidate
positions under adverse conditions.

Monthly forecasting and reporting
to determine liquidity requirements.

12

Disaster recovery
and business
continuity

The risk of the business being unable
to operate due to an unforeseen
event or disaster.

A comprehensive business
continuity plan has been
developed and tested. Alternative
facilities available.

13

Treasury risk

Any loss of control over cash inflows,
outflows and investments in money
market instruments.

Limits, rules, formal delegations of
authority and segregation of duties
in place.

14

Information
technology (IT)
risk

The risk of IT disruption, breach of
information security and cyberattacks.

Numerous policies, processes and
systems in place to ensure the
continuity and stability of systems
and the security of data.

15

Ineffective
financial reporting

The risk that financial information is
not prepared timeously and
complete.

Financial results reviewed internally,
then by the audit and risk
committee and the board of
directors.
External audit.

We continue to evaluate and improve our
management techniques and processes to
build our reputation as a trusted and reliable
holding company.

A more comprehensive analysis of the risk management process and
financial risks, including those relating to the global economy and
currencies, is disclosed in note 26 to the annual financial statements on
page 118.
15
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“I can’t change the fact
that my paintings don’t
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VINCENT VAN GOGH
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

RMH IS COMMITTED TO
CREATING LONG-TERM VALUE
FOR ITS STAKEHOLDERS BY
INVESTING IN AND REMAINING
INFLUENTIAL IN BUSINESSES THAT
CAN DELIVER CAPITAL GROWTH
AND STEADY DIVIDEND FLOW.

COMMITMENT TO VALUE CREATION
By being shareholders of influence, we can enable
sustainable growth and bring and hold businesses
together. RMH invests with a view to long-term
involvement.
Our investment decisions are influenced by the external
environment.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
RMH’s external environment is characterised by the
following trends:

LOW GDP GROWTH IN SA

GT FERREIRA

2017
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Chairman
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Global real economic growth accelerated further
from 3.6% in 2016Q4 to 3.9% in 2017Q1, due to
robust growth in a number of emerging market
economies, which achieved 5.7% in total in
2017Q1. This was tempered by the advanced
economies.
The South African economy is now technically in a
recession, having recorded a second consecutive
quarter of contraction in 2017Q1 – the first such
occurrence since the first quarter of 2009. Real
gross domestic product (GDP) declined at an
annualised rate of 0.7% in 2017Q1, following a
contraction of 0.3% in 2016Q4. Growth in real
activity in the finance, insurance, real estate and
business services sector moderated from 1.6% in
2016Q4 to -1.2% in 2017Q1. This was the first
quarter-to-quarter decline since the third quarter
of 2010. Mining production was, however,
supported by increased global demand and
higher international commodity prices, while the
end of the drought underpinned a strong recovery
in agricultural output.
The South African economy has been in a
downward phase of the business cycle for
42 months up to May 2017.

POLITICAL UNCERTAINTY
However, heightened domestic
political uncertainty at the end of
March resulted in a sharp
depreciation in the external value of
the Rand and culminated in two
prominent international credit rating
agencies downgrading South Africa’s
long-term foreign currency credit
rating to sub-investment grade in April.
South Africa’s sovereign credit rating
was also downgraded by a third
rating agency in June, but this rating
remained investment grade.

MARKET PERFORMANCE
The FTSE/JSE All-Share Price Index (Alsi)
surpassed the 54 000 level in May 2017
for the first time in 12 months. The
upward trend was predominantly
supported by the prices of shares of
companies in the industrial sector, the
media subsector in particular, and
was also in line with higher share
prices on international bourses.
Equity capital raised by companies
listed on the JSE of R33 billion in the
first five months of 2017 increased by
21% over 2016. Turnover in the JSE’s
secondary share market was subdued
thus far in 2017 with daily average
turnover in the first five months of 2017
16% less than in 2016. Non-resident
investors’ negative sentiment towards
JSE-listed shares persisted in 2017:
Non-residents were net sellers of JSElisted shares to the value of R55 billion
in the first five months of 2017,
following significant net sales of
R124 billion in 2016. Net sales of
JSE-listed shares by non-residents in
2017 reflected concerns about
economic growth prospects amid
domestic political uncertainty and
South Africa’s sovereign credit rating
downgrades.

CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS
The external value of the Rand
appreciated further on a trade
weighted basis up to the final week of
March 2017, buoyed by higher
international commodity prices and
prospects of improved global and
domestic economic growth.

CHANGING CONSUMER
BEHAVIOUR AND EXPECTATIONS
The number of unemployed South
Africans looking for work rose at a
faster pace than the number of
employed persons, resulting in a
further increase in the seasonally
adjusted unemployment rate, to 27.3%
in 2017Q1. The level of private sector
employment has been trending
broadly sideways for the past four
years.
Headline consumer price inflation
slowed from a recent peak of 6.8% in
December 2016 to 5.3% in April 2017.
The moderation in consumer price
inflation was fairly broad-based, as the
slowdown in domestic food price
inflation, weak consumer demand
and the continued benefit from
currency appreciation in 2016 all
contributed to easing inflationary
pressures.

RAPID TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE
Technology is changing our world at
an astonishing pace. The internet,
mobile devices and social media
have transformed how we
communicate and get information
about the world. This has opened up
the spread of information. Billions of
devices joining the Internet of Things
has created new opportunities for
productivity and entertainment. Rapid
advances in artificial intelligence can
accomplish a wide range of tasks
previously only done by humans. The
result could be tremendous gains in
productivity, but also major economic
and societal disruption.
The internet age is a winner-takes-all
age – there is little room for runners-up
– and an increasing proportion of
work which creates value is not
measured by traditional measure.
The key to understanding the future is
not technology alone, but how
humans will use it, perceive it and
adapt to it.

With the backdrop of encouraging global
growth but prolonged local uncertainty, it
was particularly pleasing that RMH
managed to produce solid results, in
keeping with its commitment to long-term
value creation.
The group results are discussed in
the chief executive’s review, starting
on page 22.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT continued

THE NEED FOR STRONG VALUES IN
DELIVERING ON THE STRATEGY

CHANGES TO THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

We believe that our insistence on high
ethical standards and values at this time
will be pivotal to sustain performance,
both for RMH and for the investees where
we exert our influence.

Jannie Durand was appointed deputy
chairman and non-executive director,
effective 13 March 2017. He was previously
alternate to Faffa Knoetze. In turn,
Faffa Knoetze resigned as non-executive
director and was appointed as alternate
to Jannie Durand, all effective the
same day.

During this year, RMH started its property
division with the acquisition of a 27.5%
interest in Atterbury in July 2016 and a
34.1% interest in Propertuity, an urban
renewal business, in November 2016.
In December 2016, RMH acquired 40% of
Genesis Properties, a mezzanine debt and
equity funding business which partners
with leading developers on individual
developments.

2017
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Prior to year-end, RMH completed an
internal group restructure in terms of
which, amongst others, an asset holding
entity and a treasury entity have been
created within the group. Both entities are
100%-owned by RMH. RMH’s 34.1%
shareholding in FirstRand Limited has been
moved to the asset holding entity, RMH
Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited.

20

Effective 1 September 2017, David Wilson
joined the board as alternate nonexecutive director. Obakeng Phetwe will
going forward be a non-executive director
of RMH and not act as alternate director
to Albertinah Kekana.

THE YEAR AHEAD
Current macroeconomic conditions suggests a negative global economic growth outlook
and continued lack of growth locally. The ongoing political and policy uncertainty is
expected to continue at least until the ANC’s December electoral conference. Inflation in
South Africa will remain towards the top end of the target band. The Rand is expected to
remain weak against the Dollar, especially after the sovereign downgrades and fears that
the independence of the central bank could potentially be undermined by the
government’s efforts to revive the ailing economy.

FINANCIAL
INDICATORS
for the year ended June 2017

FNB SA ECONOMIC FORECASTS

% Real GDP growth
% Unemployment
% CPI average
Rand/Dollar average

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017F

2018F

2019F

2.2

2.5

1.7

1.3

0.3

0.4

0.9

1.3

NORMALISED EARNINGS

24.9

24.7

25.1

25.4

26.7

+7%

5.6

5.8

6.1

4.6

6.3

5.4

4.9

5.4

8.21

9.65

10.85

12.78

14.7

13.5

14.9

15.5

RMH remains confident, however, that it will continue to create sound value and steady
returns for its shareholders over the medium to long term, given the strength of its
underlying investments:
X

FirstRand reaffirmed its intention to continue to deliver ongoing growth and superior
returns; and

X

Various niche property investment opportunities are being explored. RMH does,
however, remain cautious of deploying large amounts of capital. There are no
imminent transactions as at the reporting date.

For and on behalf of the board.

to 578.5 cents

NET ASSET VALUE

+8%

to 2 931.5 cents

DIVIDEND

+11%
to 327 cents

INTRINSIC VALUE
GT Ferreira

Chairman
Sandton

+6%

to 6 335 cents

8 September 2017
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CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S
REVIEW

RMH’S CORE INVESTMENT,
FIRSTRAND, PERFORMED WELL,
WITH SATISFACTORY RESULTS
FROM ALL MAJOR BRANDS,
AGAIN DEMONSTRATING THEIR
LEADING MARKET POSITIONS.
HERMAN BOSMAN
Chief executive

VALUE CREATED
RMH produced satisfactory results
for the year ended 30 June 2017:

NORMALISED EARNINGS

+7%

to R8.2 billion

(2016: R7.7 billion)
Normalised earnings per share
amounted to 578.5 cents per share
(2016: 542.5 cents per share).
RMH’s core investment, FirstRand,
performed well, with satisfactory
results from all major brands, again
demonstrating their leading market
positions. The new property
investment arm of RMH will only start
contributing to the results over the
medium term.

MARKET CAPITALISATION

2017
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+4%

22

to R82.9 billion

(2016: R79.4 billion)

DIVIDENDS
for the year distributed to
shareholders increased by

+11%
to 327 cents

(2016: 295.0 cents)

SOURCES OF NORMALISED EARNINGS

NORMALISED EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)

RMH’s normalised earnings is made up as follows:
For the year ended
30 June
2016

% change

2015

FNB
RMB
WesBank
Other*

12 951
6 955
3 996
569

12 294
6 287
3 927
347

5
11
2
64

2014

FIRSTRAND NORMALISED EARNINGS

24 471

22 855

7

Attributable to RMH
RMH Property
Centre costs

8 334
8
(176)

7 783
–
(124)

RMH NORMALISED EARNINGS

8 166

7 659

275.4
542.0

2016

2017

R million

578.5

2017
578.50

RMH regards normalised earnings as the appropriate basis to evaluate business
performance as it eliminates the impact of non-recurring items and accounting anomalies.

7
100
42

2013

J Final

258.8
507.0
237.7
441.7
205.8
361.7
168.7

J Interim

7

* Other is the total of FCC including group treasury and preference dividends paid on perpetual
preference shares issued by FirstRand. It includes the capital endowment, the impact of accounting
mismatches, interest rate management and foreign currency liquidity management.

INTRINSIC VALUE (R MILLION)

A reconciliation of the adjustments made to derive normalised earnings is presented
on page 28.

2017

89 430
84 592

2016
Normalised earnings has shown compound growth of 12% per annum over the past five years.

UNDERLYING INTRINSIC VALUE AND NET ASSET VALUE
During the year to 30 June 2017, RMH’s market capitalisation increased by 4%. At
year-end, it amounted to R82.9 billion (June 2016: R79.4 billion) or 5 875 cents per share
(June 2016: 5 625 cents). This represents a 7.3% discount (June 2016: 6.1 % discount) to
RMH’s underlying intrinsic value. Net asset value per share increased 8% to 2 931.4 cents
per share (June 2016: 2 709.1 cents).

100 797

2014

95 541

2013

54 097

NET ASSET VALUE (R MILLION)

As at 30 June
R million

2015

% change

2017

2016

Market value of listed interest (FirstRand)
Book value of RMH Property
Net funding

90 077
899
(1 546)

85 664
–
(1 072)

TOTAL INTRINSIC VALUE

89 430

84 592

6

2015

Intrinsic value per share (cents)

6 334.9

5 992.2

6

2014

NET ASSET VALUE

41 381

38 244

8

Net asset value per share (cents)

2 931.4

2 709.1

8

5
100
44

41 381

2017

38 224

2016

2013

35 174
32 220
29 318
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW continued

MARKET PERFORMANCE
TOTAL RETURN CAGR OF 19% PER ANNUM SINCE MARCH 2011
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0
Mar Aug Jan Jun Nov Apr Sep Feb Jul Dec May Oct Mar Aug Jan Jun
2011 2011 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2015 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017
— RMH

— FTSE/JSE Banks

— FTSE/JSE All share
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SHARE PRICE INCREASED 147% SINCE 2011 UNBUNDLING OF RMI

24

%

2017

2016

1 month

(0.85)

(2.60)

3 months

11.73

7.46

6 months

3.87

(0.04)

12 months

13.26

0.84

0.74

11.71

YTD

DIVIDEND PER SHARE (CENTS)
327.0

2017

153.0

Performance data as at 6 September 2017

295.0

2016

FINAL DIVIDEND FOR THE 2017 FINANCIAL YEAR
The board of RMH has resolved to declare a gross final dividend of 174 cents per share
(2016: 153.0 cents), bringing the total dividend for the year ending 30 June 2017 to
327 cents per ordinary share (2016: 295.0 cents). The dividend is covered 1.8 times
(2016: 1.8 times) by normalised earnings per share and represents a year-on-year
increase of 11%.
The board is of the opinion that RMH is adequately capitalised at this stage and that the
company will be able to meet its obligations in the foreseeable future after payment of the
final dividend.

142.0
276.0

2015

122.0
227.5

2014
2013

100.0
170.5
60.0

J Final

J Interim

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE VALUE CREATION
Management will focus on the following in the year ahead:

DIVERSIFY
DIVERSIFICATION OF INCOME
STREAM AND DISTRIBUTION
OF ASSETS
Management will focus on the
newly-created property business in
identifying opportunities for both the
core portfolio and specialist portfolio.

OPTIMISE
OPTIMISATION OF OUR ESTABLISHED
INVESTMENTS
Management will continue its
strategic dialogue and activity
across the portfolio. It will assist with
creating leadership stability and
succession planning.

MODERNISE
MODERNISATION
RMH will continue to identify new
businesses, technologies and industry
trends to complement RMH and its
investee companies.

It will selectively evaluate expanding
RMH’s geographic footprint further,
either independently and/or through
the existing portfolio.
We remain confident that both our clear strategy, in conjunction with the solid investment portfolio and underpinned by
unwavering values, will allow RMH to continue delivering on its primary objective of creating sustainable, long-term value
for shareholders.

Herman Bosman

Chief executive
Sandton
8 September 2017

25

02

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
% change

5-year
% CAGR1

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

R million

29 071

32 220

35 174

38 244

41 381

8

9

cents

3 831

5 434

7 140

5 992

6 335

6

13

8

9

Capital growth
Equity
Intrinsic value
Discount/(premium)

cents

3.3

7.4

6.1

7.3

Net asset value

cents

2 059.3

(1.2)

2 282.3

2 491.6

2 709.1

2 931.3

Price-to-book

times

1.9

2.3

2.7

2.1

2.0

Normalised earnings from

R million

5 107

6 237

7 158

7 659

8 166

7

12

FNB

R million

2 711

3 206

3 872

4 183

4 411

5

13

RMB

R million

1 485

1 810

1 959

2 141

2 369

11

12

WesBank

R million

940

959

1 096

1 342

1 361

1

10

Rest of FirstRand

R million

90

350

313

117

193

65

21

RMH Property

R million

–

–

–

–

8

100

Funding and holding
company costs

R million

(119)

(88)

(82)

(124)

(176)

42

10

Earnings and dividends
per share
Earnings

cents

357.1

449.0

550.5

535.7

581.2

8

13

Diluted earnings

cents

355.1

444.2

550.5

535.7

581.2

8

13

Headline earnings

cents

370.6

454.7

508.5

531.7

561.7

6

11

Diluted headline earnings

cents

368.7

449.9

508.5

531.7

561.7

6

11

Normalised earnings

cents

361.7

441.7

507.0

542.5

578.5

7

12

Ordinary dividend

cents

170.5

227.5

276.0

295.0

327.0

11

18

– headline earnings

times

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.8

1.7

– normalised earnings

times

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.8

1.8

Dividend cover

Share price
– Closing

cents

3 940

5 259

6 645

5 625

5 875

4

11

– High

cents

4 475

5 349

7 289

7 112

6 800

(4)

11

– Low

2017
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Market capitalisation
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Volume of shares traded
1. Compound annual growth rate.

cents

3 453

3 766

5 234

4 821

5 300

10

11

R million

55 621

74 241

93 808

79 408

82 938

4

11

millions

456

352

329

593

511

(14)

3

FINANCIAL REVIEW
OVERVIEW OF RESULTS
This discussion is intended as a brief explanatory addendum to the chief executive’s review and provides a summarised view of the
consolidated annual financial statements.
The complete annual financial statements are included in this annual integrated report. Refer page 66.

SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June
R million

2017

2016

% change

ASSETS
Investment in associates
Other assets

43 130
504

39 316
257

10
96

TOTAL ASSETS

43 634

39 573

10

EQUITY
Share capital and premium
Reserves

8 825
32 556

8 825
29 419

–
11

Total equity
Total liabilities

43 381
2 253

38 244
1 329

13
69

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

43 634

39 573

10

Investment in associates increased with RMH’s share of after-tax profits of R8 374 million (2016: R7 684 million) and RMH’s share of associates
other reserves of R731 million (2016: R321 million). This was offset by dividends received of R4 528 million (2016: R4 298 million).

SUMMARISED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended
30 June
% change

2017

2016

Revenue
Share of after-tax profit of associate company
Fee income
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities

16
8 374
3
6

7
7 684
–
(14)

>100
9
100
>100

Net income
Administration expenses

8 399
(40)

7 677
(16)

9
>100

Income from operations
Finance costs

8 359
(152)

7 661
(87)

9
75

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

8 207
(5)

7 574
(15)

8
(67)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

8 202

7 559

9

R million

The dominant part of RMH’s income is its share in the after-tax profits of FirstRand amounting to R8 371 million (2016: R7 684 million). This was
identified as a key audit matter (KAM) by our auditor.
See the independent auditor’s report on pages 74 to 79, which includes a description of the KAM as well as the steps they took to
address the KAM.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

COMPUTATION OF HEADLINE AND NORMALISED EARNINGS
The following adjustments were made to arrive at normalised earnings for the year:
For the year ended
30 June
R million

% change

2017

2016

Earnings attributable to equity holders
RMH’s share of adjustments made by associate
RMH’s own adjustments:
Loss on deemed sale of associate due to change in effective shareholding

8 202
(276)

7 559
(60)

1

4

75

HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

7 927

7 503

6

242

159

52

RMH’s share of adjustments made by associate:
Adjustment for:
RMH shares held by associate¹
Group treasury shares²
NORMALISED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

–
(3)
8 166

9
>100

1
(4)
7 659

7

1. RMH shares held for client trading activities by FirstRand.
2. Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMH shareholding in FirstRand i.e. reflecting treasury shares as if they are non-controlling interests.

SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended
30 June
R million

2017
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Net cash generated from operating activities
Dividends paid
Net cash in/(out)flow in financing activities

28

2017

2016

4 397
(4 320)
784

4 273
(4 178)
(93)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

21
18

2
16

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

39

18

Cash flow consists largely of the dividends received of R 4 528 million (2016: R4 298 million), less dividends paid of R 4 320 million
(2016: R4 178 million).

% change

DIVIDENDS
DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID BY FIRSTRAND (R MILLION)
4 528

578.50

2017

4 852
4 298

2016

4 320
3 630

2015

4 014
3 019

2014

3 326
2 152

2013

J Paid

2 600

J Declared

Dividends declared and paid by FirstRand to RMH grew at an annual compound growth rate
of 17% and 20% respectively per annum over the past five years.

DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID BY RMH (R MILLION)
4 320

578.50

2017

4 616
4 178

2016

4 165
3 522

2015

3 896
2 877

2014

3 212
1 969

2013

J Paid

2 407

J Declared

Ordinary dividends declared and paid by RMH have shown compound growth of 18% and 22%
respectively per annum over the past five years.
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03
PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

FirstRand

32

RMH Property

42

“A business that makes
nothing but money is a
poor kind of business.”
HENRY FORD
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FINANCIAL
NORMALISED EARNINGS

+7%

TOTAL NORMALISED
ASSETS

NORMALISED NET
ASSET VALUE

+6%

+9%

RETURN ON EQUITY

2017:

2017:

2017:

2017:

R24.5 billion

R1 217 billion

R108.9 billion

23.4%

2016:

2016:

2016:

2016:

R22.9 billion

R1 149 billion

R99.8 billion

24.0%

SOCIAL

2017
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ECONOMIC VALUE
ADDED TO SOCIETY

32

+11%

TOTAL WORKFORCE

-1%

%ACI EMPLOYEES

2017:

2017:

2017:

R110 827 million

44 916

76%

2016:

2016:

2016:

R99 969 million

45 100

75%

B-BBEE

Maintained
Level 2 Status

OPERATIONS
FNB CLIENTS

+4%

BANKING APP
TRANSACTION VOLUMES

2017:

2017:

7.8 million

99.4 million

2016:

2016:

7.5 million

59.0 million

+68%

WESBANK

Finances 1 in 3
vehicles

RMB M&A ADVISORY

Deals of
R35 billion

FIRSTRAND’S BRANDS
AND BUSINESSES
FNB represents FirstRand’s activities in the retail and commercial
segments in South Africa and the broader African continent.
It is growing its franchise strongly in both existing and new markets on the
back of a compelling client offering that provides a broad range of
innovative financial services products and delivery channels, particularly
focusing on electronic and digital platforms.

RMB represents the group’s activities in the corporate and investment
banking segments in South Africa, the broader African continent and
India.
The business strategy leverages a market-leading origination franchise to
deliver an integrated corporate and investment banking value
proposition to corporate and institutional clients.

WesBank represents the group’s activities in instalment credit and related
services in the retail, commercial and corporate segments of South
Africa and rest of Africa (where represented), and through MotoNovo
Finance in the UK. Through the Direct Axis brand, WesBank also operates
in the unsecured lending market in South Africa.
WesBank’s leading position in its chosen markets is due to its longstanding alliances with leading motor manufacturers, suppliers and
dealer groups, strong point-of-sale presence and innovative channel
origination strategies.

Ashburton Investments is the new-generation investment manager,
bringing together the investment expertise from across FirstRand. Assets
under management amounted to R81 billion as at 30 June 2017.
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FIRSTRAND continued

OPTIMISATION
FIRSTRAND’S STRATEGY AND VALUES
FirstRand’s portfolio of leading financial
services franchises provides a universal set
of transactional, lending, investment and
insurance products and services. The
franchises operate in markets and
segments where they can deliver
competitive and differentiated clientcentric value propositions, leveraging the
relevant distribution channels, product skills,
licences and operating platforms of the
wider group.
Strategy is executed on the back of
disruptive and innovative thinking,
underpinned by an owner-manager culture
combined with the disciplined allocation of
financial resources.
FirstRand’s objective is to build long-term
franchise value and the diversified portfolio
of the group has delivered strong growth in
earnings, assets and dividends.

STRATEGY CASE STUDY
OPTIMISING GROWTH BY DELIVERING
ON TRANSFORMATION AND
INCLUSIVITY
In March 2017, FirstRand chief
executive, Johan Burger, presented to
the Parliament’s Standing Committee
on Finance and Portfolio Committee on
Trade and Industry. The presentation
formed part of a series of public
hearings convened by Parliament to
assess progress in the transformation of
the financial services sector.
FirstRand outlined its progress against
the framework set down by the
Financial Services Charter and
demonstrated that it takes
transformation and inclusiveness
extremely seriously, and that it
continues to make good progress:
X

FirstRand’s philosophy is underpinned by its
belief in the following values and principles:
X
X
X

2017
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X
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X

X

X

respecting and empowering individuals;
collective and individual accountability;
integrity in care for the business;
prudent and accurate scorekeeping;
ensuring that the business case always
prevails through open communication,
vigorous debate and participative
non-hierarchical decision-making;

X

being a good corporate citizen –
seeing sustainable development and
sustainable profit growth as
complementary objectives; and
helping to create a better world that is
socially and environmentally viable in
the long term.

X

X

FirstRand is the custodian of
R984 billion of deposits, representing
the savings pool of eight million
clients;
the banking sector is a national
asset for the country and integral
to the South African economy;
FirstRand understands its role in
ensuring a sustainable future for the
country and transformation and
inclusion are key imperatives for the
group;
the FirstRand B-BBEE ownership deal
resulted in R23.5 billion of value
transfer to a broad base of black
shareholders. FirstRand’s black
ownership amounts to 36.5% of the
group, which represents a real
commitment to transformation;

X

X

X

X

X

progress in employment equity
manifested in the fact that 76% of
the group’s employees were
African, Coloured and Indian (ACI)
with 87% of all new graduates now
black. Transformation at top and
senior management is slow, but the
board, however, which is ultimately
the custodian for all shareholders, is
50% ACI;
in terms of the group’s efforts to
facilitate economic inclusion and
wealth creation, for example, RMB
has provided funding of R53 billion
for transformational infrastructure in
support of government’s National
Development Plan and R36 billion
of funding for B-BBEE transactions;
the group’s procurement spend
with black-owned businesses had
shown good growth and from 2012
to 2016 the group’s cumulative
spend with black-owned suppliers
exceeded R10 billion;
in terms of empowerment funding
and enterprise development,
WesBank had so far invested
R3.5 billion in financing to the SA
taxi industry, and FNB and WesBank
combined had provided R8.3 billion
in financing to black SMEs. This
facilitates the creation of jobs and
building of capacity;
as for inclusivity for individuals
through access to financial
services, tools include granting
credit to buy a house or car or fund
a student loan, the provision of
cheap and accessible channels to

22
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2016

2017

2014

113

J Education
J Community

69

2013

84

73
66

52

112

189

285

TOTAL CSI SPEND (R MILLION)

development

2015

2016

2017

222

217

573

593

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT SPEND (R MILLION)

356 83

The full submission is available on
FirstRand’s website:
www.firstrand.co.za

2015

71

A commercially sound and profitable
banking system remains a nonnegotiable for the country. Maintaining
a sound banking system whilst driving
transformation and inclusivity are
fundamentally complementary
objectives and the achievement of the
latter will continue to accelerate on
the back of a strong economy.

J Annual spend

2014

451 56

X

transact, pay bills and send money
home. FNB provides free
transactional access through its
eWallet product for 3.2 million South
Africans and the affordable
housing book has grown strongly to
R22.5 billion, representing
93 000 clients;
FirstRand created two of the largest
CSI vehicles in South Africa. The
FirstRand Empowerment
Foundation was created through
the group’s B-BBEE transaction; it is
black controlled and at R6 billion is
one of the largest endowments in
the country. The FirstRand
Foundation, which was created in
1998 when the group was formed,
represents contributions from
FirstRand of more than R1 billion.
Total CSI spent amounted to
R354 million with a specific focus on
education (81% of total spent).
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SPEND ON CONSUMER FINANCIAL EDUCATION (R MILLION)

J Spend on

white employees
J Spend on

ACI employees

2014

2015

2016

2017
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FIRSTRAND continued

OPERATIONAL
REVIEW

FNB increased pre-tax profits 5% and
produced a ROE of 37.4%. FNB South Africa
produced a solid performance, growing

FIRSTRAND

profits 8%. The portfolio in the rest of Africa

CONTRIBUTION TO NORMALISED EARNINGS (%)

The performance was impacted by:

experienced a 32% decline in profits.

X

2017

54

2016

55

29
28

17

by moderate growth in advances
and excellent growth in deposits.

17

X

2015

55

2014

54

2013

53

29
30

FNB NII increased 9%. This was driven

NIR grew by 6%. The result was

16

achieved despite a conscious decision

16

made by FNB to rationalise its offering,
simplifying both product and pricing

J FNB

J RMB

29

18

options in the consumer segments. This
decision resulted in clients moving to

J WESBANK

lower revenue-generating products,
which resulted in a once-off negative

FirstRand’s operational performance was mainly driven by:
X

X

X
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X

X

Net interest income (NII) increased by 7%, driven by good growth in deposits (up 7%)
and the positive endowment on the back of higher interest rates. Advances growth
was subdued (up 5%), given FirstRand’s conservative risk appetite.
Non-interest revenue (NIR) grew 8%, reflecting the strong FNB fee and commission
growth of 7%. Fee and commission income represents 78% (2016:79%) of FirstRand’s
NIR.
Insurance revenues grew 26% due to volume growth in funeral and credit products
in FNB. WesBank’s insurance income also grew strongly at 11%.
Total operating expenses increased by 7%, significantly down from the 11% in the prior
year. It continues to trend above inflation due to ongoing investment in new insurance
and asset management franchises, the footprint in Africa and platforms to extract
efficiencies. The cost-to-income ratio was 51.0% for the year.
Credit impairments increased by 13%, with the credit impairment ratio increasing from
86 bps to 91 bps. Overall provisions at 95 bps remain conservative and above the
overall annual charge.

impact of R540 million on NIR. Fee and
commission income benefited from
a 10% increase in volumes. The
banking app volumes increased 68%.
X

Cost growth at 7% was acceptable
on the back of further diversification
strategies as mentioned above.

X

As expected, bad debts and
non-performing loans (NPLs)
are trending upwards. Overall NPLs
increased 11%. NPL formation in the
rest of Africa increased sharply (+35%).
Provisioning levels increased and
overlays were maintained.

X

FNB Africa consists of a mix of mature
(Namibia and Botswana) and start-up
(Mozambique, Zambia, Tanzania and
Ghana) businesses. Across the board,
these businesses faced economic
headwinds and emerging regulatory
challenges. The portfolio delivered
a mixed performance. The new

2017

businesses particularly suffered due

36

to lack of scale and investment drag
on the back of the organic build and
credit losses caused by poor macros.

RMB produced a strong operational
performance. Pre-tax profits increased
10% and an improved ROE of 26.2%
was delivered. The following impacted
the results:
X

Investment banking and advisory
delivered a resilient performance,
pre-tax profits increasing 11%. The
advisory business benefited from

WesBank delivered a solid operational
performance. WesBank’s pre-tax profit
increased 2% and it delivered a ROE
of 20%, reflecting the tough operating
environment. WesBank’s results were
influenced by the following:
X

client activities in offshore markets.
Returns were preserved through
disciplined financial resource
X

X

MotoNovo’s volumes continued to
track up (+11.7% in GBP terms) but
are slowing due to the risk appetite
being tightened. The results were
negatively impacted by a 20%
appreciation in the Rand. NPLs
increased 19%, moderating from
the first half of the year and reflects
the positive impact of risk appetite
being tightened and operational
rightsizing in the collections area.

X

Personal loans delivered modest
growth of 2% despite good book
growth, which was off-set by further
investment in new channels
and the rate caps enforced by
the National Credit Amendment Act.

X

Corporate was down 10%. This was due
to more competitive pricing pressures,
lengthening replacement cycles and
corporates delaying investments.

X

Interest margins remained resilient.

X

As anticipated, bad debts are trending
upwards.

X

WesBank delivered a strong growth of
15% in operational NIR. This was due to
the acquisition of MotoVantage, which
increased insurance and VAP-related
income, as well as increases in full
maintenance lease rental income.

X

Cost grew 11%, mainly driven by new

allocation and cost-containment.
Corporate and transactional banking
activity showed solid growth,
increasing pre-tax profits 18%. It
focused on leveraging platforms

X

and expanding product offerings
locally and in the rest of Africa.
Market and structuring activities
also delivered a solid performance,
increasing pre-tax profits 16%. This

X

was driven by good client flows.
The investing activities showed an
increase in pre-tax profits of 7%. Private
Equity had a significant realisation
in the second half of the year. The
business is now entering an investment
cycle. The Corvest and Ventures
annuity income portfolio, which
underpin the unrealised profit of the

private equity portfolio, resulted in an
unrealised profit of R3.7 billion
(2016: R4.2 billion).

Retail SA vehicle asset finance (VAF)
increased pre-tax profits 6%. This
was due to improved margins and
improved equity accounted earnings.

Ashburton Investments (Ashburton)
FirstRand has an organic strategy to
grow an asset management, and wealth
and investment management franchise.
The asset management business,
Ashburton Investments (AI), comprises
a wide range of component funds.
AI’s assets under management
have grown 31% to R81 billion.

business initiatives and volume-related
expenditure in MotoNovo, Direct Axis
and the WesBank full maintenance
lease book.
37
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FIRSTRAND continued

MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL
RESOURCES
The management of financial resources,
defined as capital, funding and liquidity,
and risk appetite, are critical to the
achievement of FirstRand’s stated growth
and return targets, and are driven by the
overall risk appetite. The management of
financial resources is done by Group
Treasury. This ensures that the allocation
of financial resources is done within the
required level of discipline as well as
an alignment between the mandates
of Group Treasury with the targets of
the franchises.

2017
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Given the high levels of uncertainty
and volatility in funding markets, FirstRand
established FirstRand Securities Limited
and became a member of SwapClear, a
derivative clearing service. This was done
to protect FirstRand’s counterparty status
in the international funding markets. It will
further enhance FirstRand’s international
access to financial market infrastructure
and greater liquidity pools.

38

CAPITAL
FirstRand has maintained its very strong
capital position. FirstRand’s total capital
requirement at 17.1%, exceeds the
regulatory minimum requirement of 10.8%
and its internal target of 14.0%. Capital
planning is undertaken on a three-year
forward-looking basis. The level and
composition take into account organic
growth, stress-testing and scenario
outcomes. External factors such as
regulatory and accounting changes,
macroeconomic conditions and future
outlook are also taken into consideration.

LIQUIDITY POSITION
FirstRand exceeds the 80% minimum
liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) as set out
by the Basel Committee, with an LCR
for the group of 97% (2016: 96%).
For a comprehensive, in-depth
review of FirstRand’s performance,
RMH shareholders are referred to
www.firstrand.co.za.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGY
The chart below provides a point-in-time analysis of the group’s portfolio and it is clear that the lending and transactional (banking
activities) remain the largest contributors to revenue at 83%. The group also remains heavily concentrated in South Africa, with the domestic
business accounting for 90% of pre-tax profits.

Protect and grow banking franchises
FirstRand’s return on assets has been above 2% since 2014. It is
structurally higher than the South African sector as a result of
its portfolio mix and certain strategic choices:

OPTIMISE

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

the relative size of the transactional franchise;
the group’s relative advances mix;
credit underwriting and pricing anchored to preserve
return profile;
disciplined allocation and pricing of capital, funding and
liquidity and risk capacity;
market-leading private equity franchise;
incremental benefit of insurance and save and invest
franchises; and
lowest cost-to-income ratio in its peer group.

17%

WESBANK

29%

DIVERSIFY

The capability to capture a larger share of profit from the
savings, insurance and investment products has been built.
FirstRand has all the origination capabilities and distribution
networks to grow these faster than transaction and lending
activities.

FNB

4%
5%
5%

INVESTING

4% OTHER

INSURE

SAVE AND INVEST

REVENUE
SPLIT BY
ACTIVITY

– FirstRand Life has 4 million lives covered and its
embedded value amounts to R3.5 billion.
– Since 2014, assets under management has grown at a
compound annual growth rate of 20%.

54%

RMB

Diversification of income streams
X

FRANCHISE
SPLIT OF
NORMALISED
EARNINGS

LEND

34%

49%

TRANSACT

83%

Geographic diversification

DIVERSIFY

FirstRand is committed to the long-term opportunity in the rest
of Africa and follows an organic approach, which means the
strategy has a long-term pay-off profile. The emerging and
start-up businesses impacted negatively on the performance
of FNB Africa. The mature subsidiaries delivered an ROE of
21.7% in comparison to the ROE of all African subsidiaries
of 12%.
FirstRand is focusing on leveraging its current operation in the
UK to generate new revenue streams and create building
blocks for a more sustainable developed market business. This,
however, requires a long-term sustainable funding model. The
group is assessing whether this capability should be created
through an organic build or acquisition of a local deposit
franchise.

REST OF AFRICA

MARKETS
8% 2% OTHER
INCLUDING UK AND INDIA

GEOGRAPHIC
PBT
MIX

90% SOUTH AFRICA
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FIRSTRAND continued

MODERNISATION
OUTLOOK
Global and South African growth
constraints remain. This will create
headwinds for top line growth. SubSaharan growth rates are expected to
show a recovery in the next 12 months,
which should be supportive of the rest of
Africa portfolio. However, FirstRand remains
committed to its current investment cycle,
as it believes its strategies to diversify its
financial services offering and build the
rest of Africa and UK franchises will deliver
outperformance over the medium to long
term. In addition, the group remains
focused on driving efficiencies and
managing core costs.

2017
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X

40

The group aims to deliver real growth
in earnings and a ROE near the
upper end of its targeted range of
18% to 22%.

STRATEGY CASE STUDY
FNB IS MODERNISING BY DIGITISING
FNB’s growth in earnings is, in part,
attributed to its investment in its
digitisation strategy. The client base
managed to grow 4% despite a tough
macroeconomic environment. With a
10% growth in transactional volumes,
the banking app volumes increased by
68%. The bank’s digitisation strategy,
which started 10 years ago, has helped
boost sales and improved efficiencies
to clients.
Cold, hard cash has been on the
decline in mature first world economies
since the 1990s when electronic
banking started becoming popular. In
South Africa, cash withdrawals by
middle-income earners from ATMs
reduced for the first time in February
2017 compared to the same period in
2016. These clients are opting to use
point of sale devices, other electronic
transactions and cash-at-till advances
where the client just adds “cash” to
their grocery purchases at popular
retailers.
Consumer demand plays a huge role
in the migration to cashless as they will
adopt cheaper, more convenient
transactions if available and
trustworthy.
All the banks have digital solutions for
sending money to someone who is
completely unbanked and although
physical cash is still introduced back
into circulation, it digitises the peer-to-

peer transaction and enhances
financial inclusion by familiarising
unbanked people with banking
services. Other innovations in South
African banking include contactless
payment and cellphone banking,
which offer a range of digital banking
channels that non-traditional banking
players and new entrants struggle to
compete with.
Data privacy remains a key concern
for consumers in their adoption of fully
digitised services, regardless of
convenience or how much safer they
are as an alternative to carrying cash.
Lower income groups remain focused
on physical possession of cash, rather
than depositing, with micro-traders in
the informal economy continuing to be
cash only, and cash-consuming.
Penetrating this market with trustworthy
brand promises and convenient digital
alternatives has not proven to be easy
but is likely to be the last stage of
global digital currency adoption.
In 1999 FNB Online and eBucks were
launched, followed by InContact in
2000, Cellphone Banking launched in
2004, FNB App and Smart Devices in
2011, Tablet App in 2013, FNB Connect
SIM in 2015 and the recent FNB App
5.0, which features industry-leading
solutions such as FNB Pay, Fingerprint ID,
Secure Chat, Smart inContact,
1-touch Report Fraud, as well as
the FNB Watch App.

FNB clients who use its banking app no
longer need data to access it via their
smartphones from 1 July 2017. This
follows an agreement with all major
mobile network operators in South
Africa to zero rate access to the FNB
Banking App, allowing all clients to use
it at no cost. The bank already offers
free access to its app to all FNB
Connect clients, and offers free WiFi in
most FNB branches for clients to
download the app.

POWERFUL
CLIENT
FRANCHISE
Cumulative innovations
implemented CAGR 15%
5 943 7 707 9 424 9 810 10 478

SA’s Coolest Bank

13

The FNB Banking App not only offers
clients convenience, but increased
value through its industry-leading
features that cater for the basic and
advanced banking transactions in the
hands of clients.
The FNB Banking App is currently
ranked the best in South Africa by
clients in both the South African
Consumer Satisfaction Index 2017, and
in the Columinate SITEisfaction Index
2017. The app has also been ranked
best in South Africa by international
benchmark studies, such as
MyPrivateBanking Research and Finalta
where international banking experts
rank the FNB Banking App as standing
shoulder to shoulder with the best in
the world.

2012 – 2017
Sunday Times Generation Next

14

15

16

17

2016 – 2017

Best Cellphone
Banking
Best Online
Banking
Best Banking App

2013 – 2016
Sunday Times Top Brands

#1
Business Bank

FNB will continue to identify innovative
solutions that not only add value, but
also make a meaningful impact in the
lives of its clients.
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RMH PROPERTY
STRATEGY
During the previous financial year, RMH identified the property
industry as one where substantial value can be unlocked.
The property strategy is to invest across the breadth of the
property value chain. The strategy involves investing in physical
property portfolios as well as vertically integrated property
companies, specifically with internal management teams that offer
asset management, development management and property
management skills.
The property strategy consists of two pillars, a core portfolio and a
specialist portfolio. The core portfolio consists of one key
development partner. This anchor investment targets the more
traditional and larger areas of South African property (principally
office, retail and industrial property). The specialist portfolio focuses
on niche areas of the property sector.

PROGRESS ON STRATEGY
Three investments were made:

2017
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CORE PORTFOLIO

42

Atterbury

Office, retail and
industrial property

SPECIALIST PORTFOLIO

% held

Date
acquired

27.5

July 2016

% held

Date
acquired

Propertuity

Urban renewal business

34.1

November
2016

Genesis
Properties

Mezzanine debt and
equity funding business

40

December
2016

ATTERBURY IS RMH’S KEY DEVELOPMENT PARTNER IN ITS
CORE PORTFOLIO THAT WILL TARGET THE MORE
TRADITIONAL AREAS OF SOUTH AFRICAN PROPERTY
(PRINCIPALLY OFFICE, RETAIL AND INDUSTRIAL
PROPERTY).

PROPERTUITY IS THE FIRST INVESTMENT MADE IN THE
SPECIALIST PORTFOLIO. THE SPECIALIST PORTFOLIO WILL
HOUSE BEST-OF-BREED SPECIALIST DEVELOPERS AND
MANAGERS FOCUSED ON KEY NICHES IN THE PROPERTY
MARKET. THIS PORTFOLIO IS AIMED AT ACHIEVING
HIGHER YIELDS AND FASTER NET ASSET VALUE GROWTH
THAN THE MORE TRADITIONAL CORE PORTFOLIO.

GENESIS PROPERTIES IS THE SECOND INVESTMENT MADE
IN THE SPECIALIST PORTFOLIO. IT IS A MEZZANINE
FUNDING BUSINESS. IT FOCUSES ON BUILDING A
LONG-TERM PORTFOLIO OF PRIME COMMERCIAL,
INDUSTRIAL AND RETAIL PROPERTIES WITH STRONG
LONG-TERM LEASES AND WILL PROVIDE RMH PROPERTY
ACCESS TO A WIDER NETWORK OF PROPERTY
OPPORTUNITIES.

DIVERSIFICATION

STRATEGY CASE STUDY
RMH ESTABLISHES PROPERTY
DIVISION AND APPOINTS
DIVISIONAL CEO

PERFORMANCE OF RMH PROPERTY
RMH Property delivered R8 million in
operating profit during the year. Progress
across our various property investments
was pleasing, with strong development
pipelines in place across the portfolio and
a number of strategic initiatives underway.
RMH Property is actively involved in
partnering the various management
teams to deliver on these initiatives and in
executing and prudently managing the
development pipeline.

OUTLOOK
RMH Property will continue to evaluate
further property transactions and remains
active in pursuing its strategy to create a
diversified portfolio of superior and
scalable entrepreneur-led businesses with
proven track records in managing and
building out property portfolios. Given the
challenging operating environment, RMH
Property will maintain a measured
approach in building out its property
investment portfolio, with greater emphasis
currently being placed on delivery of
shareholder value within the recently
acquired property investments.
Brian Roberts was appointed as chief
executive of RMH Property effective
1 August 2017.

Our new property investment strategy
meets our stated objective of creating
shareholder value and also further
diversifies RMH’s earnings base, as we
will invest across the breadth of the
property value chain. In line with our
history and ethos, we will focus on
entrepreneurial and owner-managed
businesses. The strategy will involve
investing in physical property portfolios
as well as vertically-integrated property
companies, specifically with internal
management teams that offer asset,
development and property
management skills.

Zenprop Property Holdings Proprietary
Limited in the capacity of managing
director from 2004 to 2007; finally,
before joining Genesis Properties in
May 2010 Brian was the Regional
Executive in charge of the Gauteng
region of Nedbank Corporate
Property Finance.

The core portfolio has been established
and two investments have been made
in the specialist portfolio. Investments
made were in entrepreneurial and
owner-managed businesses.

RMH PROPERTY APPOINTED BRIAN
ROBERTS TO EXECUTE ITS STRATEGY
Brian has over 17 years’ experience in
the commercial and industrial property
industry. He started his career when he
joined Syfrets as a commercial and
industrial property finance banker
in 1997.
Since then he has been involved in the
property industry in a variety of ways:
He headed up structured property
finance at Nedcor Investment Bank
Limited from 1999 to 2003; he
represented Nedbank as a nonexecutive director on the board of
Sycom Property Fund (from 2001 to
2004); he then left the bank to join

Hallmark House
43
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“Management is doing
things right. Leadership
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PETER F DRUCKER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
RMH IS COMMITTED TO THE
HIGHEST STANDARDS OF
ETHICS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE.
The Companies Act places certain duties
on directors and determines that they
should apply the necessary care and skill
in fulfilling their duties. To ensure that this is
achieved, the board applies best practice
principles, as contained in King IV, where
appropriate. RMH and its investees
endorse King IV. As a JSE-listed entity,
RMH also complies with the JSE Listings
Requirements.

KING IV

2017
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The King IV Report on Corporate
Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King IV)
was released on 1 November 2016.
Because of the importance to RMH to
meet the highest standards of corporate
governance, the board satisfied itself that
RMH has substantially applied the
principles set out in King IV.

46

King IV advocates an outcomes-based
approach and defines corporate
governance as the exercise of ethical and
effective leadership towards the
achievement of four governance
outcomes. The desired governance
outcomes are listed below, together with
the practices implemented and progress
made towards achieving the 17 principles
in meeting those outcomes. It is done on
an “apply and explain” basis, as
recommended by King IV:

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME ONE:
ETHICAL CULTURE
1. THE BOARD LEADS ETHICALLY
AND EFFECTIVELY
RMH’s board of directors is its governing
body. The directors hold one another
accountable for decision-making and
behave ethically, as characterised in
King IV. The chairman is tasked to monitor
this as part of his duties. The results of the
performance assessment of individual
directors in respect of the ethical
characteristics they demonstrated was
satisfactory. The board will make an
ongoing assessment to ensure that the
ethical characteristics demonstrated by
the individual directors are continued.

2. THE BOARD GOVERNS THE ETHICS
OF RMH IN A WAY THAT SUPPORTS
THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN
ETHICAL CULTURE
The board has a fiduciary duty to act in
good faith, with due care and diligence
and in the best interests of the group and
its stakeholders. It is the primary body
responsible for the corporate governance
values of the group. While control is
delegated to management in the
day-to-day management of the group,
the board retains full and effective control
over the group. A formal board charter, as
recommended by King IV, has been
adopted. All directors subscribe to a code
of ethics. The code deals with duties of
care and skill, as well as those of good
faith, including honesty, integrity and the
need to always act in the best interests of
the company. Procedures exist in terms of
which unethical business practices can be
brought to the attention of the board by
directors.

RMH’s values of commitment, integrity,
responsibility, innovation and connectivity
guide RMH’s behaviour. This includes
interaction with clients, investees,
shareholders, suppliers and the
communities within which the company
operates.

3. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT RMH IS
AND IS SEEN TO BE A RESPONSIBLE
CORPORATE CITIZEN
The board is the guardian of the values
and ethics of the group and ensures that it
is seen as a responsible corporate citizen.
The responsibility for monitoring the overall
responsible corporate citizenship
performance of the organisation was
delegated to the social, ethics and
transformation committee by the board.
Refer to the report of the social,
ethics and transformation
committee on page 63 of the
annual integrated report for more
detail on how RMH addressed
responsible citizenship.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME TWO:
PERFORMANCE AND VALUE
CREATION
4. THE BOARD APPRECIATES THAT
RMH’S CORE PURPOSE, ITS RISKS
AND OPPORTUNITIES, STRATEGY,
BUSINESS MODEL, PERFORMANCE
AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
ARE ALL INSEPARABLE ELEMENTS
OF THE VALUE CREATION PROCESS
The board’s paramount responsibility is to
ensure that RMH creates value for its
shareholders. In so doing, it takes into
account the legitimate interests and
expectations of stakeholders, which
include the present and potential future
investors in RMH.
This annual integrated report demonstrates
how performance is achieved through the
strategic initiatives. RMH sets and achieves
its strategic initiatives with reference to its
risks and opportunities. The board assesses
both the positive and negative outcomes
resulting from its business model
continuously and responds to it.
Refer to RMH’s business model
and explanation of how the
inseparable elements of the value
creation process are linked, which
is summarised on page 10 and 11
of the annual integrated report.

5. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT
REPORTS ISSUED BY RMH ENABLE
STAKEHOLDERS TO MAKE INFORMED
ASSESSMENTS OF RMH’S
PERFORMANCE AND ITS SHORT,
MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM
PROSPECTS
The board is also responsible for
formulating its communication policy and
ensuring that spokespeople of the
company adhere to it. This responsibility
includes clear, transparent, balanced and
truthful communication to shareholders
and relevant stakeholders.

In its interim and annual integrated reports
to stakeholders, RMH details both its
historical performance and future outlook.
This, together with further information in
those and other communications, enable
stakeholders to make informed
assessments of RMH’s prospects.
RMH’s ability to create value in a
sustainable manner is illustrated
throughout its business model.
See page 26 for RMH’s five-year
historical performance and page
27 to 29 of the annual integrated
report for its detailed performance
over the past year.
See page 25 of the annual
integrated report for RMH’s
outlook for the future.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE:
ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE
CONTROL
6. THE BOARD SERVES AS THE FOCAL
POINT AND CUSTODIAN OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN RMH
Its role and responsibilities and the way
that it executes its duties and decisionmaking are documented and are set out
in the board charter.
The board meets once every quarter.
Should an important matter arise between
scheduled meetings, additional meetings
may be convened.
Before each board meeting, an
information pack, which provides
background information on the
performance of the group for the
year-to-date and any other matters for
discussion at the meeting, is distributed to
each board member. At their meetings,
the board considers both financial- and
non-financial, or qualitative, information
that might have an impact on
stakeholders.

Details of the board meetings
held during the year ended 30
June 2017, as well as the
attendance at the board
meetings and annual general
meeting by individual directors,
are disclosed on page 51.
RMH has an “owner-manager” culture,
which has been inculcated at every
business in which it is invested. Whilst RMH’s
board is responsible for the maintenance
of sound corporate governance, it
believes that implementation is best
managed at an investee company level.
Investee companies therefore have their
own governance structures, including
boards of directors, executive teams and
board committees that monitor operations
and deal with governance and
transformation-related issues.
RMH has board representation at all
investee companies and influence the
governance and transformation-related
issues through this strategic position.

7. THE BOARD COMPRISES THE
APPROPRIATE BALANCE OF
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS, EXPERIENCE,
DIVERSITY AND INDEPENDENCE FOR
IT TO DISCHARGE ITS GOVERNANCE
ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
OBJECTIVELY AND EFFECTIVELY
The board, with the assistance of the
directors’ affairs and governance and
nomination committees, considers, on an
annual basis, its composition in terms of
balance of skills, experience, diversity,
independence and knowledge and
whether this enables it to effectively
discharge its role and responsibilities. The
board is satisfied that there is a balance of
skills, experience, diversity, independence
and knowledge needed to discharge its
role and responsibilities. The board has
taken steps to strengthen its succession
plan to also include an immediate and
interim succession plan in the event of an
unforeseen event.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

RMH has a unitary board with a nonexecutive director as chairman. Pat Goss is
appointed as the lead independent
non-executive director. Six of the 14
non-executive directors are independent.
This is considered acceptable in light of
the low number of executive directors.
RMH believes that all board members are
suitably qualified and that the composition
of the board is in the best interests of all
stakeholders, without prejudice to them.
The roles of chairman and chief executive
are separate and the composition of the
board ensures a balance of authority,
precluding any one director from
exercising unfettered powers of decisionmaking.
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The directors are individuals of a high
calibre with diverse backgrounds and
expertise, facilitating independent
judgment and broad deliberations in the
decision-making process. New directors
are subject to a “fit and proper” test. An
informal orientation programme is
available to incoming directors. No
director has an automatic right to a
position on the board. All non-executive
directors are required to be elected by
shareholders at an annual general
meeting. In a general meeting, the
company may appoint any person to be
a director, subject to the provisions of the
memorandum of incorporation.
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Non-executive directors retire by rotation
every three years and are eligible for
re-election. Re-appointment of nonexecutive directors is not automatic. The
retirement age of the non-executive
directors is set at 70.
The boards of RMH’s major investments
and operating divisions are similarly
constituted with the necessary mix of skills,
experience and diversity. There is also an
appropriate mix between executive and
non-executive appointments. RMH
believes that investee companies have a
strong pipeline of executives whose
natural career progression would be to
serve on the RMH board.

For details of directors’ full names, their dates of appointment and other listed
directorships as well as brief career and sphere of influence synopsis of each of the
directors, refer to pages 52 to 57 of the annual integrated report.
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
Executive

Directors

Non-executive

Independent non-executive

8

6

1

Length of service

Transformation

0 – 3 years

4 – 10
years

> 20 years

7

2

6

Black

Not black

7

8

Female

Male

Gender

2

13

Black female

2

The policy on the promotion of race and gender diversity is included in the nominations
committee charter which requires that, when appointing new directors, the board takes
cognizance of its needs in terms of different skills, experience, cultural and gender diversity,
size and demographics. Whilst no specific targets have been set, the board is committed to
increasing its gender and race diversity at board and top management level.

8. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT ITS ARRANGEMENTS FOR DELEGATION WITHIN ITS OWN
STRUCTURES PROMOTE INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT, AND ASSIST WITH BALANCE OF
POWER AND THE EFFECTIVE DISCHARGE OF ITS DUTIES
The board established five sub-committees to assist the directors in fulfilling their duties and
responsibilities. Each committee has a formal charter and reports to the board at regular
intervals. The charters, which set out the objectives, authority, composition and
responsibilities of each committee, have been approved by the board. All the committees
are free to take independent outside professional advice, as and when required, at the
expense of the company.
Membership of the committees are as recommended in King IV. The composition of the
committees of the board and the distribution of authority between the chairman and other
directors is balanced and does not lead to instances where individual(s) dominate
decision-making within governance structures or where undue dependency is caused.
See page 51 of the annual integrated report for the members of each committee.
It is not a requirement in terms of either the memorandum of incorporation or the board
charter that directors own shares in the company.
Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the company are disclosed on page 73
of the annual integrated report.

The audit and risk committee is satisfied
that the auditor is independent as
non-audit services are not performed and
the auditor firm has been appointed with
the designated partner having oversight
of the audit.
The financial director is the head of the
finance function and he has a senior
manager reporting to him. Internal audit is
fully outsourced and the financial director
is responsible for overseeing and coordinating the effective functioning of the
outsourcing arrangement. An assessment
of the effectiveness of the financial
director function is performed annually by
the audit and risk committee.

9. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT THE
EVALUATION OF ITS OWN
PERFORMANCE AND THAT OF ITS
COMMITTEES, ITS CHAIR AND ITS
INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS, SUPPORT
CONTINUED IMPROVEMENT IN ITS
PERFORMANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS
After evaluating their performance in
terms of their respective charters, the
directors are of the opinion that the board
and the sub-committees have discharged
all their responsibilities.
Assessments of the performance of the
chief executive and company secretary
are conducted annually and no major
issues or concerns have been identified.

10. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT THE
APPOINTMENT OF, AND DELEGATION
TO, MANAGEMENT CONTRIBUTE TO
ROLE CLARITY AND THE EFFECTIVE
EXERCISE OF AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITIES
In terms of its formal charter, the board’s
responsibilities include the appointment of
the chief executive and the approval of
corporate strategy, risk management and
corporate governance. The board reviews
and approves the business plans and
monitors the financial performance
of the group and implementation of
the strategies.

Board members have full and unrestricted
access to management and all group
information and property. They are entitled,
at the cost of the group, to seek
independent professional advice in the
fulfilment of their duties. Directors may
meet separately with management,
without the attendance of executive
directors.
A detailed delegation of authority policy
and framework indicate matters reserved
for the board and those delegated to
management. The board is satisfied that
RMH is appropriately resourced and that
its delegation to management contributes
to an effective arrangement by which
authority and responsibilities are exercised.
The chief executive has an employment
contract that can, subject to fair labour
practices, be terminated upon one
month’s notice. In terms of the
memorandum of incorporation, the
retirement age of an executive director
is 60, but the board has the discretion to
extend it to 65. The chief executive does
not have any work commitments outside
of RMH and its related companies. A
succession plan for the chief executive is
in place.
The company secretary is Ellen Marais,
BCom (Hons) CA(SA). The company
secretary is appointed on a full-time basis
with the requisite knowledge, experience
and stature. All directors have unlimited
access to her services and she is
responsible to the board for ensuring that
proper corporate governance principles
are adhered to, including signing off on
disclosure of membership of board
structures, the number of meetings of
each and attendance at each meeting
as well as the overall content of the
committee information and reporting that
are in the public domain. She is not a
director of RMH.

11. THE BOARD GOVERNS RISK IN A
WAY THAT SUPPORTS RMH IN
SETTING AND ACHIEVING ITS
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The audit and risk committee assists the
board with the governance of risk. The
board is aware of the importance of risk
management as it is linked to the strategy,
performance and sustainability of RMH.
The audit and risk committee implements
a process whereby risks to the
sustainability of the company’s business
are identified and managed within
acceptable parameters. The audit and risk
committee delegates the duty to
management to continuously identify,
assess, mitigate and manage risks within
the existing and ever-changing risk profile
of RMH’s operating environment.
Mitigating controls are formulated to
address the risks and the board is kept up
to date on progress on the risk
management plan.
See page 14 of the annual
integrated report for an overview
of the risks to value creation
in RMH.

12. THE BOARD GOVERNS TECHNOLOGY
AND INFORMATION IN A WAY THAT
SUPPORTS RMH IN SETTING AND
ACHIEVING ITS STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVES
The audit and risk committee assists the
board with the governance of information
technology. The board is aware of the
importance of technology and
information as it is inter-related to the
strategy, performance and sustainability
of RMH.

13. THE BOARD GOVERNS COMPLIANCE
WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
ADOPTED, NON-BINDING RULES,
CODES AND STANDARDS IN A WAY
THAT SUPPORTS RMH BEING
ETHICAL AND A GOOD CORPORATE
CITIZEN
There were no material or repeated
regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for
contraventions of, or non-compliance with,
statutory obligations.
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14. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT RMH
REMUNERATES FAIRLY, RESPONSIBLY
AND TRANSPARENTLY SO AS TO
PROMOTE THE ACHIEVEMENT OF
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND
POSITIVE OUTCOMES IN THE SHORT,
MEDIUM AND LONG TERM
RMH remunerates fairly, responsibly and
transparently so as to promote the
creation of value in a sustainable manner.
The individual directors’ remuneration is
disclosed.
See page 72 of the annual
integrated report for detail
of all directors’ remuneration.

15. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT
ASSURANCE SERVICES AND
FUNCTIONS ENABLE AN EFFECTIVE
CONTROL ENVIRONMENT, AND THAT
THESE SUPPORT THE INTEGRITY OF
INFORMATION FOR INTERNAL
DECISION-MAKING AND OF RMH’S
EXTERNAL REPORTS
The board is satisfied that assurance results
in an adequate and effective control
environment and integrity of reports for
better decision-making.
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See page 59 of the annual
integrated report for information
on assurance contained in the
audit and risk committee’s report.

50

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME FOUR:
TRUST, GOOD REPUTATION AND
LEGITIMACY
16. IN THE EXECUTION OF ITS
GOVERNANCE ROLE AND
RESPONSIBILITIES, THE BOARD
ADOPTS A STAKEHOLDER-INCLUSIVE
APPROACH THAT BALANCES THE
NEEDS, INTERESTS AND
EXPECTATIONS OF MATERIAL
STAKEHOLDERS IN THE BEST
INTERESTS OF RMH OVER TIME
RMH has identified its stakeholder groups
and actively balances their legitimate and
reasonable needs, interests and
expectations.
See page 12 of the annual
integrated report for information
on stakeholder relationship
and engagements.

17. THE BOARD ENSURES THAT
RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT IS
PRACTICED BY RMH TO PROMOTE
THE GOOD GOVERNANCE AND THE
CREATION OF VALUE BY THE
COMPANIES IN WHICH IT INVESTS
RMH ensures, through active participation
and representation, that it exercises its
rights and obligations with regard to its
investee companies.

ATTENDANCE AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
Attendance at the board and committee meetings was as follows:
ARC

DAGC

IC

NC

SETC

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE

BOARD

DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS
AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION
COMMITTEE

C4 of 4

4 of 4

C4 of 4

2 of 2

1 of 1

Non-executive directors
GT Ferreira (chairman)
Jannie Durand
(appointed deputy
chairman 13 March 2017)

1 of 1

1 of 1

1 of 1

Johan Burger

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Peter Cooper

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Laurie Dippenaar

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Paul Harris

3 of 4

3 of 4

3 of 4

Albertinah Kekana

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Faffa Knoetze
(became alternate on
13 March 2017)

3 of 3

3 of 3

3 of 3

2 of 2

Obakeng Phetwe
(appointed
1 September 2017)
Independent nonexecutive directors
Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa

3 of 4

1 of 2

3 of 4

3 of 4

2 of 2

C 2 of 2

Jan Dreyer

3 of 4

C 2 of 2

3 of 4

3 of 4

1 of 2

2 of 2

Pat Goss

3 of 4

C 3 of 4

3 of 4

C 2 of 2

Per Lagerström

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

2 of 2

Murphy Morobe

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Khehla Shubane

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

2 of 2

Executive director
Herman Bosman
See the
committee’s
report on page

4 of 4

4 of 4
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61

62

63

C = Chairperson
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Eight directors attended the annual general meeting of shareholders, which was held on 24 November 2016.
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DIRECTORS
RMH’S BOARD EPITOMISES
ITS ETHICAL VALUES. THE
MEMBERS ARE HIGHLY
SKILLED AND VASTLY
EXPERIENCED, ENABLING
THEM TO OVERSEE VALUE
CREATION.
KEY

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Appointed 17 September 2012

Directors’ affairs and governance committee

GT was a co-founder of RCI in 1977, which
acquired control of RMB in 1985. When
RMH was founded in 1987, he was
appointed chairman, a position which he
still holds. Following the formation of
FirstRand, he was appointed nonexecutive chairman from 1998 to 2008.

Jannie studied at the University of
Stellenbosch and after obtaining his BAcc
degree in 1989 and BAcc (Hons) degree
in 1990, he obtained his MPhil
(Management Studies) degree from
Oxford in 1992. He qualified as a chartered
accountant in 1995.

Other listed directorships:
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited (chairman)
X Remgro Limited (lead independent)

He joined the Rembrandt Group in 1996.
He became financial director of VenFin
Limited in 2000 and CEO in May 2006.
Jannie was appointed as chief investment
officer of Remgro Limited in November
2009 and CEO from 7 May 2012.

Social, ethics and transformation committee

RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

BAcc (Hons) MPhil (Oxford) CA(SA)

Appointed 12 November 1987

Nominations committee

2017

Jan Jonathan (Jannie) Durand (50)

BCom Hons B (B&A) MBA (chairman)

Audit and risk committee

Investment committee
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Gerrit Thomas (GT) Ferreira (69)

Other listed directorships:
X Capevin Limited
X Distell Group Limited
X FirstRand Limited
X Mediclinic International Limited
X RCL Foods Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited
X Remgro Limited

Hermanus Lambertus (Herman)
Bosman (48)

Patrick Maguire (Pat) Goss (69)
BEcon (Hons) BAccSc (Hons) CA(SA)

BCom (Law) LLB LLM CFA
CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL DIRECTOR

LEAD INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Other listed directorships:
X Discovery Limited
X FirstRand Limited
X Hastings Group Holdings plc
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited (chief executive)

LLB (Hons) LSE MA (McGill) SFA (UK)
Executive Leadership Programme
(Harvard)
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed 2 April 2014
Herman was with RMB for 12 years and
headed up its corporate finance practice
between 2000 and 2006. He returned to
the group in 2014 after serving as chief
executive of Deutsche Bank South Africa
from 2006 to 2013.

Sonja Emilia Ncumisa (Sonja)
De Bruyn Sebotsa (45)

Appointed 12 November 1987
Appointed 15 February 2008
Pat, after graduating from the University
of Stellenbosch, served as president
of the Association of Economics and
Commerce Students, representing
South Africa at The Hague and Basel.
He qualified as a chartered accountant
with Ernst and Young and subsequently
joined the Industrial Development
Corporation. Most of his active career
was spent in food retailing and the
hospitality industry.
He has served as a director of various
group companies for the past 35 years.
A former chairman of the Natal Parks
Board, his family interests include Umngazi
River Bungalows and certain other
conservation-related activities.
Other listed directorships:
X FirstRand Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited (lead independent)
(chairman)

Sonja is a principal partner of Identity
Partners, an investment firm which holds
equity investments, carries out advisory
work and facilitates finance for SMEs by
the Identity Development Fund. Sonja’s
areas of study included law, business and
economics. This served her well as vice
president of Mergers and Acquisitions and
Corporate Finance of the investment
banking division of Deutsche Bank. She
played an integral part in WDB Investment
Holdings participating in FirstRand’s B-BBEE
transactions.
Other listed directorships:
X Discovery Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited
X Remgro Limited
(chairperson)

(chairman)

53

04
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Jan Willem (Jan) Dreyer (66)

Per-Erik (Per) Lagerström (53)

Mafison Murphy (Murphy) Morobe (60)

BCom LLB HDip Co Law HDip Tax

BCom Hons B (B&A) MBA

Diploma in Project Management MCEF
(Princeton)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed 19 October 1987

Appointed 30 June 2014

Jan was a partner at Hofmeyr, Van der
Merwe and Botha from 1978 and
chairman of the firm from 1993 until 1999.
He joined the board of RMB in 1984 and
RMH on formation. In 2000 he joined the
Rembrandt group as an executive director.
At the time of the split of Remgro and
VenFin, he became non-executive director
of both companies. He was re-appointed
as an executive director of Remgro in
2008. Mr Dreyer retired from Remgro in
2013.

Per is the co-founder of the SQN-WAY
group, specialists in big data solutions for
human capital. He was previously a
partner at McKinsey & Company, where
he headed up the Financial Services
Sector and the Organisation Practice.

Other listed directorships:
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited
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(chairman)

KEY
Audit and risk committee
Directors’ affairs and governance committee
Investment committee
Nominations committee
Social, ethics and transformation committee
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Other listed directorships:
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited

Appointed 1 August 2014
After finishing a seven-year stint as CEO
of Kagiso Media Limited, Murphy assumed
the role of Chairman and National
Director of the Programme to Improve
Learner Outcomes (PILO) in 2013. PILO is
currently a lead service provider to the
National Education Collaboration Trust. A
committed social and development
activist, Murphy has, since his release from
Robben Island in 1982, continued to
involve himself with various social causes,
mainly relating to youth development,
environment and conservation.
Other listed directorships:
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited
X Remgro Limited

Khehla Cleopas (Khehla) Shubane (61)

Johan Petrus (Johan) Burger (58)

Peter Cooper (61)

BA (Hons) MBA

BCom (Hons) CA(SA)

BCom (Hons) CA(SA) HDip Tax

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed 8 December 2010

Appointed 30 June 2014

Appointed 11 September 2014

Khehla served various political
organisations after incarceration on
Robben Island for political activism. He is
an author and has co-authored several
political publications.

Johan joined RMB in 1986, where he
performed a number of roles before being
appointed financial director in 1995.
Following the formation of FirstRand
Limited in 1998, he was appointed
financial director of the FirstRand banking
group and in 2002 was appointed CFO of
the FirstRand group. In addition to his role
as group CFO, Johan was appointed
as group COO in 2009 and deputy CEO
in October 2013. He was appointed
as CEO in October 2016.

Peter graduated from the University
of Cape Town. After qualifying as a
chartered accountant in 1981 he worked
in the financial services sector, first as a
tax consultant and later specialising in
structured finance. Peter joined the RMB
special projects division in 1992 and
transferred to RMH in 1997. He is the
immediate past chief executive of RMH
as well as of its sister company, RMI.

Other listed directorships:
X MMI Holdings Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited

Other listed directorships:
X FirstRand Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited

Other listed directorships:
X Imperial Holdings Limited
X MMI Holdings Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited
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Lauritz Lanser (Laurie) Dippenaar (68)

Paul Kenneth (Paul) Harris (67)

Albertinah Kekana (44)

MCom CA(SA)

MCom

BCom (Hons) CA(SA) Advanced
Management Programme (Harvard)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed 12 November 1987

Appointed 12 November 1987

Laurie was co-founder of RCI in 1977. He
became an executive director of RMB in
1985 and managing director of RMB in
1988, a position he held until 1992, when
RMH acquired a controlling interest in
Momentum. He served as executive
chairman of Momentum from 1992 until
the formation of FirstRand in 1998. He was
appointed as the first chief executive of
FirstRand and held this position until the
end of 2005, when he assumed a
non-executive role. He has been chairman
of FirstRand since November 2008.

Paul was a co-founder of RCI in 1977 and
he became an executive director of RMB
in 1985. He spent four years in Australia,
where he founded Australian Gilt Securities
(later becoming RMB Australia) and
returned to South Africa in 1991 as deputy
managing director of RMB. In 1992 he took
over as chief executive. Subsequent to the
formation of FirstRand, he was appointed
as chief executive of FirstRand Bank
Holdings in 1999, a position he held until
December 2005, when he was appointed
as chief executive of FirstRand. He retired
from his executive position at the end of
December 2009.
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Other listed directorships:
X FirstRand Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited

KEY
Audit and risk committee
Directors’ affairs and governance committee
Investment committee
Nominations committee
Social, ethics and transformation committee
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Appointed 6 February 2013

Other listed directorships:
X FirstRand Limited,
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited
X Remgro Limited

Albertinah Kekana is the CEO of Royal
Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited. She
has extensive asset management,
investment banking and business
leadership experience. She was previously
the COO of the Public Investment
Corporation.
Other listed directorships:
X Impala Platinum Holdings Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited

Obakeng Phetwe (39)

Francois (Faffa) Knoetze (54)

David Ronald (David) Wilson (47)

BCom (Hons) CA(SA)

BCom (Hons) FIA

BCom Diploma in Accounting (UCT)
CA(SA)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ALTERNATE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Appointed 6 February 2013

Appointed 1 April 2016

Obakeng is the CEO of the Royal
Bafokeng Nation Development Trust, which
holds all the commercial assets on behalf
of the Royal Bafokeng Nation.

Faffa graduated from the University of
Stellenbosch in 1984 and became a fellow
of the Actuarial Society of South Africa
in 1992.

Other listed directorships:

After starting his actuarial career at
Sanlam as a marketing actuary in the life
business, he spent most of his working
career at Alexander Forbes, where he was
the valuator and consulting actuary to a
number of pension and provident funds.
He joined Remgro on 2 December 2013
and focuses on the company’s interests
in the financial services (insurance
and banking) and sports industries.

X Rand Merchant Investment

Holdings Limited

Other listed directorships:
X FirstRand Limited
X Rand Merchant Investment Holdings
Limited (alternate)

Appointed: 1 September 2017
David is a chartered accountant by
profession and is currently employed by
Royal Bafokeng Holdings (RBH) as head of
portfolio. He is a director of Royal Bafokeng
Platinum Limited, representing RBH. Prior to
joining RBH, he was a director and head of
mergers and acquisitions for sub-Saharan
Africa at Deutsche Bank, South Africa.
Before joining Deutsche Bank in 2004, he
was an associate director, corporate
finance at HSBC, South Africa and vicepresident, corporate finance at ING
Barings, South Africa.
Other listed directorships:
X Rand Merchant Investment
Holdings Limited (alternate)
X Royal Bafokeng Platinum Limited
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AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is the guardian of the
following form of capital:

FINANCIAL

THE AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE HAS PLEASURE
IN SUBMITTING THIS
REPORT, AS REQUIRED IN
TERMS OF THE COMPANIES
ACT OF SOUTH AFRICA
(COMPANIES ACT).
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

58

The audit and risk committee is an
independent statutory committee and
consists of three non-executive directors
who act independently as described in
section 94 of the Companies Act. Its
members comprise the chairman,
Jan Dreyer BCom LLB HDip Co Law HDip
Tax, Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa LLB (Hons)
LSE MA (McGill) SFA and Per Lagerström
BSc (Accounting) MSc (Economics)
(London School of Economics).
The chairman is an independent,
non-executive director and attends the
annual general meeting.
The committee meets at least twice a
year or at the request of the chairman,
any member of the committee, the board
or the auditor. Comprehensive minutes of
meetings are kept. The chief executive/
financial director attends the meetings.
The committee invites, at its discretion, the
appropriate representatives of the
external auditor, other professional

advisors, officers or members of staff
whose input may be required. Board
members have the right of attendance.
The chairman may excuse from the
meeting or from any item on the agenda
any of the attendees at a meeting who
may be considered to have a conflict of
interest.
During the year under review, two
meetings were held. At the meetings, the
members fulfilled all their functions as
prescribed by the Companies Act, the JSE
Listings Requirements and its charter, which
is updated annually and approved by
the board.
Attendance and membership
of the committee are reflected
in the table on page 51.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
At the meetings, the members fulfilled all
their functions as prescribed by section 94 (7)
of the Companies Act and its charter. The
committee’s objectives are to assist the
board of directors in fulfilling its fiduciary
duties with regard to:
X the safeguarding of the group’s assets;
X the financial reporting process;
X the system of internal control;
X the management of financial and
X
X

X
X

X
X

non-financial risks;
the audit process and approval of
non-audit services;
the group’s process for monitoring
compliance with the laws and
regulations applicable to it;
the group’s compliance with the
corporate governance practices;
review of the annual integrated report
including key audit matters outlined in
the auditor’s report;
the business conduct of the group and
its officials;
ensuring that the accounting policies
applied are consistent, appropriate and
in compliance with IFRS; and

X the appointment of the external auditor

and the evaluation of their services and
independence.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS INTRODUCED
BY KING IV
King IV recommends that the audit
committee discloses the date of the first
appointment of the external auditor and
the date of the appointment of the
predecessor firm. King IV recommends that
the audit committee be responsible for the
auditor independence oversight as
recommended by the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors. The audit
committee would have to apply the
independence test of the external auditor
annually to ensure the reporting is reliable,
transparent and a fair representation for
the use of stakeholders. Audit committees
are encouraged to adopt the mandatory
audit firm rotation voluntarily that may
affect organisations with international
operations. All these matters are dealt with
below.
Audit quality is enhanced by the audit
committee reporting on significant audit
matters arising from the audit and how the
matters were addressed.
See page 76 for an analysis of the
significant audit matters which
arose during the audit and how
they were addressed.
King IV introduces the term “risk and
opportunity governance.” The board is
encouraged to not take excessive risks
that may lead to organisational failure
and to consider both negative and
positive potential governance outcomes
in its risk management. The board sets the
risk tolerance levels relevant to the
strategy and objectives.
King IV recommends organisations to
pro-actively engage with regulators,
legislators and industry associations to

understand the compliance and
regulatory universe as well as build
relationships of trust.
King IV expands on the King III combined
assurance model to include “five lines of
assurance” to incorporate all assurance
providers to enable an effective control
environment to strengthen decisionmaking. Horizontal assurance includes
internal audit, risk and compliance whilst
vertical assurance includes line managers,
frameworks, policies, procedures and
system controls. Internal audit remains a
pivotal part of governance relating to
assurance and King IV therefore expects
the board to apply its mind to the
assurance standards expected from
internal auditors.

THE FINANCE FUNCTION
The committee considered and satisfied
itself of the appropriateness of the
expertise and adequacy of resources of
the finance function. The committee
reviewed the performance,
appropriateness and expertise of the
financial director, Herman Bosman, and
the company secretary, Ellen Marais, and
confirms that they are suitable as financial
director and company secretary
respectively in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements.

EFFECTIVENESS OF COMPANY’S
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The committee reports to the board that it
is of the opinion that, based on enquiries
made and the reports from the internal
and external auditors, the risk
management processes and systems of
internal control of the company and its
investments were effective for the year
under review. No material weaknesses in
financial control of the company and its
subsidiaries were reported for the year
under review.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE
EXTERNAL AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was
re-appointed as auditor of the company
until the next annual general meeting.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been
the auditor of RMH for 30 years.
Prior to the formation of RMH,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. were the
sole auditor of RCI Limited for 10 years.
The committee believes that the auditor
has observed the highest level of business
and professional ethics. The committee is
satisfied that the auditor has at all times
acted with unimpaired independence.
Details of fees paid to the external
auditor are disclosed in note 16 to
the annual financial statements
on page 104. All non-audit
services were approved by the
committee before engagement
during the current financial year.
The partner responsible for the audit is
required to rotate every five years. The
committee meets with the auditor
independently of senior management.

INTEGRATED ASSURANCE
The board does not only rely on the
adequacy of the internal control
embedment process, but considers reports
on the effectiveness of risk management
activities. The audit and risk committee
ensures that the assurance functions of
management as well as internal and
external audit are sufficiently integrated.
The various assurance providers to the
board comprise the following:
X senior management considers the

company’s risk strategy and policy,
along with the effectiveness and
efficiency thereof; and
X the audit and risk committee considers
the adequacy of risk management
strategies, systems of internal control, risk
profiles, legal compliance, internal and
external audit reports and also reviews
the independence of the auditor, the

extent and nature of audit
engagements, scope of work and
findings. This committee also reviews the
level of disclosure in the annual financial
statements and the appropriateness of
accounting policies adopted by
management, the ethics register and
other loss incidents reported. The board
reviews the performance of the audit
and risk committee against its charter.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The company outsources its internal audit
function to Remgro Management Services
Limited. Internal audit is an effective
independent appraisal function and
employs a risk-based audit approach. The
head of internal audit has direct access to
the chairman of the audit and risk
committee, as well as to the chairman of
the board.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The company’s external auditor attends all
audit and risk committee meetings and
the annual general meeting of
shareholders and has direct access to the
chairman of the audit and risk committee
and the chairman of the board. The
external audit scope of work is adequately
integrated with the internal audit function
without restricting the scope.
The audit and risk committee is of the
opinion that, based on enquiries made
and the reports from the internal and
external auditors, the risk management
processes and systems of internal control
of the company and its subsidiaries were
effective for the year under review. The
audit and risk committee has also satisfied
itself that there are effective audit
committees functioning at the company’s
associates.

Jan Dreyer
Chairman of the audit and risk committee
8 September 2017
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DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is the guardian of the
following forms of capital:

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee’s primary objectives are
to assist the board in discharging its
responsibilities relative to:

chairman any concerns that they might
have in respect of the performance and
conduct of their peers. The performance
of the chief executive is also formally
evaluated at least once per year.

X its determination and evaluation of the

HUMAN

INTELLECTUAL

THE DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS
AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE HAS PLEASURE
IN SUBMITTING ITS REPORT:
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DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
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The committee comprises all the
non-executive directors. The committee is
chaired by the lead independent
non-executive director. The committee
meets at least twice annually, with
additional meetings when required at the
request of the board or any committee
member or as often as it deems necessary
to achieve its objectives. Comprehensive
minutes of meetings are kept. The
committee may invite any of the directors,
professional advisors or officers whose
input may be required to the meetings.
The chairman may excuse from the
meeting or from any item on the agenda
any of the attendees at a meeting who
may be considered to have a conflict of
interest, or for confidentiality reasons.
Since all non-executive directors are
members of this committee, matters
relating to the charter of this committee
are normally dealt with as an integral part
of the normal proceedings of the quarterly
board meetings. It is usual for the chief
executive to excuse himself from the
meeting. The committee met four times
during the year.
Attendance and membership of
the committee are reflected in
the table on page 51.

X
X
X

X

adequacy, efficiency and
appropriateness of the corporate
governance structures in the company;
board and board committee structures;
the maintenance of a board
directorship continuity programme;
the self-assessment of the effectiveness
of the board as a whole and the
contribution of each director; and
ensuring that succession plans are
in place for the key positions in the
greater group.

On 1 July 2016, all RMH employees were
transferred to RMI. RMH and RMI entered
into a management service agreement
effective 1 July 2016. As a result, the
committee assumed responsibility for those
tasks that would normally be performed
by a remuneration committee, which are
now limited to the consideration and
recommendation of non-executive
directors’ fees and providing input in the
RMI remuneration policy as per the
management service agreement.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS INTRODUCED
BY KING IV
King IV makes recommendations regarding
which directors should serve on which
committees. For instance, it recommends
that the social and ethics committee should
include executive and non-executive
members, with most members being
non-executive members of the board.

GOVERNANCE EFFECTIVENESS
During the year under review, the board
conducted evaluations to measure its
effectiveness and that of its members. The
evaluations found no material concerns in
respect of the board and board
committee performance. The directors are
aware of the need to convey to the

ETHICS
Upon joining the group, all directors are
obliged to sign a code of ethics. The code
of ethics addresses duties of care and skill,
good faith, honesty and integrity, whistle
blowing, processes for dealing with
conflicts of interest and the need to
always act in the best interests of the
group. The soliciting or acceptance of
payments other than declared
remuneration, gifts and entertainment as
consideration to act or fail to act in a
certain way, is disallowed. The group does
not make political donations.
No issues of improper or unethical
behaviour on the part of any of the
directors were brought to the attention of
the committee during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
ORDINARY SHARES
The directors’ report, on page 73,
contains a table of all directors’
interests in the ordinary shares of
the company.

Pat Goss
Chairman of the directors’ affairs and
governance committee
8 September 2017

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is the guardian of the
following forms of capital:

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee is mandated to consider
and, if appropriate approve:
X new investments up to an amount of

not more than R500 million;
X the extension of existing investments up

FINANCIAL

INTELLECTUAL

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
The investment committee meets on an
ad hoc basis as and when required. The
committee may invite any of the directors,
professional advisors or officers whose
input may be required for the meetings.
Board members have the right of
attendance. The chairman may excuse
from the meeting or from any item on the
agenda any of the attendees at a
meeting who may be considered to have
a conflict of interest, or for confidentiality
reasons. As all the members of the board
are currently members of the investment
committee, matters were addressed as a
subsection of each board meeting.

to an amount of not more than
R500 million;
X the disposal of existing investments up
to an amount of not more than
R300 million; and
X to consider and make
recommendations to the board
regarding investments falling outside the
scope the committee’s mandate.

GT Ferreira
Chairman of the investment committee
8 September 2017

The committee met four times during
the year.
Attendance and membership of
the committee are reflected in
the table on page 51.
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NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is the guardian of the
following forms of capital:

HUMAN

INTELLECTUAL

THE NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE HAS PLEASURE
IN SUBMITTING ITS REPORT:
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
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The committee is made up of three
independent non-executive directors
and three non-executive directors. It is
chaired by the lead independent director
of the board. The committee meets at
least twice annually with additional
meetings when required at the request
of the board or any committee member
or as often as it deems necessary
to achieve its objectives. Comprehensive
minutes of meetings are kept. The
committee may invite any of the directors,
professional advisors or officers whose
input may be required for the meetings.
The chairman may excuse from the
meeting or from any item on the agenda
any of the attendees at a meeting who
may be considered to have a conflict of
interest, or for confidentiality reasons.
Matters relating to the charter of this
committee are normally dealt with as an
integral part of the normal proceedings
of the quarterly board meetings. Only
members of the committee are allowed to
vote on resolutions. The remainder of the
board may attend the meeting. It is usual
for the chief executive to excuse himself
from the meeting. The committee met
twice times during the year.
Attendance and membership of
the committee are reflected in
the table on page 51.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS INTRODUCED
BY KING IV AND THE JSE LISTINGS
REQUIREMENTS
King IV recommends that the board
should comprise of mostly non-executive
members, and that most of them should
be independent. Most of RMH’s directors
(14 of 15) are non-executive but currently
most of them are not independent (only
6 of 14).
The JSE Listings Requirements now include
a disclosure obligation regarding the
implementation of gender diversity at
board level: RMH recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse
board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A
diverse board will include and make good
use of differences in the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race,
gender and other distinctions between
members. These differences will be
considered in determining the optimum
composition of the board and, when
possible, should be balanced
appropriately. All board appointments are
made on merit, in the context of the skills,
experience, independence and
knowledge which RMH and the board
require to be effective in delivering value
to stakeholders.
The nomination committee reviews and
assesses the board composition on its
behalf and recommends the appointment
of new directors. In reviewing board
composition, the committee will consider
the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including gender and race diversity. It also
oversees the conduct of the annual
performance evaluation and assessment
of board effectiveness. The committee will
discuss and agree proposed objectives,
including the setting of voluntary targets,
for achieving diversity on the board and
recommend these targets to the board for
approval and adoption. It will engage the

social, ethics and transformation
committee for guidance and input around
gender and race. The social, ethics and
transformation committee is required to
report on, among others, the promotion of
equality, diversity and the prevention of
unfair discrimination.
The committee will report progress in this
report in future.

NOMINATION, SELECTION AND
APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
The company has a formal and
transparent policy regarding the
appointment of directors to the board.
The nominations committee makes
recommendations to the board on the
appointment of new executive and
non-executive directors. The board, in turn,
proposes approved candidates to the
shareholders for appointment at a
general meeting.
The committee will first consider a
proposed director’s CV and conduct the
necessary interviews and reference
checks to establish the integrity and skills
of the person and to ensure that the
person has not been disqualified from
being a director.
The committee will ensure that all statutory
requirements for the appointment are
complied with and that the new director
is properly briefed on his/her roles and
responsibilities, time commitment,
committee service and involvement
outside board meetings.

Pat Goss
Chairman of the nominations committee
8 September 2017

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is the guardian of the
following forms of capital:

The chairperson of the committee attends
the annual general meeting to answer any
questions that shareholders might have.
Attendance and membership of
the committee are reflected in
the table on page 51.

HUMAN

SOCIAL AND
RELATIONSHIP

THE SOCIAL, ETHICS
AND TRANSFORMATION
COMMITTEE HAS PLEASURE
IN SUBMITTING ITS
REPORT.
The report is prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, with
specific reference to Regulation 43:

SOCIAL, ETHICS AND
TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE
MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS
The committee comprises of three suitably
skilled and experienced members
appointed by the board and consists only
of independent, non-executive directors.
The chairperson is an independent,
non-executive director.
The committee meets at least twice a
year or at the request of the chairperson,
any member of the committee or the
board. Comprehensive minutes of
meetings are kept.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee’s objectives are to assist
the board in monitoring RMH’s
performance as a good and responsible
citizen, which includes the following
X the social and economic development,

including the 10 principles as set out in
the United Nations Global Compact
principles, the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and
Development recommendations
regarding corruption, the Employment
Equity Act, 55 of 1998, and the
Broad-Based Black Economic
Empowerment Act, 53 of 2003;
X good corporate citizenship, including
promotion of equality, prevention of
unfair discrimination and corruption,
contribution to the development of
communities and record of sponsorship,
donations and charitable giving; and
X environment, health and public safety,
including the impact of the company’s
activities; consumer relationships,
including the company’s advertising,
public relations and compliance with
consumer protection laws.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS INTRODUCED
BY KING IV
Social and ethics committees enjoy
prominence in King IV, with the enhanced
focus on ethical governance. King IV
recommends that the social and ethics
committee uphold, monitor and report on
organisational ethics, responsible
corporate citizenship, sustainable
development and stakeholder-inclusivity
beyond mere compliance and towards
actual value creation.
The committee will reassess its composition
to ensure the requisite skills and
experience is present to fulfil the
requirement of the oversight of ethics
management.
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SOCIAL, ETHICS AND TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE REPORT continued

REPORTING FRAMEWORK
RMH
During the previous year the committee formulated a reporting framework. Below is a summary of the framework specific to RMH:
Description in terms of Regulation 43

Action taken during the current year

1

Corporate social responsibility

1.1

Corporate social investment

RMH needs refinement of its strategy and an independent consulting firm has been
appointed to assist management.

2

Black economic empowerment

Performed and reviewed the calculation of RMH’s internal B-BBEE rating. An independent
consulting firm has been appointed to assist RMH in formulating and refining its B-BBEE
strategy. A copy of the B-BBEE 1 report submitted to the B-BBEE commission on
30 September 2017 is available on the RMH website. RMH qualifies as Level 8 contributor.
The rating should be evaluated against the background of the majority of RMH’s income
consisting of dividend income from its underlying portfolio companies (predominantly
FirstRand which is a Level 2 contributor) which is paid out to RMH’s shareholders after
taking into account tax, funding and other holding company costs. RMH has limited
operational capacity at the holding company and therefore a limited expense base. The
income received by RMH has already been subject to B-BBEE requirements and
measurement at the underlying portfolio company level and certain elements of the
scorecard will therefore not be met in a meaningful manner by RMH.

3

Employment equity transformation

RMH is committed to gender and race diversification at all levels.

4

Environmental and social risk
governance

As an investment holding company environmental and social risk are mainly driven by its
investee companies. RMH’s role is more of an overseer than a participant. The committee
reviewed the environmental and social risk governance framework of investees.

(incorporates Global Compact
principles on human rights, labour
practices and the natural environment
– green buildings; energy, waste and
water management)
5

Governance reporting

Provided feedback to the RMH board after each meeting and for the annual integrated
report.

FIRSTRAND
A summary is provided below of FirstRand’s performance in terms of the RMH reporting framework:
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Action taken during the current year

1

Corporate social responsibility

1.1

Corporate social investment

FirstRand’s total CSI spend amounted to R354 million. R285 million was spent on initiatives
with an education focus and R69 million on initiatives with a community development
focus.

1.2

Employee educational development

During the current year, FirstRand spent R810 million on skills development for its employee
base, of which 73% was spent on the development of ACI employees.

2

Black economic empowerment

FirstRand maintained its Level 2 B-BBEE status under the 2012 gazetted Financial Sector
Charter (FSC).

3

Employment equity transformation

Approximately 76% of FirstRand’s South African workforce consists of ACI employees. While
significant progress has been made at junior levels, further improvement is required with
only 33% ACI representation at top management level. Approximately 61% of the
workforce is female.

4

Culture risk

Culture risk assessments are conducted on a continuous basis. Findings are
communicated and acted upon by management.

2017
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Description in terms of Regulation 43

Description in terms of Regulation 43

Action taken during the current year

5

Carbon emissions decreased by 8% to 258 878 tonnes.

Environmental and social risk
governance
(incorporates Global Compact
principles on human rights, labour
practices and the natural environment
– green buildings; energy, waste and
water management)

Significant progress was made to embed Equator Principles and environmental and risk
assessment (ESRA) in the rest of Africa.
The group energy management guideline was implemented with the focus being on
efficiencies and accuracy of data and pricing. This process reduced electricity costs
considerably.
Occupational health and safety received added focus and 66 occupational health and
safety representatives were identified across the group.
FirstRand has ESRA and eco-footprint programmes, which allow the group to satisfy
development finance covenants for general and specific capital funding with a green
and socially responsible theme. Several pilot projects were developed and funding
opportunities were assessed during the year, with focus on renewable energy and the
financing of SMEs.

6

Business conduct – standards for
employees
(incorporates Global Compact and
OECD principles on anti-bribery and
corruption, whistle-blowing, gifts
declarations, personal account trading
rules, and conflict of interest
management)

7

Market conduct – standards
for the market
(incorporates consumer protection
– treating clients fairly and anti-trust
measures

8

Governance reporting

43 661 employees enrolled for anti-bribery and anti-corruption training.
Approximately R1 million was awarded through the Leading Light reward programme that
incentivises and rewards employees who demonstrate vigilance in assisting the group to
detect and prevent theft, fraud and corruption.
93% of suppliers signed the FirstRand supplier code of conduct by year-end.

FirstRand reviewed market conduct maturity and associated platform developments.
Fair market conduct training and awareness campaigns, including consumer education
training initiatives received heightened focus.

The FirstRand social and ethics committee, together with the audit committee, is
responsible for reviewing and approving the non-financial content included in the annual
integrated report and published on the group website, as well as determining and
making recommendations on the need for external assurance of the group’s public
reporting on its sustainable performance. The chairman attends the annual general
meeting and feedback is provided at every board meeting.

RMH PROPERTY
RMH takes cognisance of the fact that the investee companies of RMH Property are at different maturity levels. The social and ethics
committees of some of these companies were recently established and some do not have a separate, designated committee given the
small size of the operation. RMH’s reporting framework was shared with these entities.
RMH will monitor the progress and report back to shareholders in the next annual integrated report.
Atterbury, the more mature property business, launched the Atterbury Trust in 1998 to support previously disadvantaged communities and
advance arts and culture. Nearly 600 students from all over South Africa have received bursaries since 1999. The nearly 300 students who
have successfully completed their studies already are currently contributing to the South African economy as engineers, auditors, teachers,
lawyers and in many other professional fields.

Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa
Chairperson of the social, ethics and transformation committee
8 September 2017
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
The directors of RMB Holdings Limited

within a clearly defined framework,

(RMH) are required by the Companies Act,

effective accounting procedures and

71 of 2008, to prepare consolidated and

adequate segregation of duties to ensure

separate annual financial statements.

an acceptable level of risk. The focus of risk

In discharging this responsibility, the

management in the group is on identifying,

directors rely on management to prepare

assessing, managing and monitoring all

the consolidated and separate annual

known forms of risk across the group.

financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and for keeping adequate
accounting records in accordance with
the group’s system of internal control.
As such, the annual financial statements
include amounts based on judgments and
estimates made by management.

of the directors to indicate that the internal
controls are inadequate and that the
financial records may not be relied on in
preparing the consolidated and separate
annual financial statements in accordance
with IFRS and maintaining accountability
for the group’s assets and liabilities.

have been applied and reasonable

Nothing has come to the attention of the

estimates have been made by

directors to indicate any breakdown in the

management. The directors approve

functioning of internal controls, resulting in

changes to accounting policies. However,

a material loss to the group, during the

there were no changes to accounting

year and up to the date of this report.

policies during the financial year. The

Based on the effective internal controls

financial statements incorporate full

implemented by management, the

and appropriate disclosure in line

directors are satisfied that the consolidated

with the group’s philosophy on

and separate annual financial statements

corporate governance.

fairly present the state of affairs of the

enable the directors to meet these
responsibilities, the directors set the
standards for internal control to reduce
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auditor, nothing has come to the attention

statements, suitable accounting policies

group’s system of internal control. To
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given by management and the internal

In preparing the annual financial

The directors are responsible for the

68

Based on the information and explanations

group and company at the end of the

company’s ability to continue as a
going concern in the light of current
and anticipated economic conditions.
The directors have reviewed the
assumptions underlying these budgets
and forecasts, based on currently available
information. On the basis of this review and
in the light of the current financial position
and profitable trading history, the directors
are satisfied that the group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future. The going concern
basis therefore continues to apply and has
been adopted in the preparation of
the annual financial statements.
It is the responsibility of the group’s
independent external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., to give
an opinion on the fair presentation of the
annual financial statements.
Their unqualified report appears
on page 74.
The consolidated and separate annual
financial statements, which appear on
pages 69 to 125, were approved by the
board of directors on 8 September 2017
and are signed on its behalf by:

financial year and the net income and
cash flows for the year. Herman Bosman
LLM, CFA supervised the preparation of
the financial statements for the year.

the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective

The directors have reviewed the group

manner. The standards include the

and company’s budget and flow of funds

appropriate delegation of responsibilities

forecast and considered the group and

GT Ferreira
Chairman
8 September 2017

Herman Bosman
Chief executive

DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY
SECRETARY
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a
public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Ellen Marais
Company secretary
8 September 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
NATURE OF BUSINESS
RMH’s primary interest for 2017 was its
34.1% investment in FirstRand, one of South
Africa’s pre-eminent banking groups. In
May 2016 RMH announced that it was
expanding its strategy to include a
property investment business. This new
strategy meets our stated objective of
creating shareholder value and further
diversifies RMH’s earnings base so that RMH
will invest across the breadth of the
property value chain. In line with RMH’s
history and ethos, the focus will be on
entrepreneurial and owner-managed
businesses. The strategy will involve
investing in physical property portfolios as
well as vertically integrated property
companies, specifically with internal
management teams that offer asset
management, development management
and property management skills. In
execution of this strategy, three investments
were made:

CORE PORTFOLIO
% held
Atterbury

Office, retail and industrial
property

27.5

Date acquired
July 2016

SPECIALIST PORTFOLIO
% held

Date acquired

Propertuity

Urban renewal business

34

November 2016

Genesis Properties

Mezzanine debt and equity
funding business

40

December
2016

Further details regarding the investment are provided in note 5 to the annual
financial statements on page 96.

INTERNAL GROUP RESTRUCTURE
RMH has changed from being a passive investment holding company to becoming more
active and consider select diversification and investment opportunities as discussed above.
This change in strategy required an evaluation of the existing corporate structure; more
specifically the investment processes and the capital and funding structures:
X The operational structure of RMH was benchmarked to those of other investment holding

companies with similar strategies. The aim was to ensure that the structure was optimal
and that unnecessary delays in the investment process were reduced or eliminated; and
X RMH could approach the capital markets to raise funds for its various investment activities.
An optimal corporate structure would enable RMH to obtain the best funding rates,
comply with market precedent and maintain a high standard of corporate governance.
After careful deliberation and bearing the objectives (set out above) in mind, it was
decided that the current structure could be improved and a decision was made to
internally restructure the RMH group.
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It was proposed to restructure the RMH
group by means of:
X The establishment of a wholly-owned

treasury company, namely RMH Treasury
Company Proprietary Limited, for
purposes of raising funds for investment
activities; and
X The establishment of a wholly-owned
investment holding company, namely
RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary
Limited, for purposes of housing RMH’s
equity investments, including RMH’s
current direct interest of 34.1 per cent in
FirstRand’s issued share capital and the
existing and planned property
investments, in ring-fenced holding
companies.
The new group structure was achieved
by means of implementation of various
asset-for-share transactions, in terms of
section 42 of the Income Tax Act, 58 of
1962 and at fair value for accounting
purposes. The process was completed
on 12 June 2017.
The restructure did not result in any
accounting profit and had no
economic substance.

ORDINARY SHARES
There was no change in the authorised ordinary share capital during the year and no
ordinary shares were issued during the year.
At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the company, held on 24 November
2016, a special resolution was passed authorising the board of the company or the board
of a subsidiary of the company to approve the purchase of shares in RMH during the period
up to and including the date of the following annual general meeting. The repurchase is
limited in any one financial year to a cumulative maximum of 5% of the company’s issued
share capital. This resolution is subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements. No shares were purchased in the current or previous year.

PREFERENCE SHARES
During the current year, the existing issued fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference
shares were rolled for a further 3 years and 1 day at a variable interest rate. Details are
disclosed in note 11.

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
Based on information disclosed by STRATE and investigations conducted on behalf of the
company, the following shareholders have an interest of 5% or more in the issued ordinary
share capital of the company at 30 June:
%
Financial Securities Limited (Remgro)
Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited (Royal Bafokeng)
Public Investment Corporation (PIC)
LL Dippenaar

2017

2016

28
15
8
5

28
15
8
5
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Details of the company’s
authorised share capital as at
30 June 2017 are shown in note 7
to the annual financial statements.

GROUP RESULTS
A general review of the financial results of the group and the operations of its
major investments is provided in the chief executive’s review on pages 22 to 25
and the review of operations on pages 27 to 29 of this annual integrated report.

DIVIDENDS
The following ordinary dividends were declared by RMH during the year under review:
X An interim gross dividend for the six-month period ended 31 December 2016 of 153.0

cents (2016: 142.0 cents) per ordinary share, declared on 10 March 2017 and paid on
3 April 2017.
X A final gross dividend for the year ended 30 June 2017 of 174.0 cents (2016: 153.0 cents)
per ordinary share, declared on 8 September 2017, payable on 9 October 2017.
The last day to trade in RMH shares on a cum-dividend basis in respect of the final dividend
will be Tuesday, 3 October 2017, while the first day to trade ex-dividend will be Wednesday,
4 October 2017. The record date will be Friday, 6 October 2017 and the payment date
Monday, 9 October 2017.
No dematerialisation or rematerialisation of shares may be done during the period
Wednesday, 4 October 2017 to Friday, 6 October 2017, both days inclusive.

70

DIRECTORATE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN RMH

The directorate consists of:

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
During the financial year, no contracts
were entered into in which directors or
officers of the company had an interest
and which significantly affected the
business of the group. The directors had no
interest in any third party or company
responsible for managing any of the
business activities of the group, except to
the extent that they are shareholders in
RMH, as disclosed in this report. Arm’s
length banking and assurance transactions
entered into by the company’s directors
with the group’s associate are disclosed in
note 20 to the annual financial statements.

GT Ferreira (chairman)
Jannie Durand (deputy chairman)
Herman Bosman (chief executive)
Johan Burger
Peter Cooper
Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa
Laurie Dippenaar
Jan Dreyer
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertinah Kekana
Per Lagerström
Murphy Morobe
Obakeng Phetwe
Khehla Shubane
ALTERNATE DIRECTORS:
Faffa Knoetze
David Wilson
Changes: Effective 13 March 2017 Jannie
Durand was appointed deputy chairman
of RMH and full director. Faffa Knoetze
became an alternate director to Jannie
Durand on the same day. Effective
1 September 2017 David Wilson was
appointed as alternate director to
Albertinah Kekana. Effective the same day
Obakeng Phetwe became a nonexecutive director and will no longer serve
as alternate to Albertinah Kekana.

INFORMATION ABOUT DIRECTORS’
SERVICE CONTRACTS
All eligible, non-executive directors are
elected for a period of three years. All
executives and prescribed officers have a
notice period of one month. Directors and
prescribed officers are not entitled to
additional compensation in the event of
being removed from office.

INSURANCE
RMH has appropriate insurance cover
against crime risks as well as professional
indemnity.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND
REGISTERED OFFICES
Ellen Marais is the company secretary. The
address of the company secretary is that
of the company’s registered office. The
company’s registered office is at:
3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner Fredman
Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
A full list of the special resolutions passed
by the company during the year is
available to shareholders on request.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT
TO REPORTING DATE
Other than the final dividend declaration,
between the accounting date and the
date of this report, there were no
reportable subsequent events.
The consolidated and separate annual
financial statements were approved and
signed by the chairman and chief
executive on 8 September 2017, having
been duly authorised to do so by the
board of directors.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
PARTICIPATION IN INCENTIVE
SCHEMES
Directors’ emoluments and participation in
incentive schemes are disclosed below.
Increases are determined in accordance
with the remuneration policy.
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DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICER EMOLUMENTS (AUDITED)
Services
as director

For other
services

Cash
packages

Executive and prescribed officer
Herman Bosman – charged by RMI

–

–

2 244

Non-executive
GT Ferreira (chairman)
Jannie Durand (deputy chairman)2
Johan Burger3
Peter Cooper
L Crouse retired (31 March 2016)2
Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa
Laurie Dippenaar
Jan Dreyer
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertinah Kekana4
Per Lagerström
Murphy Morobe
Khehla Shubane
Faffa Knoetze (alternate)

314
50
158
158
–
213
158
249
158
158
158
209
158
158
109

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

2 408

–

R’000

TOTAL

Other
benefits1

Performancerelated

Total
2017

Total
2016

306

–

2 550

2 893

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

314
50
158
158
–
213
158
249
158
158
158
209
158
158
109

296
5
149
149
111
202
149
233
154
149
133
196
149
149
38

2 244

306

–

4 958

5 155

Notes:
1. Other benefits comprise provident fund, pension fund and medical aid contributions. The pension and provident fund contribution amounted to R234 thousand
(2016: R273 thousand).
2. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Jannie Durand, Leon Crouse and Faffa Knoetze were paid to the Remgro group.
3. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Johan Burger were paid to FirstRand Limited.
4. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Albertinah Kekana were paid to Royal Bafokeng Holdings Limited.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS PAID BY ASSOCIATE (AUDITED)
Total
2017

Total
2016

Non-executive
Johan Burger1
Peter Cooper
Laurie Dippenaar
Jannie Durand2
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Faffa Knoetze2

35 540
155
5 566
837
2 399
598
1 692

33 947
374
5 286
744
2 351
565
342

TOTAL

46 787

43 609
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R’000

72

Notes
1. This amount includes Johan Burger’s total earnings for the year from FirstRand Limited as an executive director.
2. Directors’ fees for serviced rendered by Jannie Durand and Faffa Knoetze were paid to the Remgro group.

DIRECTORS’ PARTICIPATION IN RMH SHARE SCHEMES (AUDITED)

RMH share
appreciation rights
P Cooper

HL Bosman

Share

Strike
price
(cents)

RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH
RMH

3 582
3 582
3 582
4 341
4 341
4 341
4 781
4 781
4 781
6 395
6 395
6 395
6 039
6 039
6 039

Exercise
date

Opening
balance
as at
1 July
2016

Issued
000’s

Forfeited
000’s

14/09/2015
14/09/2016
14/09/2017
14/09/2016
14/09/2017
14/09/2018
02/04/2017
02/04/2018
02/04/2019
14/09/2018
14/09/2019
14/09/2020
14/09/2019
14/09/2020
14/09/2021

275
275
275
73
73
72
126
126
126
6
6
6
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
40
40
40

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Exercised
000’s

Closing
balance
as at
30 June
2017

Benefit
derived
R’000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

275
275
275
73
73
72
126
126
126
6
6
6
40
40
40

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN ORDINARY SHARES OF RMH
According to the register of directors’ interests maintained by the company in accordance with section 30(4)(d) of the Companies Act, the
directors have disclosed the following interests in the ordinary shares of RMH at 30 June:
Since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, the interests of directors remained unchanged.
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN ORDINARY SHARES (AUDITED)
000’s
Executive
Herman Bosman

Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

Held by
associates

Total
2017

%

Total
2016

–

–

–

–

–

–

Non-executive
GT Ferreira (chairman)
Jannie Durand (deputy chairman)
Johan Burger
Peter Cooper
Leon Crouse (retired 31 March 2016)
Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa
Laurie Dippenaar
Jan Dreyer
Pat Goss
Paul Harris
Albertinah Kekana
Per Lagerström
Khehla Shubane
Faffa Knoetze (alternate)
Obakeng Phetwe

149
–
–
750
–
–
–
1
–
–
–
–
2
–
–

–
–
1 234
–
–
–
75 096
–
12 120
7 000
–
–
3
–
–

39 889
–
–
3 061
–
–
233
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

40 038
–
1 234
3 811
–
–
75 329
1
12 120
7 000
–
–
5
–
–

2. 84
–
0. 09
0. 27
–
–
5. 34
–
0. 86
0. 50
–
–
–
–
–

40 038
–
1 234
3 811
–
–
75 329
1
12 120
7 000
–
–
5
–
–

TOTAL

902

95 453

43 183

139 538

9. 90

139 538
73

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RMH
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated and
separate financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated
and separate financial position of RMH
and its subsidiaries (together the group) as
at 30 June 2017, and its consolidated and
separate financial performance and its
consolidated and separate cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies
Act of South Africa.
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What we have audited
X RMH consolidated and separate
financial statements set out on
pages 80 to 125 comprise:
X the consolidated and separate
statements of financial position as at
30 June 2017;
X the consolidated and separate income
statements for the year then ended;
X the consolidated and separate
statements of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;
X the consolidated and separate
statements of changes in equity for the
year then ended;
X the consolidated and separate
statements of cash flows for the year
then ended; and
X the notes to the financial statements,
which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board
for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA
Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits
in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).
OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Overview

Materiality

Audit
scope

Overall group materiality
Overall group materiality: R400 million, which represents 5%
of consolidated profit before tax
Group audit scope
The components that are in scope include the significant
components of the group. The main indicators used to identify
significant components are revenue and profit before tax.
Key audit matters
X Equity accounted earnings of FirstRand Limited

Key audit
matters

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated and separate financial statements. In particular, we
considered where the directors made subjective judgments; for example, in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future
events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of
management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration
of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgment, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality, including the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements
as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations,
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our
audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Overall group materiality

R400 million

How we determined it

5% of consolidated profit before tax

Rationale for the
materiality benchmark
applied

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in
our view, it is the benchmark against which the performance
of the group is most commonly measured by users, and is a
generally accepted benchmark. We chose 5% which is
consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds used for
profit-oriented companies in this sector.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the
structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the
group operates.
We conducted an audit of all significant subsidiaries and associates of the group as set out
above. For the work performed by local auditors within PwC South Africa and, for selected
subsidiaries, by auditors not part of the PwC network operating under our instruction, we
issued group instructions and performed cross reviews on their audit working papers on an
ongoing basis. We determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit
work of those component teams to be satisfied that sufficient audit evidence had been
obtained for the purposes of our opinion. We kept regular communication with audit teams
throughout the audit and appropriately directed their audits.
Further audit procedures were performed by the group engagement team, including
analytical review procedures over the remaining balances and substantive procedures over
the consolidation process. The work carried out at the component levels, together with
these additional procedures performed at the group level, provided us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion on the group as a whole.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

75

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued

The following key audit matter relates to the consolidated financial statements. We have determined that there are no key audit matters in
respect of the separate financial statements of RMH to communicate in our report.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS RELEVANT TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

EQUITY ACCOUNTED EARNINGS OF
FIRSTRAND LIMITED

We obtained the audited financial results of FirstRand, evaluated the consistency
of its accounting policies with those of the group and compared them to the equity
accounted results and movements recorded in the consolidated financial
statements. We found no exceptions.

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 96 to 99.
The group accounts for its investments in
associates under the equity method. The
group has 34.1% ownership interest in its most
significant associate, FirstRand Limited
(FirstRand). The group’s share of the after-tax
profits of FirstRand for the year ended 30 June
2017 was R8 371 million and the group’s share
of FirstRand’s net assets was R37 099 million as
at 30 June 2017.
FirstRand’s equity accounted earnings
contribute significantly to RMB Holdings
Limited’s consolidated financial results. There
is also significant management judgment
involved in the determination of the after-tax
profits of FirstRand, as summarised in the
following section. Due to underlying
complexities in the judgment involved at the
FirstRand level, we treated the equity
accounted earnings of FirstRand as a matter
of most significance to the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the
current financial year.

Due to the significance of the group’s share of the after-tax profits in FirstRand,
we maintained close interaction with the component audit team responsible for
FirstRand. We met with the component audit team and discussed their identified
audit risks and audit approach, examined their working papers and discussed with
them the results of their work. We met with the component audit team and FirstRand
management and evaluated the impact of the key audit matters relating to
FirstRand on the consolidated financial statements.
Together with their reporting to us in accordance with our instructions, we have
determined that the audit work performed and audit evidence obtained were
sufficient for our purpose.
The procedures performed on the respective key audit matters included
the following:
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In the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, the key
audit matters relating to the group’s share of
the profits and net assets of FirstRand are
summarised as follows:
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Valuation of complex financial instruments
which are subject to judgment –
The valuation of FirstRand’s complex financial
instruments requires significant judgment by
FirstRand management where valuation
assumptions are not market observable.
FirstRand’s financial instruments impacted by
subjective assumptions include:
X Advances book carried at fair value;

The audit of the valuation of the fair value advances book, complex derivative
instruments and investment securities subject to subjective assumptions included,
inter alia, the following audit procedures with the assistance of valuation experts:
X tested the design and effectiveness of the relevant financial reporting controls

relating to valuation;
X evaluated the technical and practical appropriateness and accuracy of

valuation methodologies (including key assumptions made and modelling
approaches adopted) applied by FirstRand management with reference
to market practice and consistency with prior periods;

X complex derivative financial instruments

X for selected instruments independently re-performed the valuation; and

(primarily those which are longer dated
and valued with reference to
unobservable assumptions); and
X investment securities valued with reference
to unobservable assumptions which would
primarily be unlisted equities.

X assessed the appropriateness and sensitivity of unobservable market rates,

projected cash flows and valuation adjustments with reference to the best
available independent information.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS RELEVANT TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Impairment of advances –
The impairment of advances is significant
to the FirstRand financial statements, given
the considerable judgment required to
be applied by its management in the
recognition and measurement of credit risk.

The audit of the impairment of advances included, inter alia, the following audit
procedures with the assistance of credit experts:

Corporate advances are typically
individually significant and the calculation
of impairments is inherently judgmental
in nature. The impact of macroeconomic
events, including negative economic
sentiment, global pressure on commodity
prices, depressed oil prices and foreign
exchange volatility result in a challenging
operating environment and may have
an impact on the credit risk of
underlying counterparties.
Retail advances are typically higher volume,
lower value and therefore a significant
portion of the impairment is calculated
on a portfolio basis. This requires the use
of statistical models incorporating data
and assumptions which are not always
necessarily observable.
FirstRand management also evaluates
the overall portfolio provisions, as determined
by the model, and may, in certain
circumstances, recognise additional
provisions (in the form of overlays) where
there is uncertainty in respect of the models
ability to address specific trends or conditions
due to inherent limitations of modelling
based on past performance, the timing
of model updates and macroeconomic
events which could impact retail consumers.

X Across all significant portfolios the advances impairment practices applied by

FirstRand management were assessed against the requirements of IFRS and for
consistency with prior periods. Tested the design and effectiveness of relevant
controls over the processes used to calculate impairments, including controls
relating to data and models.
X Considered the potential for impairment to be affected by events which were not
captured by the models due to timing or other inherent limitations and evaluated
how the FirstRand group had responded to these by making further adjustments
where appropriate (in the form of overlays).
Corporate advances
X Areas of significant judgment were identified and assessed for reasonableness for
individually significant advances.
X Independently recalculated a reasonable range of significant impairment losses,
and compared the level raised by management to this range.
X Inspected a sample of legal agreements and supporting documentation to
confirm the legal right to and existence of collateral.
X A sample of counterparties from high risk industries or geographical locations
were identified and tested for potential impairment.
X Selected a sample of advances that had not been identified as impaired and
determined if this was reasonable by forming an independent view on whether a
specific impairment should be recognised.
Retail advances
X Where impairments were specifically calculated, assessed whether the loss event
(that is the point at which impairment is recognised) had been identified in a
timely manner by management and examined the forecasts of future cash flows
and assumptions applied.
X Where impairments were calculated on a modelled basis (portfolio impairments),
assessed the appropriateness of these models and the data and assumptions
used by FirstRand management. This included:
– Comparing those assumptions which could have a material impact
with actual experience and industry practice.
– Testing the operation of actuarial models, including, where required,
building our own independent assessment and comparing our results
to those of management.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS RELEVANT TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Taxation –
FirstRand, through its diverse and complex
financial services offerings, operates
in multiple tax jurisdictions and is therefore
subject to a wide range of taxation laws
as well as the interpretive nature of these tax
laws. FirstRand management’s judgment is
applied to the application and interpretation
of regulations from various tax authorities
across a multitude of products and
transactions which can have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

The assessment of the impact of material interpretive tax matters included, inter alia,
the following audit procedures performed with the assistance of tax specialists:
X Evaluated the adequacy of FirstRand’s tax risk control framework with reference

to FirstRand’s ability to identify tax issues.
X Analysed the judgment applied by management in the accounting and

disclosure of tax risk, in the context of available supporting information.
X Examined correspondence between FirstRand and the relevant tax authorities.

OTHER INFORMATION

If, based on the work we have performed

group and/or RMH or to cease operations,

The directors are responsible for the

on the other information that we obtained

or have no realistic alternative but to

other information. The other information

prior to the date of this auditor’s report,

do so.

comprises the directors’ report, the audit

we conclude that there is a material

and risk committee report and the

misstatement of this other information,

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

company secretary’s certificate as

we are required to report that fact. We

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND

required by the Companies Act of South

have nothing to report in this regard.

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable

Africa, and the directors’ responsibility
statement, which we obtained prior to

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

assurance about whether the

the date of this auditor’s report and the

THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE

consolidated and separate financial

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

statements as a whole are free from

The directors are responsible for the

material misstatement, whether due to

preparation and fair presentation of

fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s

the consolidated and separate financial

report that includes our opinion.

statements in accordance with

Reasonable assurance is a high level of

International Financial Reporting Standards

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an

and the requirements of the Companies

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs

Our opinion on the consolidated and

Act of South Africa, and for such internal

will always detect a material misstatement

separate financial statements does not

control as the directors determine is

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from

cover the other information and we do not

necessary to enable the preparation

fraud or error and are considered material

and will not express an audit opinion or

of consolidated and separate financial

if, individually or in the aggregate, they

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

statements that are free from material

could reasonably be expected to

misstatement, whether due to

influence the economic decisions of users

fraud or error.

taken on the basis of these consolidated

annual integrated report 2017, which is
expected to be made available to us
after that date. Other information does
not include the consolidated and separate
financial statements and our auditor’s

2017

RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

report thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the
consolidated and separate financial

and separate financial statements.

statements, our responsibility is to read the

In preparing the consolidated and

other information identified above and, in

separate financial statements, the directors

As part of an audit in accordance with

doing so, consider whether the other

are responsible for assessing the group

ISAs, we exercise professional judgment

information is materially inconsistent with

and RMH’s ability to continue as a going

and maintain professional scepticism

the consolidated and separate financial

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters

throughout the audit. We also:

statements or our knowledge obtained in

related to going concern and using the

X Identify and assess the risks of material

the audit, or otherwise appears to be

going concern basis of accounting unless

misstatement of the consolidated and

materially misstated.

the directors either intend to liquidate the

separate financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, design and

the date of our auditor’s report.

perform audit procedures responsive

However, future events or conditions

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

may cause the group and/or

that is sufficient and appropriate to

company to cease to continue

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material

as a going concern.
X Evaluate the overall presentation,

misstatement resulting from fraud is

structure and content of the

higher than for one resulting from error,

consolidated and separate financial

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

statements, including the disclosures,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

and whether the consolidated and

or the override of internal control.

separate financial statements represent

X Obtain an understanding of internal

the underlying transactions and events

control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the
group’s and RMH’s internal control.
X Evaluate the appropriateness of

accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made
by the directors.
X Conclude on the appropriateness of the

in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
X Obtain sufficient appropriate audit

evidence regarding the financial

From the matters communicated with the
directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated and separate financial
statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such
communication.

information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

directors’ use of the going concern basis

We communicate with the directors

of accounting and, based on the audit

regarding, among other matters, the

evidence obtained, whether a material

planned scope and timing of the audit

uncertainty exists related to events or

and significant audit findings, including any

conditions that may cast significant

significant deficiencies in internal control

doubt on the group’s and RMH’s ability

that we identify during our audit.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in
Government Gazette Number 39475
dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been
the auditor of RMH for 30 years. Prior to the
formation of RMH, PricewaterhouseCoopers
Inc. were the sole auditor of Rand
Consolidated Investments Limited for
10 years.

to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty

We also provide the directors with a

exists, we are required to draw attention

statement that we have complied with

in our auditor’s report to the related

relevant ethical requirements regarding

disclosures in the consolidated and

independence, and to communicate with

separate financial statements or, if such

them all relationships and other matters

disclosures are inadequate, to modify

that may reasonably be thought to bear

our opinion. Our conclusions are based

on our independence, and where

on the audit evidence obtained up to

applicable, related safeguards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: Francois Prinsloo
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
8 September 2017
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June
GROUP
R million
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Taxation receivable
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax asset
Investment in associates
Investment in subsidiaries

2017

2016

2017

2016

1
2
3

39
114
334
5
8
4
43 130
–

18
3
223
1
12
–
39 316
–

33
2
211
5
8
–
–
12 652

18
3
223
1
12
–
11 732
–

43 634

39 573

12 911

11 989

8 825
32 556

8 825
29 419

8 825
1 872

8 825
1 835

41 381

38 244

10 697

10 660

81
–
2 154
6
1
11

62
1
1 218
29
10
9

999
–
1 197
6
1
11

62
1
1 218
29
10
9

2 253

1 329

2 214

1 329

43 634

39 573

12 911

11 989

4
13
5
6

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders
Share capital and premium
Reserves

7
8

TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability
TOTAL LIABILITIES
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TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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COMPANY

Note

9
10
11
4
12
13

INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million

COMPANY

Note

2017

2016

2017

2016

14
5

7
7 684
–
(14)

4 540
–
3
6

4 305
–
–
(14)

Revenue
Share of after-tax profit of associates
Fee income
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities

15

16
8 374
3
6

Net income
Administration expenses

16

8 399
(40)

7 677
(16)

4 549
(39)

4 291
(16)

Income from operations
Finance costs

17

8 359
(152)

7 661
(87)

4 510
(148)

4 275
(87)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

18

8 207
(5)

7 574
(15)

4 362
(5)

4 188
(15)

8 202

7 559

4 357

4 173

581.2
581.2

535.7
535.7

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Earnings per share (cents)
– Basic
– Diluted

19
19

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income after tax
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate after tax
and non-controlling interest*
Net loss on available-for-sale financial asset
Losses arising during the year
Deferred income tax
Items that may not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate after tax
and non-controlling interest
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

8 202

7 559

4 357

4 173

(742)
(14)

82
–

–
–

–
–

(18)
4

–
–

–
–

–
–

58

(47)

–

–

(698)

35

–

–

7 594

4 357

4 173

7 504

* Large movement due to translation of FirstRand’s foreign operations.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June
GROUP

R million
Balance as at 1 July 2015
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Income of associate retained
Reserve movements relating to associate
Movement in treasury shares

Share
capital
and
premium

Equity
accounted
reserves

Available-forsale reserve

Other
reserves

8 815
–
–
–
–
10

23 175
35
–
3 026
9
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

333
–
–
–
–
–

Noncontrolling
interest

2 851
7 559
(4 178)
(3 026)
(365)
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Total
equity
35 174
7 594
(4 178)
–
(356)
10

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

8 825

26 245

333

2 841

–

38 244

Balance as at 1 July 2016
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Income of associates retained
Reserve movements relating to associates

8 825
–
–
–
–

26 245
(684)
–
3 722
76

–
(14)
–
–
–

333
–
–
–
–

2 841
8 202
(4 320)
(3 722)
(123)

–
–
–
–
–

38 244
7 504
(4 320)
–
(47)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

8 825

29 359

(14)

333

2 878

–

41 381

7

8

8

8

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Note

–

Retained
earnings

8

for the year ended 30 June
COMPANY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Balance as at 1 July 2015
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid

14
–
–

8 811
–
–

333
–
–

1 507
4 173
(4 178)

10 665
4 173
(4 178)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

14

8 811

333

1 502

10 660

Balance as at 1 July 2016
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid

14
–
–

8 811
–
–

333
–
–

1 502
4 357
(4 320)

10 660
4 357
(4 320)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

14

8 811

333

1 539

10 697

7

7

8

8
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R million
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Note

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Note
A

Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Additions to investments
NET CASH USED IN INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

5

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

4 404
(7)

4 281
(8)

5 431
(7)

4 281
(8)

4 397

4 273

5 424

4 273

–
(699)
(141)

–
–
–

(920)
–
–

–
–
–

(840)

–

(920)

–

Cash flow from financing activities
Amount of borrowings withdrawn
Amount of borrowings repaid
Interest paid
Dividends paid on preference share in issue
Dividends paid to equity holders

957
(21)
(64)
(88)
(4 320)

–
(6)
(3)
(84)
(4 178)

–
(21)
(64)
(84)
(4 320)

–
(6)
(3)
(84)
(4 178)

NET CASH OUTFLOW IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(3 536)

(4 271)

(4 489)

(4 271)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

21
18

2
16

15
18

2
16

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

39

18

33

18

A. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million
Cash flows from operating activities
Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated
from operations
Profit before tax
Adjusted for:
Provision released
Equity accounted earnings
Share option expense – IFRS 2
Accruals
Interest paid
Dividends accrued on preference shares in issue
Fair value adjustment
Changes in working capital
– Current receivables and prepayments
– Current payables and provisions
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

8 207

7 574

4 362

4 188

–
(3 846)
–
(1)
64
88
(7)

(1)
(3 386)
(4)
–
3
84
13

(111)
10

(2)
–

4 404

4 281

–
–
–
(1)
64
84
(7)
1
928
5 431

(1)
–
(4)
–
3
84
13
(2)
–
4 281
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies were adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements, except for the changes to accounting
policies required by those new and revised IFRS as described in accounting policy note A. The policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented.

A.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
RMH is an investment holding company. Its primary investment currently is its 34.1% stake in FirstRand. FirstRand is a listed entity
on the JSE Limited.
RMH’s consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, the requirements of the Companies Act,
71 of 2008, SAICA Financial Reporting Guide as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting Pronouncements
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standard Council and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.
These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented. During the current year there were no revised or new standards
which effected the financial statements and results for the year ended 30 June 2017.
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis using the historical cost basis, except for the following material
financial assets and liabilities, where it adopts the fair value basis of accounting:
X derivative financial instruments;
X cash-settled share-based payments; and
X investment securities – elected fair value through profit or loss.

RMH has made the following accounting elections in terms of IFRS, with reference to the detailed accounting policy:
X regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised using trade date accounting – refer accounting

policy note I.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS necessitates the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. Although estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge and judgments of current facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ
from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are outlined in note 24.

B.

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is both the functional and presentation currency
of the company. All amounts are stated in millions of Rand (R million), unless otherwise indicated.
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C.
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EQUITY ACCOUNTING
The consolidated financial statements include the assets and liabilities of the holding company, the results of operations of the holding
company and the share of net assets and equity accounted earnings of its associates.
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case where
the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. Accounting policies for associate companies are consistent with those of RMH.
Initial recognition in the consolidated financial statements
Associates are initially recognised at cost (including goodwill).

Subsequent recognition
Investment in associates are subsequently equity accounted. The group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the
income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. Other equity movements are assessed based
on the substance of the transaction and accounted for accordingly, with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment.
Intercompany transactions and balances
Unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated,
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Impairment
The group applies the indicators of impairment in IAS 39 to determine whether an impairment test is required. The amount of the
impairment is determined by comparing the investment’s recoverable amount with its carrying amount as determined in accordance
with IAS 36.
Any resulting impairment losses are recognised as part of the share of profits or losses from associates.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, but only
to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if
no impairment loss had been recognised.
Goodwill
Notional goodwill on the acquisition of associates is included in the equity accounted carrying amount of the investment.
Dilution gains and losses
Dilution gains and losses arising in the investment in associates are recognised in profit and loss.
Financial information
Certain equity accounted investments have year-ends that differ from that of RMH. In such circumstances, the management accounts
of the equity accounted investments as at RMH’s reporting date are used in equity accounting.
Separate financial statements
In RMH’s separate financial statements the investments in the associates are carried at cost.

D.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Taking into account the definition of related parties in IAS 24: Related party disclosure, the related parties of RMH have been identified
as follows:
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Financial Securities Limited (Remgro),
Royal Bafokeng Holdings Proprietary Limited and LL Dippenaar.
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Only RMH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the company
appears in the directors’ report.
ASSOCIATES
Details of the investments in associates are disclosed in note 5.
SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 6.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

E.

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION
Revenue consists of interest income and dividends received.
Interest is recognised on an effective interest rate method (taking into account the principal outstanding, the effective rate and
the period).
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

F.

INCOME TAXES
The tax expense includes both current and deferred tax. Income taxes include South African and foreign jurisdiction corporate tax
payable, as well as capital gains tax.
The current income tax expense is calculated by adjusting the net profit for the year for items which are non-taxable or disallowed. It is
calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date, in each particular jurisdiction
within which the group operates.

G.

DEFERRED TAX
RECOGNITION
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements.
These temporary differences typically include revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities, including derivative contracts.
MEASUREMENT
Deferred tax is measured using the liability method under IAS 12 and applying tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax on temporary differences is measured based on the tax base of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

H.

RECOGNITION OF CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The group discloses a contingent liability where:
X it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence

or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the group; or
X it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle an obligation; or
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X the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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I.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
GENERAL
Financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, loans and
receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, including transaction
costs, when the group becomes party to the contractual terms of the instruments. The transaction costs relating to the acquisition
of financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are expensed. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments
are measured as follows:
CATEGORY

MEASUREMENT

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND
BORROWINGS

Loans and receivables and borrowings are non-derivative financial instruments with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These
instruments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value
of these financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

X Derivatives
X Investment securities

Investment securities were designated to reduce measurement inconsistency
(or accounting mismatch) that would arise as a result of measuring assets
and liabilities and the gains and losses on them on a different basis.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Unrealised gains and losses from changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale
financial instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income in the year
during which it arises. When these financial instruments are derecognised or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are realised and included in
income. To the extent that foreign exchange gains or losses relate to available-forsale financial instruments, it is recognised in other comprehensive income as part
of the fair value movement.

X Investment securities

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities (or portions thereof) are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or has expired. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability,
including related unamortised costs, and the amount paid for it is included in profit
or loss.
The group initially recognises financial liabilities at the fair value of the consideration
received. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Instruments with characteristics of debt, such as redeemable preference shares,
are included in financial liabilities.

J.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The group initially recognises derivative financial instruments in the statement of financial position at fair value. Derivatives are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value, with all movements in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

K.

LEASES
Leases of assets where the lessor substantially retains all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases are accounted for in income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

L.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

M.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
RMH operates a defined contribution scheme only. For defined contribution plans, RMH pays contributions to a privately-administered
pension insurance plan on a contractual and voluntary basis. RMH has no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. RMH has no obligation if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The fund is registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956, and membership of the
pension fund is compulsory for all group employees.
LEAVE PAY
RMH recognises, in full, employees’ rights to annual leave entitlement in respect of past service.
BONUSES
RMH recognises a provision and an expense for management and staff bonuses when it is contractually obliged or where past
practice has created a constructive obligation for RMH. The expense is included in staff costs.
All RMH employees were transferred to RMI effective 1 July 2016.

N.

SHARE CAPITAL
SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatory redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities.
SHARE ISSUE COSTS
Instruments issued by the group are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Incremental costs,
directly related to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from equity, net of any related tax benefit.

2017

RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

DIVIDENDS PAID
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are recognised against equity in the period in which they are paid. Dividends declared after the
reporting date are not recognised but disclosed as an event subsequent to reporting date.
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TREASURY SHARES
Where the company or other entities within the group, purchase the company’s equity share capital, unrealised gains and losses on
transactions are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the entity. These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued
number of shares and taken into account in the calculation of the weighted average number of shares.

O.

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which the group may earn revenues and
incur expenses. An operating segment is also a component of the group whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker in allocating resources, assessing its performance and for which discrete financial information is available.
The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the chief executive of the group. The group’s identification and
measurement of operating segments is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief executive. The operating segments
have been identified and classified in a manner that reflects the risks and rewards related to the segments’ specific products and
services offered in their specific markets.
Segments with a majority of revenue earned from charges to external clients and whose revenue, results or assets are 10% or more
of all the segments, are reported separately.

P.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The group operates a cash-settled share-based compensation plan.
The group measures the services received and liability incurred in respect of cash-settled share-based payment plans at the current
fair value of the liability. The group remeasures the fair value of the liability at each reporting date until settled. The liability is recognised
over the vesting period and any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.
All RMH employees were transferred to RMI effective 1 July 2016.

Q.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
X coins and bank notes; and
X money at call and short notice.

All balances included in cash and cash equivalents have a maturity date of less than three months from the date of acquisition.

R.

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The following new and revised standards and interpretations are applicable to the business of the group and may have a significant
impact on future financial statements. The group will comply with these from the stated effective date.
STANDARD
IAS 7 (amended)

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

EFFECTIVE DATE

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 7 UNDER THE DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2017

The amendments to IAS 7 require additional disclosures that enable users
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities.
These amendments are applicable prospectively and will have no impact
on the group other than to introduce additional disclosures.
IAS 12 (amended)

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 12 FOR THE RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
FOR UNREALISED LOSSES
The amendments clarify that unrealised losses on debt instruments that are
measured at fair value for accounting purposes but at cost for tax
purposes, can give rise to deductible temporary differences and
consequently a deferred tax asset may need to be recognised. The
carrying amount of the asset does not limit the estimation of probable
future taxable profits.
These amendments are to be applied retrospectively in the 2018
financial year.
RMH is in the process of assessing the impact on the group. However, a
significant impact is not anticipated as a result of South African tax laws.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2017
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

STANDARD

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

EFFECTIVE DATE

IAS 28 (amended)

SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF ASSETS BETWEEN AN INVESTOR AND ITS
ASSOCIATE OR JOINT VENTURE

The effective date
is currently being
reviewed by the IASB
and will most likely be
deferred indefinitely
until the completion
of a research project
on the equity method
of accounting being
conducted by the IASB.

and IFRS 10

The amendment clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets
from an investor to its associate or joint venture. The amendment requires:
X full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of the gains or losses

arising on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business (as
defined in IFRS 3); and
X the partial recognition of gains or losses where the assets do not
constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ share in that associate or joint venture.
These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction,
e.g. whether the sale or contribution of assets occurs by an investor
transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.
The amendments are applicable prospectively and RMH will assess the
impact of the amendment on each transaction as and when they occur.
IFRS 2 (amended)

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS
As a result of work by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, several
amendments have been made to IFRS 2 to clarify how to account for
certain share-based payment transactions. The amendments to IFRS 2
are related to the following areas:

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018

X accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions

on the measurement of the liability for cash-settled share-based
payment transactions;
X the classification of share-based payment transactions with net
settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and
X accounting for a modification to the terms and conditions of a sharebased payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled
to equity-settled.
RMH does not have any share-based payment transactions and therefore
this amendment will have no impact on RMH.
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IFRS 4 (amended)
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APPLYING IFRS 9 WITH IFRS 4
The amendment addresses concerns around temporary volatility
in reported results arising from implementing IFRS 9 before implementing
the insurance contracts standard that is being developed and that
will replace IFRS 4.
The amendment introduces two approaches:
X the overlay approach – an option for all issuers of insurance contracts

to remove from profit or loss the effects of some mismatches that may
occur before adoption of IFRS 4, and recognise those impacts in other
comprehensive income temporarily. The adjustment only applies to
financial assets that are designated as relating to contracts in scope
of IFRS 4 and measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) in
accordance with IFRS 9, but would have been measured in their entirety
as at FVTPL under IAS 39; and
X temporary exemption – reporting entities whose activities are
predominantly connected with insurance are temporarily exempt from
applying IFRS 9 and will continue to apply IAS 39 until the new insurance
contracts standard is issued.
This amendment will have no impact on RMH.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018.

STANDARD

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 9

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 9 incorporates amendments to the classification and measurement
guidance as well as accounting requirements for impairment of financial
assets measured at amortised cost and the general hedge accounting
model. The significant amendments are:
X the classification and measurement of financial assets under IFRS 9 is

based on both the business model and the rationale for holding the
instruments as well as the contractual characteristics of the instruments;
X impairments in terms of IFRS 9 will be determined based on an expected
loss model that considers the significant changes to the asset’s credit risk
and the expected loss that will arise in the event of default;
X the classification and measurement of financial liabilities is effectively the
same as under IAS 39, i.e. IFRS 9 allows financial liabilities not held for
trading to be measured at either amortised cost or fair value. If, however,
fair value is elected then changes in the fair value as a result of changes
in own credit risk should be recognised in other comprehensive income;
and
X the general hedge accounting requirements under IFRS 9 are closely
aligned with how entities undertake risk management activities when
hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures. Hedge effectiveness
will now be proved based on management’s risk management
objectives rather than the 80% – 125% band that was previously
stipulated. IFRS 9 also allows for rebalancing of the hedge and the
deferral of costs of hedging. IFRS 9 does not include requirements
that address the accounting treatment of macro hedges.
Although this amendment will not have a direct impact on RMH, it will have
a significant impact on FirstRand. FirstRand is well positioned to implement
IFRS 9 for the financial year ending 30 June 2019. In order to prepare for
the implementation, FirstRand constituted a steering committee which is
supported by a number of working groups. The working groups have made
sound progress in setting, inter alia, the accounting policies, determining
the classification of instruments under IFRS 9, developing pilot models
for credit modelling and designing reporting templates.
The impact is expected to be significant. However, the development
of models is still in the early stages and subject to validation. It is therefore
not possible to provide an accurate indication of what the amount
of the impact will be.
IAS 28

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
The amendments introduce clarifications that a venture capital
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities may elect, at
initial recognition, to measure investments in an associate or joint venture
at FVTPL separately for each associate or joint venture.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018

The amendments will not impact the group as neither the group nor its
subsidiaries meet the definition of a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

STANDARD

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 15

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 provides a single, principle-based model to be applied to all
contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The new standard also provides guidance for transactions that were not
previously comprehensively addressed and improves guidance for multipleelement arrangements. The standard also introduces enhanced disclosures
about revenue.
The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 15 will have
on the financial statements. Until the process has been completed, the
group is unable to quantify the expected impact.
IFRS 16

LEASES
IFRS 16 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases, with the objective of ensuring that
lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully represents
those transactions.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2019

The group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 16 will have
on the financial statements. Until the process has been completed, the
group is unable to determine the significance of the impact.
IFRS 17

INSURANCE CONTRACTS
IFRS 17 is the new standard that deals with the accounting for insurance
contracts and will replace IFRS 4. IFRS 4 currently contains no requirements
to account for insurance contracts in a specific way. The accounting
treatment differs between different jurisdictions, which makes it very difficult
to compare one insurance company to another. IFRS 17 contains specific
requirements and aims to provide more transparency and comparability
between insurance companies and other industries. IFRS 17 provides a
prescriptive approach on determining policyholder liabilities as well as the
release of profit in these contracts to the income statement.
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The recognition of insurance revenue will be consistent with that of IFRS 15.
Insurance revenue is derived by the movement in the liability for remaining
insurance coverage.
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The insurance contract liability is initially made up of:
X the fulfilment cash flows, which represent the risk-adjusted present value

of the entity’s rights and obligations to the policyholders; and
X the contractual service margin (CSM), which represents the unearned

profit the entity will recognise as it provides services over the coverage
period.
Subsequently, the liability comprises the liability for remaining coverage
(fulfilment cash flows and the CSM) and the liability for incurred claims
(fulfilment cash flows for claims and expenses already incurred but not
yet paid).
FirstRand is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 17 will have
on its insurance business. Until the process has been completed, FirstRand
is unable to determine the significance of the impact. RMH does not have
any insurance contracts.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2021

STANDARD

IMPACT ASSESSMENT

EFFECTIVE DATE

IAS 40

TRANSFERS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY (AMENDMENTS TO IAS 40)

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2018

The amendments introduce clarification of the requirements on transfers
to or from investment properties when there has been a change in use
of the property
The clarified requirements will be applied by the group to any transfer
to or from investment property, when these transactions take place.
Annual improvements

IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS
The IASB issued the Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle. These
annual improvements include amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28.
The annual improvement project’s aim is to clarify and improve
accounting standards.
The amendments have been assessed and are not expected to have
a significant impact on the group.

Annual periods
commencing on or
after 1 January 2017
(IFRS 12 amendments)
and 1 January 2018
(IAS 12 and IAS 28)
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For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million

1.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

39

18

33

18

48
64
2

–
–
3

–
–
2

–
–
3

114

3

2

3

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash and cash equivalents represent current accounts, call deposits and
short-term fixed funds.

2.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans to associate company1
Loan2
Accounts receivable3
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

1. The loans carry interest at the FNB prime lending rate and have no fixed repayment terms.
2. Investment in variable cumulative redeemable preference shares which carries interest at a percentage of the FNB prime lending rate and which matures
on 26 November 2019.
3. None of the accounts receivable are past due or impaired.

For the year ended 30 June
GROUP
R million

3.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT
2017

94

2017

2016

2017

2016

211

223

211

223

123

–

–

–

INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Listed
Equity instruments held for trading
Unlisted
Equity instruments classified as available-for-sale

4.

COMPANY

334

223

211

223

Analysis of investment securities
– Equities

334

223

211

223

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

334

223

211

223

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
USE OF DERIVATIVES
RMH uses derivatives to hedge market risk. All other derivatives are classified as held for trading. The derivatives are economic hedges
but do not meet the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting and are managed in conjunction with the liability, which is fair valued.
The notional amounts of the derivative instruments do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current
fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not represent the group’s exposure to credit or market risk. Derivative instruments
become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities), based on changes in market share prices and counterparty credit rating.
The aggregate notional amount of derivative financial instruments, the extent to which the instruments are favourable or unfavourable
and the aggregate fair value can fluctuate over time.

4.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
GROUP
2017

2016

Over the counter
R million

Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative assets
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

92

8

91

12

HELD FOR TRADING

92

8

91

12

COMPANY

R million

2017

2016

Over the counter

Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative assets
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

92

8

91

12

HELD FOR TRADING

92

8

91

12

GROUP
2017

2016

Over the counter
R million

Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative liabilities
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

163

6

159

29

HELD FOR TRADING

163

6

159

29

COMPANY

R million

2017

2016

Over the counter

Over the counter

Notional

Fair value

Notional

Fair value

Derivative liabilities
Held for trading
Equity derivatives
– Swaps

163

6

159

29

HELD FOR TRADING

163

6

159

29

Refer to note 24 for more detail on the valuation of derivatives.
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GROUP
R million

5.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

Shares at cost
Share of post-acquisition reserves

10 244
32 886

9 545
29 771

–
–

11 732
–

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

43 130

39 316

–

11 732

39 316
699
8 375
(4 528)
(731)
(1)
–

36 241
–
7 688
(4 298)
(321)
(4)
10

11 732
–
–
–
–
–
–

11 732
–
–
–
–
–
–

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Analysis of movement in the carrying value of associate
Opening carrying value
Cost of associates bought
Share of after-tax profits of associates
Dividends received
Share of associate’s other reserves
Change in effective shareholding
Treasury shares
Value of shares issued in wholly-owned subsidiary in exchange for investment
in associate*
CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

–

–

43 130

39 316

(11 732)
–

–
11 732

* The 34.1% interest in FirstRand was swapped for shares in RMH Assets Holding Company Proprietary Limited as part of the RMH group restructure.

GROUP
R million

2016

2017

2016

42 427

39 316

–

11 732

480
*
223

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

43 130

39 316

–

11 732

Market value at closing price on 30 June
Listed
FirstRand Limited

90 077

85 664

–

85 664

Carrying values of associates
Listed
FirstRand Limited
Unlisted
Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited
Genesis Property Three Proprietary Limited
Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited

2017
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* Less than R500 000.
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COMPANY

2017

5.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES continued
The group’s interests in its associates are as follows:
NUMBER OF SHARES

Name of associates
Listed
FirstRand Limited
% of ownership
% of voting rights
Unlisted
Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited
% of ownership
% of voting rights
Genesis Property Three Proprietary Limited
% of ownership
% of voting rights
Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited
% of ownership
% of voting rights

PERCENTAGE HELD

2017

2016

1 910 433 050

1 910 433 050

28 448 276

80

8 972

2017

2016

34.06
34.07

34.06
34.08

27.50
27.50

–
–

40.00
40.00

–
–

34.06
34.06

–
–

–

–

–

Detail of associates
Listed
FirstRand Limited
Financial year-end

30 June

Year used for equity accounting
Country of incorporation
R million

30 June
Republic of South Africa
2017

2016

518 304
699 403

491 797
657 480

1 217 707

1 149 277

918 219
182 304

849 172
192 040

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1 100 523

1 041 212

NET ASSET VALUE

117 184

108 065

RMH’s share of net asset value
Notional goodwill

37 099
5 328

33 988
5 328

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

42 427

39 316

Statement of comprehensive income
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

26 139
(2 053)

24 075
129

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

24 086

24 204

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
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5.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES continued
Unlisted
Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited
Financial year-end

30 June

Year used for equity accounting

30 June

Country of incorporation
Date acquired
R million

Republic of South Africa
July 2016
2017

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets

431
3 863

TOTAL ASSETS

4 294

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

369
2 679

TOTAL LIABILITIES

3 048

NET ASSET VALUE

1 246

RMH’s share of net asset value
Notional goodwill

386
94

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

480

Statement of comprehensive income
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

49
(15)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

34

Genesis Property Three Proprietary Limited
Financial year-end
Year used for equity accounting
Country of incorporation
Date acquired

2017
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R million
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31 March
30 June
Republic of South Africa
December 2016
2017

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets

21
111

TOTAL ASSETS

132

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

–
132

TOTAL LIABILITIES

132

NET ASSET VALUE

–

RMH’s share of net asset value
Notional goodwill

–
–

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

–

Statement of comprehensive income
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

(1)
–

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(1)

5.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES continued
Unlisted continued
Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited
Financial year-end
Year used for equity accounting
Country of incorporation
Date acquired
R million

28 February
30 June
Republic of South Africa
November 2016
2017

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets

185
1 054

TOTAL ASSETS

1 239

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

42
609

TOTAL LIABILITIES

651

NET ASSET VALUE

588

RMH’s share of net asset value
Notional goodwill

197
26

CLOSING CARRYING VALUE

223

Statement of comprehensive income
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

23
–

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

23
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COMPANY
R million

6.

2017

2016

12 652

–

100
100

–
–

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Unlisted shares at cost
Percentage interest held in unlisted shares (%)
RMH Treasury Company Proprietary Limited
RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited

RMH has changed from being a passive investment holding company to becoming more active and is considering select
diversification and investment opportunities, as discussed earlier in the report. This change in strategy required an evaluation of the
existing corporate structure and, more specifically, the investment processes and the capital and funding structures:
X The operational structure of RMH was benchmarked against those of other investment holding companies with similar strategies. The

aim is to ensure that the structure is optimal and that unnecessary delays in the investment process are reduced or eliminated; and
X RMH could approach the capital markets to raise funds for its various investment activities. An optimal corporate structure would

enable RMH to obtain the best funding rates, comply with market precedents and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance.
After careful deliberation and bearing the objectives set out above in mind, it was decided that the current structure could be
improved and a decision was made to internally restructure the RMH group.
It was proposed to restructure the RMH group by means of:
X The establishment of a wholly-owned treasury company, namely RMH Treasury Company Proprietary Limited, for purposes of raising

funds for investment activities; and
X The establishment of a wholly-owned investment holding company, namely RMH Asset Holding Company Proprietary Limited, for

purposes of housing RMH’s equity investments, including RMH’s current direct interest of 34.1% in FirstRand’s issued share capital and
the existing and planned property investments, in ring-fenced holding companies.
The new group structure was achieved by means of implementation of various asset-for-share transactions, in terms of section 42 of the
Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962. The process was completed on 12 June 2017.

2017
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The restructure did not result in any accounting profit and had no economic substance. It had no cash flow impact.
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GROUP

R million

7.

Number
of shares
million

Share
capital

Share
premium

Total

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
As at 30 June 2016

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

COMPANY
Number
of shares
million

Share
capital

Share
premium

Total

As at 30 June 2016

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

1 411.7

14

8 811

8 825

R million

The total authorised number of shares is 2 000 000 000 (2016: 2 000 000 000), with a par value of one cent per share (2016: one cent).
During the current year, no shares were issued (2016: nil). 5 % of the unissued share capital is under the control of the board of directors
until the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The total authorised number of redeemable cumulative preference shares is 100 000 000 (2016: 100 000 000), with a par value of one
cent per share (2016: one cent). During the year, no preference shares were issued. As these preference shares are redeemable, they
are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost (see note 10). All preference shares are unlisted.
An additional class of no par value redeemable cumulative preference shares of a 100 000 000 shares were created. None of these
shares have been issued.
GROUP
R million

8.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

RESERVES
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Equity accounted reserves
Available-for-sale reserve
Capital surpluses on disposal and restructuring of strategic investments

2 878

2 841

1 539

1 502

29 359
(14)
333

26 245
–
333

–
–
333

–
–
333

Total other reserves

29 678

26 578

333

333

TOTAL RESERVES

32 556

29 419

1 872

1 835
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GROUP
R million

9.

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Accrued redeemable preference share dividends (see note 11)
Unclaimed dividends
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities (see note 12)
Inter-group debt

15
18
19
29
–

12
14
16
20
–

13
15
19
29
923

12
14
16
20
–

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

81

62

999

62

Detail of inter-group debt
Owing by subsidiary company
Loan bearing interest at prime rate with no fixed repayment term
included in trade and other payables
Owing to subsidiary company
Interest free loan with no fixed repayment term included
in trade and other payables

–

–

(35)

–

–

–

958

–

INTER-GROUP DEBT

–

–

923

–

1
(1)
–

3
(1)
(1)

1
(1)
–

3
(1)
(1)

–

1

–

1

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

10. PROVISIONS
Staff incentive bonus
Balance at the beginning of the year
Unutilised provision reversed
Utilised during the year
PROVISIONS

GROUP
R million

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

Variable rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
Interest-bearing loans
Accrued redeemable preference dividend
Short-term portion of accrued preference dividend transferred
to trade and other payables (see note 9)

1 180
957
17
18

–
1 180
38
14

1 180
–
17
15

–
1 180
38
14

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2 154

2017
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11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
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(18)

(14)
1 218

(15)
1 197

(14)
1 218

Variable rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
The company has, in issue, 11 800 (2016: 11 800) cumulative, redeemable preference shares with a par value of one cent, issued at a
premium of R99 999.99 per share. The shares are redeemable at the discretion of the company at any time and compulsorily
redeemable on 10 June 2020. The preference shares pay six-monthly dividends at a variable rate of 71.67% of prime nominal
compounded monthly (2016: fixed rate of 7.09% nominal compounded semi-annually). The preference shares are unlisted.
Fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares
During the current year, RMH Treasury Company Limited issued 667 829 no par value fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference
shares and 289 800 no par value fixed rate, cumulative, redeemable preference shares. The shares are redeemable at the discretion
of the company at any time and compulsorily redeemable on 10 and 15 June 2020 respectively. The preference shares pay six-monthly
dividends at a 7.08% and 7.34% respectively.

GROUP
R million

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

continued
Interest-bearing loans
Funding raised by the company

17

38

17

38

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS

17

38

17

38

11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The company financed its obligation by means of a loan obtained from FirstRand Bank Limited. The loan is unsecured and bears
interest at a rate linked to prime.
GROUP
R million

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

12. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Share-based payment liability
Short-term portion transferred to trade and other payables (see note 9)
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

30
(29)

30
(20)

30
(29)

30
(20)

1

10

1

10

13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
Movement on the deferred income tax account is shown below:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Deferred income tax charged on items directly taken
to other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

4

–

–

–

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET

4

–

–

–

Deferred income tax liabilities arise from:
Fair value investment securities

4

–

–

–

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET

4

–

–

–

Movement on the deferred income tax account is shown below:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Charge to profit or loss

9
2

–
9

9
2

–
9

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITY

11

9

11

9

Deferred income tax liabilities arise from:
Fair value investment securities

11

9

11

9

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITY

11

9

11

9

The group would therefore incur no additional tax if the total reserves of R 32 517 million (2016: R29 419 million) were declared
as dividends.
GROUP
R million

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

–
8
8

–
6
1

4 528
8
4

4 298
6
1

16

7

4 540

4 305

14. REVENUE
Dividend income from associate company
Dividend income – fair value assets
Interest received
REVENUE
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GROUP
R million

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

15. NET FAIR VALUE GAINS/(LOSS) ON FINANCIAL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Net fair value gain/(loss) – held for trading

6

(14)

6

(14)

NET FAIR VALUE GAINS/(LOSS)

6

(14)

6

(14)

Expenses by nature
– Professional fees and regulatory compliance cost
– Management fees*
– Operating lease rentals
– Audit fees
– Staff costs
– Defined pension and provident fund contributions
– Share option expense – IFRS 2 and movement in employee benefits liability
– Other expenses

(6)
(20)
(1)
(1)
–
–
(2)
(10)

(2)
–
(1)
(1)
(7)
(1)
2
(6)

(5)
(20)
(1)
(1)
–
–
(2)
(10)

(2)
–
(1)
(1)
(7)
(1)
2
(6)

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

(40)

(16)

(39)

(16)

Audit fees
Statutory audit – current year
Other services

(1)
–

(1)
–

(1)
–

(1)
–

AUDIT FEES

16. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

* Management fees are paid to RMI for services delivered.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

The company’s operating lease commitments are as follows:
– Up to one year
– Between two and five years

–
–

(1)
–

–
–

(1)
–

Operating lease commitments

–

(1)

–

(1)

17. FINANCE COSTS
Interest expense
– Interest paid on borrowings
– Dividends paid on redeemable preference shares

2017
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(64)
(88)

(3)
(84)

(64)
(84)

(3)
(84)

(152)

(87)

(148)

(87)

GROUP
R million

2017

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

18. TAXATION
SA income tax
Current tax
– Current year
– Prior year
Deferred tax
– Current year
– Prior year
– Prior year rate adjustment

(3)
–

(2)
(4)

(3)
–

(2)
(4)

(2)
–
–

5
(11)
(3)

(2)
–
–

5
(11)
(3)

TAXATION

(5)

(15)

(5)

(15)

The tax on accounting profit differs from the actual tax paid:
Profit before tax

8 207
%

Standard income tax rate of South Africa
Dividend income
Income from associates
Expenses not subject to tax
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

7 574
%

4 362

4 188

%

%

28.00
–
(28.57)
0.94

28.00
–
(28.41)
0.44

28.00
(29.07)
–
1.14

28.00
(28.74)
–
0.79

0.37

0.03

0.07

0.05

GROUP

GROUP

R million

cents per share

2017

2016

2017

2016

8 202
8 202

7 559
7 559

581.2
581.2

535.7
535.7

7 927
7 927
4 616

7 503
7 503
4 165

561.7
561.7
327.0

531.7
531.7
295.0

– Interim
– Final*

2 160
2 456

2 005
2 160

153.0
174.0

142.0
153.0

Ordinary dividends paid during the year

4 320

4 178

306.0

296.0

19. EARNINGS, HEADLINE EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders
– Basic
– Diluted
Headline earnings
– Basic
– Diluted
Ordinary dividend declared during the year

* A final gross dividend for the year ended 30 June 2017 of 174.0 cents (2016: 153.0 cents) per ordinary share, declared on 8 September 2017, payable on
9 October 2017.
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19. EARNINGS, HEADLINE EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE continued
GROUP
2017
19.1

2016

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES
Number of shares issued as at 30 June
Number of treasury shares

1 411 703 218
(420 753)

1 411 703 218
(608 917)

NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 282 465

1 411 094 301

Weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June
Weighted number of treasury shares

1 411 703 218
(395 684)

1 411 703 218
(561 810)

WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 307 534

1 411 141 408

Weighted number of shares issued as at 30 June
Diluted weighted number of treasury shares

1 411 307 534
–

1 411 141 408
–

DILUTED WEIGHTED NUMBER OF SHARES

1 411 307 534

1 411 141 408

R million
19.2

HEADLINE EARNINGS RECONCILIATION
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders
Adjusted for:
Adjustments made by associates
Gain on disposal of investment securities and other investments of capital nature
Loss due to the fair value adjustment of a non-current asset held for sale
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale assets
Loss on disposal of investments in non-private equity associates
Impairment of investments in non-private equity associates
Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiaries
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment
Fair value movement on investment properties
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of assets in terms of IAS 36
Tax effects of adjustments
Non-controlling interests adjustments
RMH’s own adjustments
Loss on deemed sale of associate due to change in effective shareholding

2017
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HEADLINE EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
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8 202
(275)

7 559
(56)

(1)
32
(18)
2
1
(619)
5
–
41
126
9
146

(2)
–
(2)
–
–
(28)
(50)
7
3
16
(7)
3

1

4

7 927

7 503

20. RELATED PARTIES
The group defines related parties as:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

Subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries;
Associate companies;
Joint ventures;
Entities that have significant influence over the company. If an investor has significant influence over the company, that investor
and its subsidiaries are related parties of the company;
Key management personnel, being the board of directors;
Close family members of key management personnel (individuals’ spouses/domestic partners and children; domestic partners’
children and dependants of the individual or domestic partner); and
Entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by any individual referred to in (v) and (vi).

Principal shareholders
Details of major shareholders are disclosed in the directors’ report. The principal shareholders are Financial Securities Limited (Remgro),
Royal Bafokeng Holdings (Proprietary) Limited and LL Dippenaar.
Key management personnel
Only RMH’s directors are key management personnel. Information on directors’ emoluments and their shareholding in the company
appears in the directors’ report.
Associate
Details of the investment in associate are disclosed in note 5.
GROUP
R million
Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited and its investment companies with:
Principal shareholders
Dividends paid
Key management personnel
Salaries and other benefits
Directors’ fees
Associates*
Income statement effect
Dividends received
Interest received*
Preference shares dividends paid
Finance costs
Balance sheet effect
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Preference share liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans

COMPANY

2017

2016

2017

2016

2 096

2 028

2 096

2 028

3
2

3
2

3
2

3
2

4 528
8
87
34

4 298
1
84
3

4 528
4
84
49

4 298
1
84
3

39
48
1 847
17
17

18
–
1 180
14
38

33
–
1 180
15
17

18
–
1 180
14
38

* All balances with FirstRand, except for interest received of R2 million from and loans and receivables of R48 million to Genesis Properties Three
Proprietary Limited.
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20. RELATED PARTIES continued
GROUP
R million
Transactions of RMB Holdings Limited’s key management personnel with associate
Loans in normal course of business (mortgages, other loans, instalment finance and credit cards)
Cheque and current accounts
Savings accounts
Term deposits
Ashburton funds
Financial consulting fees and commissions

2017

2016

10
64
–
23
1 014
3

18
114
24
371
62
7

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June, RMH had issued guarantees in respect of funding facilities to the value of R1 603 million (2016: R321 million).
Of that amount, R958 million relates to the holders of preference shares issued by RMH Treasury Company Limited and the balance for
funding facilities provided to Atterbury Property Holdings Proprietary Limited, Propertuity Development Proprietary Limited and Genesis
Properties Three Proprietary Limited.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Events subsequent to the reporting date are dealt with in the directors’ report.

23. SEGMENT REPORTING
GROUP’S CHIEF OPERATING DECISION MAKER
The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the chief executive. Information provided is aligned with the internal
reporting provided to the chief executive.

2017
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IDENTIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF OPERATING SEGMENTS
Information provided is aligned with the internal reporting provided to the chief executive. Operating segments whose total revenue,
absolute profit or loss for the period or total assets are 10% or more of all the segments’ revenue, profit or loss or total assets, are
reported separately. The group currently considers the results of FirstRand (the group’s most significant investment), RMH Property and
the remaining instruments as the key operating segments and has accordingly proportioned segmental information on these as
explained below.
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23. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
FIRSTRAND
FirstRand is a diverse financial services group. It consists of a portfolio of leading financial services franchises. These are FNB (the retail
and commercial bank), RMB (the corporate and investment bank) and WesBank (the instalment finance business).
The franchises of FirstRand can be described as follows:
FRANCHISE

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

FOOTPRINT

FNB

Financial services and insurance products and services to
market segments including consumer, small business,
agricultural, medium corporate, parastatals and
government entities. FNB’s products cover the entire
spectrum of financial services – transactional, lending,
insurance, investment and savings – and include
mortgage loans, credit and debit cards, personal loans,
funeral policies, and savings and investment products.
Services include transactional and deposit-taking, card
acquiring, credit facilities and FNB distribution channels
(branch network, ATMs, call centres, cellphone and online).

FNB operates in South Africa, Namibia,
Botswana, Lesotho, Swaziland, Zambia,
Mozambique, Tanzania and Ghana.

RMB

RMB offers advisory, financing, trading, corporate banking
and principal investing solutions. RMB’s business units
include global markets, investment banking, private equity
and corporate banking

RMB has offices in South Africa, Namibia,
Botswana and Nigeria, and manages FirstRand
Bank’s representative offices in Kenya and
Angola. It also operates in the UK, India, China
and the Middle East (through FirstRand Bank
branches and representative offices), and in
Zambia, Tanzania, Mozambique, Swaziland,
Lesotho through FNB’s subsidiaries.

WesBank

WesBank offers asset-based finance in the retail,
commercial and corporate segments, operating primarily
through alliances and joint ventures with leading motor
manufacturers, suppliers and dealer groups, where it has
built up a strong point-of-sale presence. WesBank also
provides personal loans through its subsidiary, Direct Axis.
Through the MotoVantage brand, WesBank provides
insurance and related value-added products into the
motor sector.

WesBank offers asset-based finance and
personal loans in South Africa and Africa.
Through MotoNovo Finance, it operates in the
asset-based motor finance sector in the UK.

FCC and other

Group-wide functions include Group Treasury (capital, liquidity and financial resource management), group
finance, group tax, enterprise risk management, regulatory risk management and group internal audit. FCC
has a custodianship mandate which includes managing relationships on behalf of the group with key external
stakeholders (e.g. shareholders, debt holders, regulators) and the ownership of key group strategic frameworks
(e.g. performance measurement, risk/reward). Its objective is to ensure the group delivers on its commitments
to stakeholders.
Ashburton Investments offers focused traditional and alternative investment solutions to individual and
institutional investors and combines established active fund management expertise with alternative
investment solutions from product providers across the FirstRand group.
Ashburton Investments’ results are included in this reportable segment as these are not material on an
activity basis.
It also includes all consolidation and IFRS adjustments made by FirstRand.
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23. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
Basis of preparation of segment information
RMH believes that normalised earnings more accurately reflect operational performance. Headline earnings are adjusted to take
into account the following non-operational and accounting anomalies for internal management reporting purposes:
1.

RMH’s portion of normalised
adjustments made by its associate
FirstRand Limited which have a
financial impact:

X FirstRand shares held for client trading activities;
X IAS 19: Remeasurement of plan asset;
X the consolidation of private equity subsidiaries which is excluded from the Rule 1

exemption of Circular 2/2015, Headline Earnings per Share; and
X Cash-settled share-based payments and the economic hedge.

2.

RMH shares held for client trading activities by FirstRand in terms of IAS 28 Investments in Associates, upstream and downstream
profits are eliminated when equity accounting is applied, and, in terms of IAS 32, profits or losses cannot be recognised on an
entity’s own equity instruments. For the income statement, RMH’s portion of the fair value change in RMH shares by FirstRand is,
therefore, deducted from equity-accounted earnings and the investment recognised using the equity accounted method.

3.

Adjustment to reflect earnings impact based on actual RMH shareholding in FirstRand based on actual number of shares issued
by FirstRand.

MAJOR CLIENTS
In terms of IFRS 8, a client is regarded as a major client if the revenue from transactions with this client exceeds 10% or more of the
entity’s revenue. The group has no major client as defined and is therefore not reliant on the revenue from one or more major clients.
RMH PROPERTY
RMH Property include the results of the recently established property business.
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OTHER
Other includes the results of the RMH company, consolidation of RMH shares held by FirstRand and RMH consolidation entries.
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23. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
GROUP
FNB

RMB

WesBank

FCC and
other

Year ended 30 June 2017
Share of after-tax profit of associates
Fee income
Investment income
Net fair value gain on financial assets

4 411
–
–
–

2 370
–
–
–

1 361
–
–
–

229
–
–
–

8 371
–
–
–

4
–
6
–

(1)
3
10
6

8 374
3
16
6

Net income
Administration expenses

4 411
–

2 370
–

1 361
–

229
–

8 371
–

10
–

18
(40)

8 399
(40)

Income from operations
Finance costs

4 411
–

2 370
–

1 361
–

229
–

8 371
–

10
(2)

(22)
(150)

8 359
(152)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

4 411
–

2 370
–

1 361
–

229
–

8 371
–

8
–

(172)
(5)

8 207
(5)

Profit for the year

4 411

2 370

1 361

229

8 371

8

(177)

8 202

Headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Associates
Total other assets

4 411
4 411
–
–

2 370
2 369
–
–

1 361
1 361
–
–

(47)
193
–
–

8 095
8 334
42 427
–

8
8
703
244

(176)
(176)
–
260

7 927
8 166
43 130
504

TOTAL ASSETS

–

–

–

–

42 427

947

260

43 634

TOTAL LIABILITIES

–

–

–

–

–

48

2 205

2 253

FirstRand

RMH
Property

Other

RMH

R million

FirstRand

RMH
Property

Other

RMH

GROUP
FNB

RMB

WesBank

FCC and
other

Year ended 30 June 2016
Share of after-tax profit of associate
Investment income
Net fair value gain on financial assets

4 189
–
–

2 142
–
–

1 338
–
–

19
–
–

7 688
–
–

–
–
–

(4)
7
(14)

7 684
7
(14)

Net income
Administration expenses

4 189
–

2 142
–

1 338
–

19
–

7 688
–

–
–

(11)
(16)

7 677
(16)

Income from operations
Finance costs

4 189
–

2 142
–

1 338
–

19
–

7 688
–

–
–

(27)
(87)

7 661
(87)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

4 189
–

2 142
–

1 338
–

19
–

7 688
–

–
–

(114)
(15)

7 574
(15)

Profit for the year

4 189

2 142

1 338

19

7 688

–

(129)

7 559

Headline earnings
Normalised earnings
Associate
Total other assets

4 189
4 187
–
–

2 142
2 141
–
–

1 338
1 338
–
–

(41)
117
–
–

7 628
7 783
39 316
–

–
–
–
–

(125)
(124)
–
257

7 503
7 659
39 316
257

TOTAL ASSETS

–

–

–

–

39 316

–

257

39 573

TOTAL LIABILITIES

–

–

–

–

–

–

1 329

1 329

R million
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23. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
RMH does not have multiple geographic segments as FirstRand and RMH Property are viewed as South African entities.
GROUP
R million

2017

2016

Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders
Headline earnings adjustments (see note 19)

8 202
(275)

7 559
(56)

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders (see note 19)
RMH’s share of adjustments made by FirstRand:
TRS and IFRS 2 liability remeasurement
Treasury shares
IAS 19 adjustment
Private equity subsidiary realisations
Adjusted for:
RMH shares held by associate
Group treasury shares

7 927

7 503

NORMALISED EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS

8 166

7 659

Normalised earnings per share
– Basic
– Diluted

578.5
578.5

542.5
542.5

(21)
(4)
(40)
307

168
(2)
(35)
28

–
(3)

1
(4)

24. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
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VALUATION METHODOLOGY
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. Fair value is therefore a market-based measurement and, when
measuring fair value, RMH uses the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability under current
market conditions, including assumptions about risk. When determining fair value it is presumed that the entity is a going concern
and the fair value is therefore not an amount that represents a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or a distressed sale.
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The fair value of publicly traded derivatives is based on quoted bid prices for assets held or liabilities to be issued and current offer
prices for assets to be acquired and liabilities held. The fair value of non-traded derivatives is based on discounted cash flow models
and option pricing models, as appropriate. The group recognises derivatives as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative .The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price
(i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received), unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging), or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. When such evidence exists, the group recognises
profits or losses on day one. Where fair value is determined using valuation techniques whose variables include non-observable market
data, the difference between the fair value and the transaction price (the day one profit or loss) is not recognised in the statement of
financial position. These differences are, however, monitored for disclosure purposes. If observable market factors that market
participants would consider in setting a price subsequently become available, the balance of the deferred day one profit or loss is
released to profit or loss
Fair value measurements are determined on both a recurring and non-recurring basis.
Recurring fair value measurements
Recurring fair value measurements are those for assets and liabilities that IFRS requires or permits to be recognised at fair value
and are recognised in the statement of financial position at reporting date. This includes financial assets, financial liabilities
and non-financial assets.

24. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued
Financial instruments
When determining the fair value of a financial instrument, RMH uses the most representative price.
Non-financial assets
When determining the fair value of a non-financial asset, a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the assets in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use, is taken into account. This includes the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.
In determining the fair value of the group’s investment properties and commodities, the highest and best use of the assets
is their current use.
Non-recurring fair value measurements
Non-recurring fair value measurements are those triggered by particular circumstances and include the classification of assets and
liabilities as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale under IFRS 5, where fair value less costs to sell is the recoverable amount,
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, where assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at acquisition date, and IAS 36 Impairments of
Assets, where fair value less costs to sell is the recoverable amount. These fair value measurements are determined on a case by case
basis as they occur within each reporting period.
OTHER FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Other fair value measurements include assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which fair value disclosures are required
under another IFRS standard, e.g. financial instruments at amortised cost. The fair value for these items is determined by using
observable quoted market prices where these are available, or in accordance with generally acceptable pricing models such
as a discounted cash flow analysis.
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND MEASUREMENTS
Valuations based on observable inputs include:
X Level 1 – fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments as measured on

reporting date. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to reliable provide pricing
information on an on-going basis.
X Level 2 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable market inputs. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
Valuations based on unobservable inputs include:
X Level 3 – fair value is determined through valuation techniques which use significant unobservable inputs.

The table below sets out the valuation techniques applied by RMH for fair value measurements of financial assets and liabilities
categorised as Level 2 asset and liabilities in the fair value hierarchy.
Description of valuation
technique and main
assumptions

Fair value hierarchy
level

Valuation technique

Derivative financial
instruments – Equity
derivative

Level 2

Industry standard model

The models calculate
fair value based on
input parameters such
as share prices and
interest rates.

Market interest rates
and prices

Financial assets and
liabilities not measured
at fair value but for
which fair values are
disclosed

Level 2

Discounted cash flow

The future cash flows
are discounted using a
market-related interest
rate and curves
adjusted for credit
inputs.

Market interest rates
and curves

Instrument

Observable inputs

113

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

24. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued
GROUP
R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2017
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Investment securities: equity instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associates

211
–
90 077

–
8
–

123
–
–

334
8
90 077

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

90 288

8

123

90 419

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

2 154
6

–
–

2 154
6

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

–

2 160

–

2 160
2017

Reconciliation of Level 3 assets
Balance at the beginning of the period
Additions in the current period
Fair value movement recognised in other comprehensive income

–
141
(18)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

123
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GROUP
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R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2016
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Investment securities: equity instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associates

223
–
85 664

–
12
–

–
–
–

223
12
85 664

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

85 887

12

–

85 899

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 184
29

–
–

1 184
29

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

–

1 213

–

1 213

24. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued
COMPANY
R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2017
Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Investment securities: equity instruments
Derivative financial instruments

211
–

–
8

–
–

211
8

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

211

8

–

219

Changes in Level 3 instruments with recurring fair value measurements
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 184
6

–
–

1 184
6

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

–

1 190

–

1 190

COMPANY
R million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2016
Financial assets
Investment securities: equity instruments
Derivative financial instruments
Investment in associate

223
–
85 664

–
12
–

–
–
–

223
12
85 664

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

85 887

12

–

85 899

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

–
–

1 184
12

–
–

1 184
12

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

–

1 196

–

1 196

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumption of Level 3 instruments:

R million
GROUP
As at 30 June 2017
Assets
Equity instruments

Description of valuation
technique and main
assumptions

The underlying value
of the unlisted equity
were valued using a
discounted cash flow
model. Future cash flows
are discounted using
a market-related
interest rate adjusted
for credit inputs.

Changes to significant
unobservable data

Fair value

Using more
positive
assumptions

Using more
negative
assumptions

123

135

111

Reduced and increased
underlying value by 10%
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25. REMUNERATION SCHEMES
RMH operated a cash-settled share scheme as part of its remuneration philosophy, which tracks the company’s share price and settles
in cash. Details of the RMH cash-settled scheme were as follows. Effective 1 July 2016, all staff was transferred to RMI. RMI charges RMH
a management fee for services rendered by its staff. The details included relates to Peter Cooper (refer to directors’ emoluments on
page 72).
GROUP
R million

2017

The charge to profit or loss for the share-based payments is as follows:
Share appreciation rights
The statement of financial position effects are as follows:
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables

COMPANY
2016

2017

2016

(2)

4

(2)

4

1
29

10
20

1
29

10
20

DESCRIPTION OF THE SCHEME
RMH share appreciation rights
The purpose of this scheme was to provide identified employees, including executive directors, with the opportunity of receiving
incentive remuneration payments based on the increase in the market value of ordinary shares in RMH.
Appreciation rights could only be exercised by the third anniversary of the grant date, provided that the performance objectives set
for the grant were achieved.
Issue
2012 issue
2013 issue
2014 issue
2015 issue

Vesting conditions
No vesting condition
No vesting condition
Annual compound growth rate in normalised earnings of the mature business exceeding real GDP growth over the
vesting period, with the 2014 normalised earnings being the base.
Annual compound growth rate in normalised earnings of the mature business exceeding real GDP growth over the
vesting period, with the 2015 normalised earnings being the base.

VALUATION METHODOLOGY
RMH share appreciation rights
The share appreciation right scheme issues were valued using the Cox Rubenstein binomial tree. The scheme was cash-settled and
were thus repriced at each reporting date.
Market data consisted of the following:
X volatility was the expected volatility over the period of the option. Historic volatility was used as a proxy for expected valuation.
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X the interest rate was the risk free rate of return, as recorded on the last day of the financial year, on a swap curve of a term equal to

116

the expected life of the share appreciation right.
X a fixed dividend yield was assumed.

Employee statistic assumptions
X No forfeiture rate was used due to the number of employees participating in the scheme.

25. REMUNERATION SCHEMES continued
The significant weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options and share awards granted and the IFRS 2
expense for the prior year were:
RMH share
appreciation
right scheme
Strike price (Rands) range options were granted at
Weighted average (Rands)
Expected volatility (%)
Expected option life (years)
Expected risk free rate (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)

35.5 – 43.4
37.2
24.4
5
7.57
5.2

Information on number of shares granted, strike price and vesting dates are provided below:

For the year ended 30 June 2017
Number of options and share awards in force at the beginning of the year
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards granted during the year
Granted at (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards exercised/released during the year1
Market value at date of exercise/release (Rands)
Weighted average share price for the year (Rands)
NUMBER OF OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS IN FORCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)

RMH share
appreciation
right scheme
1 659 143
35.5 – 63.9
40.3
–
–
–
(616 185)
–
–
1 042 958
35.5 – 43.4
37.2

1. All staff was transferred effective 1 July 2016 to RMI. RMI charges a management fee for services
rendered by its staff.

For the year ended 30 June 2016
Number of options and share awards in force at the beginning of the year
Granted at (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards granted during the year
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)
Number of options and share awards exercised/released during the year
Market value at date of exercise/release (Rands)
Weighted average share price for the year (Rands)
NUMBER OF OPTIONS AND SHARE AWARDS IN FORCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR
Granted at prices ranging between (Rands)
Weighted average (Rands)

1 658 806
35.5 – 52.6
40.3
46 555
64.0
64.0
(46 218)
64.7
59.8
1 659 143
35.5 – 63.9
40.3
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK
Various financial risk have an impact on the group’s results: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The risk management framework is aimed at minimising the negative impact that the unpredictable
financial markets can have on the group. RMH has implemented a governance structure to assist with the management of risk. The
various sub-committees and their responsibilities, as well as reports from the various committees, are included in the corporate
governance report. This section addresses the quantitative impact market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk on the results of the group.
Market risk – the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.
CURRENCY RISK
Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency may
fluctuate due to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate between the reporting currency and the currency in which such
instrument is denominated.
The group and company were not exposed to currency risk in the prior year.
The company was not exposed to currency risk at 30 June 2017. During the year the group invested in foreign denominated unlisted
equity and the impact in the movement in the Rand/Euro exchange rate on the results of the group is demonstrated below:
GROUP

R million
Investment securities

10%
increase
2017
12

10%
decrease
2017
(12)

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk is when the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates.
The group makes use of asset managers and internal resources to invest in securities exposed to interest rate risk. The securities
managed by asset managers are contractually agreed with specific risk levels. The internally managed money market investments are
managed in line with the mandate approved by the investment committee. The investment committee monitors the performance of
all the investments and reports to the board on a quarterly basis.
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The group’s financial instruments, other than policyholders’ assets, are exposed to interest rate risk. A change in interest rates would
have an impact on the profit before tax of the group as set out below. Policyholders funds are exposed to interest rate risk and the
capital loss on fixed rate instruments would be for the policyholders account as the liability is calculated with reference to the value of
the assets.
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
As the company and the group have entered into various loan and funding agreements, the table below reflects the equity holders’
exposure to interest rate risk. The effective interest rate method is used and an interest rate shock of 200bps applied to the underlying
interest rate. An increase or decrease in the market interest rate would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of
the group:
GROUP

R million
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities
– Preference shares
– Interest-bearing loans

COMPANY

200 bps
increase
2017

200 bps
decrease
2017

200 bps
increase
2016

200 bps
decrease
2016

200 bps
increase
2017

200 bps
decrease
2017

200 bps
increase
2016

200 bps
decrease
2016

*
*

*
*

*
–

*
–

*
–

*
–

*
–

*
–

(1)
(16)

1
16

–
–

–
1

(1)
(16)

1
16

–
–

–
1

* Amount less than R500 000.

OTHER PRICE RISK
Equity risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices,
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market.
The group has entered into certain equity investments (listed and unlisted) and equity derivative contracts which are exposed to the
value of the underlying security.
The table below reflects the equity holders’ exposure to equity price risk of these underlying securities. A hypothetical 10% increase or
decrease in the equity prices would result in the following changes in the profit before tax of the group:
GROUP

R million
Assets
Financial assets
– Listed shares
– Unlisted shares
Derivative financial instrument
Liabilities
Derivative financial instrument

10%
increase
2017

10%
decrease
2017

COMPANY

10%
increase
2016

10%
decrease
2016

10%
increase
2017

10%
decrease
2017

10%
increase
2016

10%
decrease
2016

21
12
10

(21)
(12)
(10)

12
–
10

(12)
–
(10)

21
–
10

(21)
–
(10)

12
–
10

(12)
–
(10)

(16)

16

(17)

17

(16)

16

(17)

17
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an
obligation. The key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:
X Loans and receivables;
X Cash and cash equivalents; and
X Derivative financial instruments.

No defaults were experienced on loans and receivables.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk. The creditworthiness of existing and potential exposures is monitored quarterly at the
board meeting. The table below provides information on the credit risk exposure by credit ratings at the year-end (if available):

R million
GROUP
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments

COMPANY
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments

BB+

Not rated

Balance
as at
30 June
2017

39
–
–

–
114
8

39
114
8

18
–
–

–
3
12

18
3
12

39

122

161

18

15

33

33
–
–

–
2
8

33
2
8

18
–
–

–
3
12

18
3
12

33

10

43

18

15

33

BBB-

Not rated

Balance
as at
30 June
2016

The ratings were obtained from Standard & Poor’s. The ratings are based on long-term investment horizons. Where long-term ratings are
not available, the financial instruments are categorised according to short-term ratings. The ratings are defined as follows:
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LONG-TERM INVESTMENT GRADE
BBBThe BBB- rating denotes expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is
considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic condition that
those rated AA or AAA. This is considered the lowest investment grade by market participants.
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BB+

An obligation rated ‘BB’ is less vulnerable to non-payment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing
uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligors’
inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

Not rated

The credit exposure for the assets listed above is considered acceptable by the board even though certain assets do
not have a formal rating.

LIQUIDITY RISK AND ASSET LIABILITY MATCHING
Liquidity risk is the risk that RMH will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. RMH’s liabilities are
matched by appropriate assets and it has significant liquid resources to cover its obligations. The group’s liquidity and ability to meet
cash calls are monitored quarterly at the board meeting. RMH is exposed to roll-over risk in the bracket of two to five years but the
board is comfortable with this risk, due to the liquidity of its investment in FirstRand and the implementation of a debt programme in
the current year.

26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
DEBT PROGRAMME
During the current year, RMH implemented a debt programme through its new wholly-owned subsidiary, RMH Treasury Company
Proprietary Limited.
The following is a summary of the significant features of the programme:
X The programme size was set at R15 billion. To increase the programme size, permission would be required from current funders.
X The programme contains the following significant redemption events:
– RMH decreases its shareholding in FirstRand to below 25.1%;
– Remgro decreases its shareholding in RMH to below 25%;
– RMH is delisted;
– The market capitalisation of RMH decrease by more than 60% in any rolling 12 month period;
– The market value to group debt ratio decreases to below 4 times;
– Change of control in RMH which requires a mandatory offer in terms of section 123 of the Companies Act; or
– RMH receives a qualified audit opinion.
X Funding provided under the debt programme carries a guarantee from RMH Asset Holding Proprietary Limited and RMH.

Contractual discounted cash flow analysis
R million
GROUP
As at 30 June 2017
Total assets
Total liabilities

0–6
months

492
(81)

7 – 12
months

–
–

2–5
years

8
(2 155)

Over
5 years

–
(6)

Nonfinancial

43 134
(11)

Total

43 634
(2 253)

NET LIQUIDITY GAP

411

–

(2 147)

(6)

43 123

41 381

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

411

411

(1 736)

(1 742)

41 381

41 381

–
–

12
(1 180)

39 316
(11)

39 573
(1 329)

As at 30 June 2016
Total assets
Total liabilities

245
(138)

NET GAP

107

–

(1 168)

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

107

107

(1 061)

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

R million
COMPANY
As at 30 June 2017
Total assets
Total liabilities

251
(999)

–
–
–

2–5
years

8
(1 204)

NET LIQUIDITY GAP

(748)

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

(748)

As at 30 June 2016
Total assets
Total liabilities

245
(138)

–
–

12
(1 180)

NET GAP

107

–

(1 168)

CUMULATIVE LIQUIDITY GAP

107

107

(1 061)

(748)

(1 196)
(1 944)

–
–
–
(1 061)
Over
5 years

–
–
–

39 305

38 244

38 244

38 244

Nonfinancial

Total

12 652
(11)

12 911
(2 214)

12 641

10 697

10 697

10 697

–
–

11 732
(11)

11 989
(1 329)

–

11 721

10 660

10 660

10 660

(1 944)

(1 061)
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
LIQUIDITY RISK AND ASSET LIABILITY MATCHING continued
Undiscounted cash flow analysis
R million
GROUP
As at 30 June 2017
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2016
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES

R million
COMPANY
As at 30 June 2017
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2016
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
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TOTAL LIABILITIES
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0–6
months

7 – 12
months

2–5
years

Total

98
–
–
81

78
–
–
–

2 445
6
1
–

2 621
6
1
81

179

78

2 452

2 709

42
–
–
62

41
–
–
–

1 216
29
10
–

1 299
29
10
62

104

41

1 255

1 400

0–6
months

7 – 12
months

2–5
years

Total

59
–
–
999

44
–
–
–

1 352
6
1
–

1 455
6
1
999

1 058

44

1 359

2 461

42
–
–
62

41
–
–
–

1 216
29
10
–

1 299
29
10
62

104

41

1 255

1 400

26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
RMH is not regulated and therefore does not have any regulatory capital requirements. RMH maintains a capital balance that will be
at least sufficient to meet obligations in the event of substantial deviations from the main risk assumptions affecting the RMH business.
This is used to determine required capital levels that will ensure sustained solvency within an acceptable confidence level.
RMH’s objectives when managing capital are:
X to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for equity holders and

benefits for other stakeholders; and
X to provide an adequate return to equity holders by pricing insurance commensurately with the level of risk.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Management regard share capital, share premium, retained earnings, contingency reserves, as well as a portion of the unrealised
profit in the listed associate as capital when managing capital and determining debt/equity ratios. During the year, the group’s
strategy remained unchanged.
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
The following table analyses the assets in the statement of financial position per category of financial instrument and therefore by
measurement basis and according to when the assets are expected to be realised.
Held-fortrading

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale
assets

Nonfinancial
instrument

Total
carrying
value

Current
assets

Noncurrent
assets

GROUP
As at 30 June 2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax asset
Taxation receivable
Investment in associates

–
–
211
8
–
–
–

39
114
–
–
–
5
–

–
–
123
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
4
–
43 130

39
114
334
8
4
5
43 130

39
50
334
–
4
5
–

–
64
–
8
–
–
43 130

TOTAL ASSETS

219

158

123

43 134

43 634

432

43 202

As at 30 June 2016
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Taxation receivable
Investment in associate

–
–
223
12
–
–

18
3
–
–
1
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

18
3
223
12
1
39 316

18
3
223
–
1
–

–
–
–
12
–
39 316

TOTAL ASSETS

235

22

–

39 316

39 573

245

39 328

Held-fortrading

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale
assets

Nonfinancial
instrument

Total
carrying
value

Current
assets

Noncurrent
assets

COMPANY
As at 30 June 2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Taxation receivable
Investment in subsidiaries

–
–
211
8
–
–

33
2
–
–
5
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
12 652

33
2
211
8
5
12 652

33
2
211
–
5
–

–
–
–
8
–
12 652

TOTAL ASSETS

219

40

–

12 652

12 911

251

12 660

As at 30 June 2016
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Taxation receivable
Investment in associate

–
–
223
12
–
–

18
3
–
–
1
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
11 732

18
3
223
12
1
11 732

18
3
223
–
1
–

–
–
–
12
–
11 732

TOTAL ASSETS

235

22

–

11 732

11 989

245

11 744

R million
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R million
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26. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISK continued
The following table analyses the liabilities in the statement of financial position per category of financial instrument and therefore by
measurement basis and according to when the liabilities are expected to be realised.

Held-fortrading

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Nonfinancial
instrument

Total
carrying
value

Current
liabilities

Noncurrent
liabilities

GROUP
As at 30 June 2017
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability

–
–
6
–
–

81
2 154
–
–
–

–
–
–
1
11

81
2 154
6
1
11

81
–
–
–
–

–
2 154
6
1
11

TOTAL LIABILITIES

R million

6

2 235

12

2 253

81

2 172

As at 30 June 2016
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability

–
–
–
29
–
–

62
–
1 218
–
–
–

–
1
–
–
10
9

62
1
1 218
29
10
9

62
1
–
–
–
–

–
–
1 218
29
10
9

TOTAL LIABILITIES

29

1 280

20

1 329

63

1 266

Held-fortrading

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Nonfinancial
instrument

Total
carrying
value

Current
liabilities

Noncurrent
liabilities

COMPANY
As at 30 June 2017
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability

–
–
6
–
–

999
1 197
–
–
–

–
–
–
1
11

999
1 197
6
1
11

999
–
–
–
–

–
1 197
6
1
11

TOTAL LIABILITIES

6

2 196

12

2 214

999

1 215

As at 30 June 2016
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability

–
–
–
29
–
–

62
–
1 218
–
–
–

–
1
–
–
10
9

62
1
1 218
29
10
9

62
1
–
–
–
–

–
–
1 218
29
10
9

TOTAL LIABILITIES

29

1 280

20

1 329

63

1 266

R million
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IBC

“Price is what you pay.
Value is what you get.”
WARREN BUFFETT

Sizwe Khoza
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Shareholding

The first meeting, 2017
Monotype print

SHAREHOLDING
As at 30 June 2017
Number of
shareholders
Analysis of shareholding
Major shareholders (owners) holding more than 5%
Financial Securities Limited (Remgro)
Royal Bafokeng Holdings
Public Investment Commissioner
LL Dippenaar (direct and indirect)

1
1
1
1

As at 30 June 2016

Shares held
(000's)

%

Number of
shareholders

397
211
115
75

448
755
225
329

28
15
8
5

1
1
1
1

Shares held
(000's)

%

397
211
111
75

448
755
400
329

28
15
8
5

Shareholders holding less than 5% each

4
31 744

799 757
611 946

56
44

4
31 571

795 932
615 771

56
44

TOTAL

31 748

1 411 703

100

31 575

1 411 703

100

609 203
218 233
170 876
49 086
16 116
348 189

43
16
12
3
1
25

609 203
191 449
166 652
49 923
17 555
376 921

43
13
12
4
1
27

1 411 703

100

1 411 703

100

31 738

662 962

47

31 565

662 962

47

2
8

609 203
139 538

43
10

2
8

609 203
139 538

43
10

31 748

1 411 703

100

31 575

1 411 703

100

South Africa
International

1 195 838
215 865

85
15

1 221 787
199 916

86
14

TOTAL

1 411 703

100

1 411 703

100

Shareholder type
Corporates
Unit trusts
Pension funds
Private investors
Insurance companies and banks
Other
TOTAL
Public and non-public shareholders
Public
Non-public
– Corporates (Remgro and Royal Bafokeng Holdings)
– Directors and associates
TOTAL

The information above is extracted from the shareholder analysis provided by Orient Capital.
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PERFORMANCE ON THE JSE LIMITED
Number of shares in issue (000's)
Market price (cents)
Closing*
High**
Low**
Weighted average **
Closing price/net asset value per share*
Closing price/earnings (Headline)*
Volumes of shares traded (millions)**

2017

2016

1 411 703

1 411 703

5
6
5
6

5
7
4
5

875
800
300
146
2.0
10.5

625
112
821
985
2.1
10.6

511

593

Value of shares traded (R Million)**

31 393

35 512

Market capitalisation (R millions)*

82 938

79 408

* as at 30 June
** for the year ended 30 June

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY
REPORTING
INTERIM RESULTS
Announcement for the six months ending 31 December 2017
FINAL RESULTS
Announcement for the year ending 30 June 2018
Posting of annual integrated report
Annual general meeting

Early March 2018

Early September 2018
End of October 2018
End of November 2018

2017
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DIVIDENDS
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INTERIM DIVIDEND
Declared
Paid
FINAL DIVIDEND
Declared
Paid

Early March 2018
Early April 2018

Early September 2018
Early October 2018

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
This document (which is available in English only) is important and requires your immediate attention. The action you need to take is set out
in this notice. If you are in any doubt as to what action to take, please consult your broker, attorney or other professional advisor immediately.
RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1987/005115/06
Share code: RMH ISIN: ZAE000024501
(RMH or the company)
Notice is hereby given to the holders of ordinary shares in the company (shareholders), in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies Act, 71
of 2008, (Companies Act), that the thirtieth annual general meeting of the ordinary shareholders of RMH will be held in the boardroom,
4th Floor, 2 Merchant Place, Corner Rivonia Road and Fredman Drive Sandton, 2196 on Wednesday, 22 November 2017 at 10:00 to consider
and, if approved, pass the following resolutions with or without modification.
The record date in terms of section 59 of the Companies Act for shareholders to be recorded in the securities register of the company
in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 17 November 2017. Accordingly, the last day
to trade in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the annual general meeting is Tuesday, 14 November 2017. This notice
will be sent to all shareholders who are recorded as such in the company’s securities register on Friday, 13 October 2017.

AGENDA
1.

PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The presentation of the audited consolidated and separate annual financial statements (as approved by the board of directors of
the company), including the reports of the external auditor, audit and risk committee and directors for the financial year ended
30 June 2017, all of which are included in the 2017 annual integrated report, of which this notice forms a part (annual integrated
report) in accordance with section 30(3)(d) of the Companies Act.
Shareholders are referred to page 63 of the annual integrated report for the report from
the social, ethics and transformation committee of RMH.

2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS NUMBER 1.1 – 1.5
Re-election of directors
To re-elect, by way of separate ordinary resolutions, the following directors, who retire in terms of the company’s memorandum of
incorporation (MOI) and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the Companies Act and the MOI.

2.1

Jan Jonathan (Jannie) Durand (50)
Deputy chairman and non-executive director
Date of appointment: 17 September 2012
Educational qualifications: BAcc (Hons) MPhil (Oxford) CA(SA)
Listed directorships: Capevin Limited, Distell Group Limited, FirstRand Limited, Mediclinic International Limited, RCL Foods Limited, Rand
Merchant Investment Holdings Limited and Remgro Limited.

2.2

Peter Cooper (61)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 11 September 2014
Educational qualifications: BCom (Hons) CA(SA)
Listed directorships: Imperial Holdings Limited, MMI Holdings Limited and Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited.

2.3

Lauritz Lanser (Laurie) Dippenaar (68)
Non-executive director
Date of appointment: 12 November 1987
Educational qualifications: MCom CA(SA)
Listed directorships: FirstRand Limited and Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited.
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2.4

Per-Erik (Per) Lagerström (53)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 30 June 2014
Educational qualifications: BSc (Accounting) MSc (Economics) (London School of Economics)
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Investment Holding Limited.

2.5

Mafison Murphy (Murphy) Morobe Diploma in Project Management (60)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 30 June 2014
Educational qualifications: MCEF (Princeton)
Listed directorships: Remgro Limited and Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolutions number 1.1 – 1.5
A brief CV of each of the persons mentioned above appears on pages 52
to 57 of the annual integrated report.

3.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Place 5% (five percent) of the authorised ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Resolved as an ordinary resolution that 5% (five percent) of the authorised ordinary shares in the company, which equates to
100 000 000 ordinary shares as at the date of this notice of annual general meeting, be and are hereby placed under the control of
the directors as a general authority until the forthcoming annual general meeting and that the directors be and are hereby authorised
to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such shares to such person or persons upon such terms and conditions as the directors in their
discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements, if and to the extent applicable.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 2
Shareholders should note that 5% (five percent) or 100 000 000 of the company’s authorised ordinary shares represents approximately
7.1% (seven point one percent) of the issued ordinary shares, calculated as at the date of this notice of annual general meeting. As at
30 June 2017 7.1% (seven point one percent) was valued at approximately R5.9 billion. The directors have no current plans to make use
of this authority, but are seeking its renewal to ensure that the company has flexibility in managing the group’s capital resources.

4.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 (SUBJECT TO THE PASSING OF ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2)
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Resolved as an ordinary resolution , subject to ordinary resolution number 2 being passed that the board of directors of the company
be and are hereby authorised, by way of a renewable general authority, to issue those ordinary shares (including securities convertible
into ordinary shares and/or options over ordinary shares) in the share capital of the company under the control of the directors for
cash as and when they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements, if and to
the extent applicable, and provided that:
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X this authority shall be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting or for 15 (fifteen) months from the date of this
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resolution, whichever period is shorter;
X the ordinary shares must be issued to public shareholders as such term is defined by the JSE Listings Requirements and not to related

parties;
X securities which are the subject of the general issue of shares for cash may not exceed 100 000 000 ordinary shares, being 7.1%

(seven point one percent) of the number of listed equity securities of the company as at the date of this notice of annual general
meeting, provided that:
– any equity securities issued under this authority during the period must be deducted from the number above;
– in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued equity securities during the period contemplated above, the existing
authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio; and
– the calculation of the listed equity securities is a factual assessment of the listed equity securities as at the date of the notice
of annual general meeting, excluding treasury shares;

X in determining the price at which an issue of shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount at which the

ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of the company’s ordinary shares
measured over 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the
company and the party subscribing for the securities;
X a paid press announcement giving full details, will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within
the period of this authority, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to that issue, in terms of the JSE
Listings Requirements; and
X any such general issue is subject to exchange control regulations and approval at that time (if and to the extent applicable).
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 3
Approval for this ordinary resolution is obtained by achieving a 75% (seventy five percent) majority of the votes cast in favour of this
resolution at the annual general meeting by all equity security holders entitled to vote thereon and present or represented by proxy.
5.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Approval of re-appointment of auditor
Resolved as an ordinary resolution that, as nominated by the audit and risk committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. be re-appointed
as auditor of the company for the financial year ending 30 June 2018 and until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
and that their remuneration for the financial year ending 30 June 2018 be determined by the audit and risk committee.

6.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS NUMBER 5.1 – 5.3
Election of the company’s audit and risk committee members
Resolved, by way of separate ordinary resolutions, that in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the following persons, who are
independent non-executive directors of the company, be and are hereby elected as members of the audit and risk committee with
effect from the end of this annual general meeting:

6.1

Jan Willem Dreyer (66)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 19 October 1987
Educational qualifications: BCom, LLB, HDip Co Law, HDip Tax
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited.

6.2

Sonja Emilia Ncumisa De Bruyn Sebotsa (45)
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 15 February 2008
Educational qualifications: LLB (Hons), LSE, MA (McGill), SFA (UK), Executive Leadership Programme (Harvard)
Listed directorships: Aquarius Platinum Limited (chairperson), Discovery Limited, Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited and
Remgro Limited.

6.3

Per-Erik Lagerström (53) [Subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 1.4]
Independent non-executive director
Date of appointment: 30 June 2014
Educational qualifications: BSc (Accounting), MSc (Economics)(London School of Economics)
Listed directorships: Rand Merchant Investment Holdings Limited.
Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 5.1 – 5.3
A brief CV of each of the persons mentioned above appears on pages 52
to 57 of the annual integrated report.
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7.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration with effect from 1 December 2017
Resolved as a special resolution that in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the following remuneration (excluding valueadded tax) of the non-executive directors for their services as directors of the company from 1 December 2017, as set out below,
be and is hereby approved:
Per annum
Board (4 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Director
Ad hoc meetings (per hour)
Audit and risk committee (2 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Member
Social, ethics and transformation committee (2 meetings per annum)
– Chairman
– Member

R340 200
R170 700
R4 100
R85 200
R42 600
R16 400
R13 100

The reason for special resolution number 1 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive directors, effective from
1 December 2017.
8.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
General authority to repurchase company shares
Resolved as a special resolution that the acquisition by the company, and/or any subsidiary of the company, from time-to-time of the
issued ordinary shares of the company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the company may
from time-to-time determine, be and is hereby authorised, but subject to the MOI, the Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements,
if and to the extent applicable, and provided that:
X this authority shall be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond fifteen (15)

months from the date of passing this special resolution;
X any such repurchase be effected through the order book operated by the JSE Limited trading system and done without any prior

understanding or agreement between the company and the counterparty (reported trades are prohibited);
X a paid press release, giving such details as may be required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, be published when the
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company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the initial number of the relevant class of shares,
and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter;
a general repurchase may not in the aggregate in any one financial year exceed 10% (ten percent) of the number of shares in the
company’s issued share capital as at the beginning of the financial year, provided that subsidiaries of the company may not at any
one time hold more than 10% (ten percent) in aggregate of the number of issued shares of the company;
no repurchases will be effected during a prohibited period unless there is in place a repurchase programme where the dates and
quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any variation) and details thereof have
been submitted to the JSE Limited in writing. In this regard, the company will instruct an independent third party, which makes its
investment decisions in relation to the company’s securities independently of, and uninfluenced by, the company, prior to the
commencement of the prohibited period to execute the repurchase programme submitted to the JSE Limited;
at any point in time, the company may only appoint one agent to effect repurchases on the company’s behalf;
a resolution has been passed by the board of directors of the company authorising the repurchase, and the company and its
subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity test as set out in section 4 of the Companies Act and that, since the application
of the solvency and liquidity test, there have been no material changes to the financial position of the company and the group;
in determining the price at which shares may be repurchased in terms of this authority, the maximum premium permitted will be 10%
(ten percent) above the weighted average traded price of the ordinary shares as determined over the five (5) days prior to the
date of repurchase; and
any such general repurchase is subject to exchange control regulations and approvals at the point in time, if and to the extent
applicable.

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 2
The board has no immediate intention to use this authority to repurchase company shares. However, the board is of the opinion that
this authority should be in place should it become appropriate to undertake a share repurchase in the future.
After having considered the effect on the company of the repurchase contemplated under this general authority, the directors are of
the opinion that, and undertake that they will not commence a general repurchase of shares as contemplated above, unless the
following can be met:
X the company and the group will, in the ordinary course of business, be able to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the date

of the repurchase;
X the assets of the company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the company and its subsidiaries for a period of 12

months after the date of the repurchase. For this purpose, the assets and liabilities will be recognised and measured in accordance
with the accounting policies used in the audited consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017;
X the company’s and the group’s ordinary share capital and reserves will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of
12 months following the date of the repurchase; and
X the company and the group will, after such repurchase, have sufficient working capital for ordinary business purposes for a period of
12 months following the date of the repurchase.
For purposes of considering this special resolution and in compliance with section 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the
information listed below has been included in the annual integrated report in the places indicated:
1. Major shareholders – refer page 70;
2. There have been no material changes in the financial and trading position of the company that have occurred since the end of
the last financial period for which audited annual financial statements have been published, as set out in the annual integrated
report, of which this notice forms part;
3. Share capital of the company – refer page 70;
The directors, whose names are given in on pages 52 to 57 of this annual integrated report, collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in these notes 1 to 3 and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement in these notes 1 to 3 false or misleading, and that all
reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the notice contains all information required by law and the
JSE Listings Requirements.
9.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Issue of shares or options to persons listed in section 41(1) of the Companies Act for the purposes of participation
in a reinvestment option
Resolved, as a special resolution, that if and to the extent required in terms of section 41(1) of the Companies Act, but subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the company be and are hereby
authorised, as and when they deem appropriate, to allot and issue shares (including securities convertible into shares and/or options
over shares) to directors, future directors, prescribed officers, future prescribed officers, persons related or inter-related to the company,
or a director or a prescribed officer of the company and/or a nominee of any of the aforementioned persons, for the purpose of
affording such persons (as shareholders of the company) an opportunity to participate alongside the company’s other shareholders in
a reinvestment option or similar corporate action from time to time pursuant to which each of them may elect to reinvest all or part of
their dividends in new shares of the company (including securities convertible into shares and/or options over shares).
Additional information in respect of special resolution number 3
The reason for special resolution number 3 is to enable the company to extend an offer, pursuant to a reinvestment option or similar
corporate action, to the class of persons contemplated in section 41(1) of the Companies Act (which includes directors, prescribed
officers, persons related or inter-related to the company and/or a nominee of any of such persons). Absent the authorisation
contemplated in terms of the resolution, such persons would not be eligible to participate – as a shareholder of the company – in a
reinvestment option or similar opportunity made available to the company’s shareholders.
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10.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Financial assistance to directors, prescribed officers, employee share scheme beneficiaries and related or inter-related companies
Resolved, as a special resolution of the company in terms of section 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, that the directors of the
company may, subject to compliance with the requirements of the MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE, when applicable, each as
presently constituted and as amended from time to time during the 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special resolution,
authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance (as contemplated in sections 44 and 45 of the Companies
Act) to, inter alia, any present or future director or prescribed officer of the company or corporation which is related or inter-related to
the company (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act) on such term and conditions as the directors of the company determine,
provided that nothing in this approval will limit the provision by the company of financial assistance that does not require approval by
way of special resolution of the ordinary shareholders in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act or falls within the
exemptions contained in these sections.
Additional information in respect of special resolution number 4
The reason for special resolution number 4 is to grant the directors of the company the authority required by the Companies Act to
provide direct or indirect financial assistance through inter alia the lending of money, guaranteeing of a loan or other obligation and
securing any debt or obligation, to its subsidiaries, associates and inter-related parties of the company.

11.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Adoption of a new MOI
Resolved, as a special resolution in accordance with section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act, that the revised MOI, in the form of the
draft tabled at this annual general meeting and initialled by the chairman of the meeting for the purposes of identification, be and is
hereby adopted in substitution for and to the exclusion of the entire current MOI, with effect from the date on which the amended
MOI is filed with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission in accordance with requirements of section 16(9) of the
Companies Act.
The purpose of this proposed special resolution number 5 is the following:
X to align the requirements for the issue of shares and securities with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings

Requirements;
X to provide a more comprehensive list of instances in which new equity securities are not required to be issued pro rata to the

existing holding of equity securities in the company;
X to make the provisions regulating pre-emptive offers also applicable to the issue of a class of authorised equity securities which

have not been issued previously;
X to provide that the directors of the company may authorise and issue capitalisation shares on a pro rata basis to the company’s

shareholders;
X to bring the MOI in line with recent judicial pronouncements in respect of the delivery and validity of proxy forms; and
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X to allow, provide for and regulate odd-lots and odd-lots offers.
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The effect of special resolution number 5 will be to replace the company’s existing MOI with the proposed new MOI referred to in
special resolution number 5.

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 5
Sections 16(1)(c)(ii) and 16(5)(a) of the Companies Act provides that a company’s MOI may be amended at any time if a special
resolution to amend it is adopted at a shareholders’ meeting. The amendment may take the form of a new MOI in substitution for the
existing MOI.
The amended new MOI has been approved by the board and JSE Limited and the board’s intention is for the shareholders to pass a
special resolution adopting the new MOI in substitution for the existing MOI.
In compliance with section 65(4) of the Companies Act, an explanatory note identifying the salient differences between the current
MOI and the proposed MOI is contained on page 138. As the aforementioned explanatory note is not an exhaustive list of the
differences between the current MOI and the proposed MOI, shareholders are advised to review the current MOI and proposed MOI
prior to this annual general meeting. Both the current MOI and the proposed MOI will be available for inspection from the date of issue
of the notice to the date of the annual general meeting, at the company’s registered office (3rd floor, 2 Merchant Place, corner
Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton), during normal business hours from the date of issue of this notice of annual general
meeting up to and including Wednesday, 22 November 2017 or on the company’s website, being www.rmh.co.za.
Special resolution number 5 is proposed to enable the company to adopt a new MOI to more closely align with the requirements of
the JSE Listings Requirements and any applicable legislation. The principal changes being proposed in the proposed MOI are
summarised on page 138. The proposed MOI will substitute the company’s current MOI in its entirety.
The percentage of voting rights required for this special resolution number 5 to be adopted is at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the
voting rights exercised on the resolution.
A copy of the new MOI is available on the company’s website www.rmh.co.za or can be obtained from the company
secretary by email at company.secretary@rmbh.co.za.
12.

TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT MAY BE TRANSACTED AT AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Approvals required for resolutions
Ordinary resolutions number 1.1 – 1.5, 2, 4, and 5.1 – 5.3 contained in this notice of annual general meeting require the approval of
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on each resolution by shareholders present, or represented by proxy, at the annual
general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 3 (general authority to issue shares for cash) and special resolutions number 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 contained in
this notice of annual general meeting require the approval of at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the votes exercised on each
resolution by shareholders present, or represented by proxy, at the annual general meeting.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING ATTENDANCE AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
GENERAL
Shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting have to ensure beforehand with the transfer secretaries of the company that
their shares are in fact registered in their name.
CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration are entitled
to attend and vote at the meeting and are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in their stead. The person
so appointed need not be a shareholder. It is requested that proxy forms be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries,
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited at 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or at fax number
011 688 5238 and be received by them, for administrative purposes, no later than 09:00 on Monday, 20 November 2017. Any forms of proxy not
submitted by this time may nevertheless be submitted to the transfer secretaries before the meeting or handed to the chairman of the
annual general prior to the shareholder exercising any rights of a shareholder at the annual general meeting.
DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than those members who have dematerialised their shares with “own name”
registration, should contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker in the manner and time stipulated in their
agreement:
X to furnish them with their voting instructions; and
X in the event that they wish to attend the meeting, to obtain the necessary authority to do so.

Voting will be by way of a poll and every shareholder of the company present, whether in person or represented by proxy, shall have one
vote for every share held in the company by such shareholder.
Shares held by a share trust or scheme, treasury shares and unlisted shares will not have their votes at the annual general meeting taken into
account for the purposes of any resolution proposed in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.
ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the annual general meeting by way of a teleconference call, provided that if they wish to do
so they must contact the company secretary by email at company.secretary@rmbh.co.za by no later than 17h00 on 20 November 2017 in
order to obtain a PIN number and dial-in details for that conference call.
Voting by way of teleconference call will only be permitted if the applicable shareholder is represented by a proxy who is physically present
at the meeting and in respect of whom a proxy form has been duly submitted in accordance with the provisions contained in this notice of
annual general meeting.
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Shareholders wishing to participate in this manner are reminded that they will be billed separately by their respective telephone service
providers.
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PROOF OF IDENTIFICATION REQUIRED
Kindly note that, in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, participants at the meeting (including shareholders and proxies) will be
required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification, and the person presiding at the annual general meeting must be reasonably
satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether as a shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably
verified, before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting.
Acceptable forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
In compliance with the provisions of section 58(8)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, a summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by
proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act, is set out below –
X A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint any individual (or two or more individuals) as a

X
X
X
X

X

proxy or as proxies to attend, participate in and vote at the annual general meeting in the place of the shareholder. A proxy need not be
a shareholder of the company.
A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing the proxy, and, subject to the rights of a
shareholder to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the annual general meeting.
A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions set out in the
instrument appointing the proxy.
The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses to act
directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.
The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question by cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the company. The revocation of a proxy
appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of
(a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the company
as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.
If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any
notice that is required by the Companies Act or the MOI to be delivered by the company to the shareholder, must be delivered by the
company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid
any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.
Attention is also drawn to the instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy on page 144.

By order of the board of directors

Ellen Marais
Company secretary
25 October 2017
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EXPLANATORY NOTE REGARDING SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
IDENTIFYING THE SALIENT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE CURRENT MOI AND THE PROPOSED MOI
The explanatory table below is to be read with the special resolution for the approval and adoption of the proposed MOI, which shall be
tabled at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 22 November 2017 (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), and
which seeks to identify some of the salient amendments made to the existing MOI in order to align more closely with the provisions of the
Companies Act, and all relevant provisions of the Listings Requirements and to provide the board of directors with more flexibility in managing
the capital structure of the group.
This table has been compiled, in compliance with provisions of section 65(4) of the Companies Act, to highlight only the salient differences
between the current MOI and the proposed amendments to the company’s MOI as embodied in the new MOI. Nonetheless, all shareholders
are advised to conduct their own review of the current MOI and the proposed MOI before voting on the adoption of new MOI, as this table is
not an exhaustive list of the differences between the current MOI and the proposed MOI but merely sets out the salient differences between
the two.
Accordingly, this document must be read in conjunction with the current MOI and the proposed MOI. Both the current MOI and the proposed
MOI will be available for inspection from the date of issue of this notice to the date of the annual general meeting, being Wednesday,
22 November 2017, at both (i) the registered office of the company during office hours, being the 3rd Floor, 2 Merchant Place, Corner
Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196 and (ii) on the company’s website, being www.rmh.co.za
CLAUSE

SUBJECT

EXISTING REGIME IN
THE CURRENT MOI

PROPOSED REGIME IN NEW MOI

1.2.6
1.2.7
1.2.7.1
1.2.7.2
1.2.8
1.2.9

Companies Act and
JSE Listings
Requirements

New clauses
1.2.6 to 1.2.9
proposed.

1.2.6 each provision and each sentence and each part of a sentence in this
Memorandum of Incorporation is separate and severable from each other,
and to the extent any provision or sentence or part thereof is found to be
illegal or unenforceable or inconsistent with or contravenes any provision of
the Companies Act and/or the JSE Listings Requirements, or void,
such may to that extent only be modified or severed from this
Memorandum of Incorporation, so that the remaining part of that
provision or sentence or part thereof, as the case may be, is legal,
enforceable or consistent with or does not contravene the Companies
Act and/or the JSE Listings Requirements or is not void;
1.2.7 if any provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation imposes any
obligation or requirement pursuant only to the JSE Listings Requirements,
then:
1.2.7.1 unless the Company is a “listed company” as such term is defined
in the JSE Listings Requirements, any such provision shall be deemed not
to apply to the Company; and
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1.2.7.2 insofar as the JSE exempts or no longer requires compliance with
such obligation or requirements, the obligation shall be deemed to have
been complied with;
1.2.8 if any provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation limits, restricts
or prohibits any power or authority of the Company or the Board pursuant
only to the JSE Listings Requirements, then insofar as such limitation,
restriction or prohibition is waived, relaxed, repealed or amended by the
JSE, the power or authority shall be deemed not to be subject to such
limitation, restriction or prohibition to the extent of such waiver, relaxation,
repeal or amendment without anything further being required;

2017

1.2.9 if any provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation has been
inserted to comply with a then applicable provision of the JSE Listings
Requirements, which is subsequently removed or modified, the provision in
question shall no longer apply as if the relevant provision has been
removed or shall apply as modified in the JSE Listings Requirements;
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Old clauses
1.2.6 to 1.2.9
renumbered.

1.2.10 – 1.2.13

CLAUSE

SUBJECT

EXISTING REGIME IN
THE CURRENT MOI

PROPOSED REGIME IN NEW MOI

7.7

Issue of shares and
variation of rights

Replaced old clauses
7.7 to 7.8 with new
clauses 7.7 to 7.11.

7.7 As regards the issue of Shares or Securities convertible into Shares,
including options in respect thereof:

Renumbered clauses
7.6 as 7.12.
Deleted old clauses
7.10 to 7.12.

7.7.1 that require the approval of Shareholders by way of a special
resolution as contemplated in sections 41(1) and/or (3) of the Companies
Act or as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors
shall not have the power to allot or issue same without the prior approval
of a special resolution of Shareholders;
7.7.2 that require the approval of Shareholders by way of an ordinary
resolution in terms of the Companies Act or the JSE Listings Requirements,
the Directors shall not have the power to allot or issue same, without the
prior approval of an ordinary resolution of Shareholders;
7.7.3 other than as contemplated in clauses 7.7.1 and 7.7.2, the Directors
shall have the power to allot and issue same, without any Shareholder
approval, provided that the JSE has, to the extent required, granted the
requisite consent to the listing of such Securities and such issue is made
subject to, and in accordance with, the JSE Listings Requirements, where
applicable (including all issues of Shares for cash and all issues of options
and convertible Securities granted or issued for cash).
7.8 In the event that the Company proposes to issue any equity Securities
(or options over equity Securities) other than in respect of the following
instances (it being recorded that, notwithstanding any other provision to
the contrary in this Memorandum of Incorporation, each of the instances
set out in clauses 7.8.1 to 7.8.11 shall not require Shareholder approval, or
further Shareholder approval, as applicable):
7.8.1 Shares issued for cash pursuant to a general or specific approval
given by the Shareholders in general meeting;
7.8.2 Shares issued in accordance with, or pursuant to, an authority
approved by Shareholders;
7.8.3 Shares issued in terms of options or conversion rights, provided that
such options or conversion rights have been previously approved, to the
extent necessary;
7.8.4 Shares issued in terms of a rights offer to be undertaken by the
Company;
7.8.5 Shares to be held under an employee share scheme in terms of
section 97 of the Companies Act, a share incentive scheme which
complies with the provisions of Schedule 14 of the JSE Listings
Requirements or any other employee share option or incentive scheme,
provided that such issue of shares was previously approved, to the extent
required;
7.8.6 the issue of capitalisation Shares as contemplated in section 47 of
the Companies Act;
7.8.7 Shares issued in terms of an election by Shareholders to reinvest the
proceeds of a distribution (including a dividend) or pursuant to an
analogous process;
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CLAUSE

SUBJECT

EXISTING REGIME IN
THE CURRENT MOI

PROPOSED REGIME IN NEW MOI

7.8.8 Shares issued pursuant to a scrip dividend, as contemplated by the
JSE Listings Requirements;
7.8.9 Shares issued for the acquisition of assets, as a vendor consideration
placing directly or indirectly related to an acquisition of assets, or for the
purposes of an amalgamation or merger;
7.8.10 Shares issued or to be issued as consideration for any assets,
corporeal or incorporeal, or for services rendered; or
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7.8.11 the Shares issue otherwise falls within a category in respect of
which it is not, in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a requirement for
the relevant Shares to be so offered to existing Shareholders,
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each Shareholder already holding issued equity Securities in the class of
equity Securities proposed to be issued has the right, before any other
person who is not a holder of that class of equity Securities, to be offered,
on such terms and in compliance with such procedures as the Board may
determine, to subscribe for, that number of equity Securities proposed to
be issued which in relation to the total number of equity Securities
proposed to be issued bears (as close as possible) the same ratio (as
determined by the Board) as the number of equity Securities in that class
already registered in the holder’s name at the time of such offer bears to
the then total number of issued equity Securities in that class, calculated
at the time the offer was made, provided that if any entitlement to a
fraction of an equity Security pursuant to such an offer, all allocations of
Securities will be calculated in accordance with the then prevailing JSE
Listings Requirements. After the expiration of the time within which an offer
may be accepted, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to
whom the offer is made that he declines to accept the equity Security so
offered, the Directors may, subject to the aforegoing provisions, issue such
equity Security in such manner as they consider most beneficial to the
Company. The Directors may exclude any Shareholders or category of
Shareholders who are resident outside of the Republic from an offer
contemplated in this clause 7.8. if and to the extent that they consider it
necessary or expedient to do so because of legal impediments or
compliance with the laws or the requirements of any jurisdiction and/or
regulatory body of any territory, outside of the Republic, that may be
applicable to the offer arising from or in connection with the participation
(or potential participation) of the relevant Shareholder or category of
Shareholder.
7.9 The provisions of clause 7.8 will apply mutatis mutandis to a class of
authorised equity Securities (if applicable) which have not been issued,
based on the percentage voting rights which that Shareholder has in
relation to the aggregate general voting rights, calculated at the time the
offer was made.
7.10 The Company may apply to the Commission to exclude from any
rights offer any category of holders of the Company’s Securities who are
not resident within the Republic, in terms of section 99(7).
7.11 Notwithstanding clause 7.10, any pro rata offer of any Securities to
any person shall be subject to the possible exclusion of any persons who
are prohibited by any law of any country to whose jurisdiction they are
subject, from participation in that offer.

CLAUSE

SUBJECT

EXISTING REGIME IN
THE CURRENT MOI

PROPOSED REGIME IN NEW MOI

14

Capitalisation shares

Amended paragraph
14.1.1

the Board, by resolution, may approve the issue of any authorised Shares
as capitalisation Shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders of one or
more classes of Shares and, to this end, may resolve to capitalise all or
any part of the amount for the time being standing to the credit of any of
the Company’s reserves or of any share premium account or capital
redemption reserve fund or to the credit of the income statement or
otherwise available for distribution and not required for the payment of
dividends on any preference shares of the Company

Amended paragraph
14.3

Replaced the word “distribution” with “issue”

New clause 19.5
proposed.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Memorandum
of Incorporation, including this clause 19 and clauses 20 to 22, the
requirements for convening and holding meetings in respect of Securities
other than Shares, including location, notices, notice periods, requisition
rights, quorum provisions, adjournment, proxies, voting rights and voting
percentages for adoption of resolutions, shall be in accordance with the
specific terms and conditions, if any, set out in the document(s) in terms of
which such Securities are issued, insofar as such terms and conditions
amend the relevant provisions of the Companies Act and to the extent
such amendments are permissible in terms of the Companies Act.

19

Shareholders
meetings

Old clauses 19.5 to
19.24 renumbered.

22

Proxies and
representatives

Clause 22.3.4

amended to delete the 48 (forty eight) hours or lesser period as
determined by Directors

Clause 22.3.5

amended to delete the 48 (forty eight) hours or lesser period as
determined by Directors.

Clause 22.3.6

amended to delete the 48 (forty eight) hours or lesser period as
determined by Directors

Clause 22.4
Clause 22.5

renumbered to 22.4
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CLAUSE

SUBJECT

EXISTING REGIME IN
THE CURRENT MOI

PROPOSED REGIME IN NEW MOI

38

Odd-lots

Inserted detail on how
the company will deal
with Odd-lots;
previously the MOI
was silent on Odd-lots.

38.1 For purposes hereof:
38.1.1 “Odd-lot” means any total holding by a Shareholder (which for the
purposes of this clause 38 shall include a dematerialised Shareholder
without “own-name registration”) that holds the Shares through a
nominee in accordance with the rules and procedures of Strate
Proprietary Limited of less than 100 Shares (or such other number as may
be permitted by the JSE), or any total holding of less than 100 Securities
(or such other number as may be permitted by the JSE) or a minimum
number of Securities with an aggregate nominal value of less than
R100.00 (or such other rand amount as may be permitted by the JSE);
and
38.1.2 “Odd-lot Offer” means an offer by the Company, or its nominee
(which for the avoidance of doubt shall include any of the Company’s
subsidiaries from time to time) to the holders of Odd-lots in terms of which
the holders of the Odd-lots may elect to retain their holdings or sell their
Odd-lots, subject to the JSE Listings Requirements to the extent applicable.
38.2 The Company, or its nominee, may make and implement Odd-lot
Offers on such terms and conditions as the Board may determine, in
accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements or as otherwise permitted
by the JSE; and if it does so and any Shareholder or holder of Securities
who qualifies to participate in that Odd-lot Offer does not elect any of
the election alternatives (namely to retain their Odd-lots or to sell their
Odd-lots) in accordance with the terms of the Odd-lot Offer, such holder
(and any person with a beneficial interest in such Odd-lots) shall be
deemed to have agreed to sell Odd-lots, and the Company or its
nominee, as the case may be, shall be entitled (on implementation of the
Odd-lot Offer) to cause the Odd-lots to be sold on behalf of such persons
to any party (including the Company) on such terms and conditions as
the Board may determine; provided that the Company shall account to
the registered holders, after deducting the costs of the sales, if any, for the
remaining proceeds attributable to them pursuant to the sale of such
Odd-lots.
38.3 The Company shall be obliged to hold all moneys due to
Shareholders in trust indefinitely, but subject to the laws of prescription.
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38 – 43
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Renumbered clauses 38 to 43 to 39 to 44 due to new clause 38.

FORM OF PROXY
Only for use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration.

RMB HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1987/005115/06
Share code: RMH ISIN: ZAE000024501
(RMH or the company)
For use by shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares but with “own name” registration, at the annual general
meeting to be held at 10:00 on Wednesday, 22 November 2017, in the boardroom, 4th Floor, 2 Merchant Place, Corner Rivonia Road and Fredman Drive, Sandton,
2196, and at any adjournment thereof.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, other than with “own name” registration, must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or
broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend or they must
provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person.
I/We, the undersigned (name)
of (address)
and (contact number)
the registered holder of
ordinary shares in RMB Holdings Limited (Registration number 1987/005115/06), hereby appoint
1.

, of

or failing him

2.

, of

or failing him

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to be present and act on my/our behalf, speak and on a poll, vote on my/our behalf as indicated
below at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the company to be held at 10:00 on Wednesday, 22 November 2017 and at any adjournment thereof as
follows: (see note 2)
In favour of

Against

Abstain

Ordinary resolutions number 1.1 – 1.5
Re-election of directors:
1.1 Jan Jonathan (Jannie) Durand
1.2 Peter Cooper
1.3 Lauritz Lanser (Laurie) Dippenaar
1.4 Per-Erik (Per) Lagerström
1.5 Mafison Murphy (Murphy) Morobe
Ordinary resolution number 2
Place 5% of the authorised ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Ordinary resolution number 3
General authority to issue ordinary shares for cash
Ordinary resolution number 4
Approval of re-appointment of auditor
Ordinary resolutions number 5.1 – 5.3
Election of the company’s audit and risk committee members:
5.1 Jan Willem Dreyer
5.2 Sonja Emilia Ncumisa De Bruyn Sebotsa
5.3 Per-Erik Lagerström
Special resolution number 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration with effect from 1 December 2017
Special resolution number 2
General authority to repurchase company shares
Special resolution number 3
Issue of shares, convertible securities and/or options to persons listed in section 41(1) of the Companies Act for the
purposes of their participation in a reinvestment option
Special resolution number 4
Financial assistance to directors, prescribed officers, employee share scheme beneficiaries and related or
inter-related companies
Special resolution number 5
Adoption of a revised MOI
Instructions to my/our proxy are indicated by a cross in the space provided above or by the number of shares in the appropriate boxes where all shares held are not
being voted.
Date

2017

Signature of registered shareholder (assisted by me as applicable)
PLEASE SEE THE NOTES ON THE REVERSE SIDE OF THIS FORM
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING continued

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
1.

A shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak
and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

2.

Every shareholder present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting of the company shall, on a show
of hands, have one vote only, irrespective of the number of shares such shareholder holds, but in the event of a poll, every ordinary
share in the company shall have one vote.

3.

Dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration are shareholders who appointed Computershare Custodial Services as their
Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) with the express instruction that their uncertificated shares are to be registered in the
electronic sub-register of members in their own names.

2017

RMH ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SIGNING AND LODGING THE PROXY FORM

144

1.

A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space/s
provided overleaf, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by
the shareholder. Should this space be left blank, the chairman of the annual general meeting will exercise the proxy. The person whose
name appears first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the
exclusion of those whose names follow.

2.

A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes exercisable by that
shareholder in the appropriate spaces provided overleaf. Failure to do so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain
from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she thinks fit in respect of all the shareholder’s exercisable votes. A shareholder or his/
her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by him/her or his/her proxy, but the total number of votes cast, or those in
respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total number of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.

3.

A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are
produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

4.

The company requests that completed proxy forms be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor
Services (Pty) Limited at Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or at fax number
011 688 5238 to be received by no later than 09:00 on Monday, 20 November 2017. Proxy forms may only be completed by
shareholders who have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” registration.

5.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative capacity must be attached to
this proxy form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

6.

The completion and lodging of this proxy form shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder
wish to do so.

7.

The completion of any blank spaces overleaf need not be initialled. Any alterations or corrections to this proxy form must be initialled
by the signatory.

8.

The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed other than in accordance with
these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholders wishes to vote.
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